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TRANSLATION OF THE LEGENDS OF THE
DHAMMAPADA COMMENTARY

Prologue!
Praise be unto him that is Highly Exalted, All-Holy, Supremely Enlightened.

I bow myself before the feet of the Supremely Enlightened, the
All-Glorious. I honor his Good Law. I salute his Order.

Shrouded in darkness of error profound was the world, and he
dwelt therein and beheld the ends thereof. With wonder-working
power alight he lighted the lamp of the Good Law.

Skilled was he to know the true from the false in every matter. He,
the Teacher, composed the Sentences of the Good Law, and moved
with compassion, taught the pleasing Sentences of the Law, which
yield increase of joy and satisfaction to gods and men alike.

“A subtile Commentary thereon has been handed down from
generation to generation in the island of Ceylon. But because it is
composed in the dialect of the island, it is of no profit or advantage to
foreigners. It might perhaps conduce to the welfare of all mankind.”

This was the wish expressed to me by Elder Kumara Kassapa, self-
conquered, living in tranquillity, steadfast in resolve. His earnest
request was made to me because of his desire that the Good Law might
endure.

Therefore I shall discard this dialect and its diffuse idiom and
translate the work into the pleasing language of the Sacred Texts.
Whatever in the Stanzas has not been made clear in the Stanzas
themselves, whether in letter or in word, all that will I make clear.
The rest I will also tell in Pali, in accordance with the spirit of the
Stanzas. Thus will I bring to the minds of the wise joy and satisfac-
tion in matters both temporal and spiritual.

1 See Introduction, § 5. Text: N i. 1-2.
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BOOK I. PAIRS, YAMAKA VAGGA
I.1. “IF THINE EYE OFFEND THEE, PLUCK IT OUT”?

1. Thought is of all things first, thought is of all things foremost, of thought are
all things made.
If with thought corrupt a man speak or act,
Suffering follows him, even as a wheel follows the hoof of the beast of burden.

Where was this religious instruction given? At Savatthi. With
reference to whom? Cakkhupala the Elder.

At Savatthi, we are told, lived a householder named Great-Wealth,
Maha-Suvanna. He was rich, possessed of great wealth, possessed of
ample means of enjoyment, but at the same time he was childless.
One day, as he was on his way home from bathing at a ghat, he saw
by the roadside a large forest tree with spreading branches. Thought
he, “This tree must be tenanted by a powerful tree-spirit.”” So he
caused the ground under the tree to be cleared, the tree itself to be
inclosed with a wall, and sand to be spread within the inclosure.
And having decked the tree with flags and banners, he made the fol-
lowing vow: ‘““Should I obtain a son or a daughter, I will pay you
great honor.” Having so done, he went on his way.

Now in no long time his wife conceived a child in her womb.
[4] So soon as his wife knew that she was with child, she informed
her husband, and he performed the Protection of the Embryo for her.
On the expiration of ten lunar months she gave birth to a son. Since
the merchant obtained a son by protecting the tree, he named his
son Protector, Pala. After a time he obtained a second son. The
younger son he named Protector junior, Culla Pila, calling the older
Protector senior, Maha Pila. When they reached manhood, their
parents obtained wives for them. After a time the mother and father
died, leaving the entire estate to be administered by the two sons.

At this time the Teacher, having set in motion the glorious Wheel
of the Law, after journeying from place to place, took up his residence
at Jetavana, a monastery erected by the wealthy merchant Anatha-

1 Derived from this story are Thera-Gatha Commentary, xcv, and Rogers, Buddha-
ghosha’s Parables, i, pp. 1-11. Text: N i. 3-24.
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pindika at a cost of fifty-four crores of treasure. While in residence
at Jetavana, he established the multitude in the Way to Heaven and
the Way to Deliverance. (For the Tathagata kept residence during
but a single rainy season at the monastery erected by twice eighty
thousand families of kinsmen, eighty on his mother’s side, eighty on
his father’s. At Jetavana monastery, erected by Anathapindika, he
kept residence during nineteen rainy seasons; at Pubbarama, erected
by Visakha at a cost of twenty-seven crores, he kept residence during
six rainy seasons. Thus, by reason of the great merit of these two
families, he kept residence near Savatthi during twenty-five rainy
seasons.)

Anathapindika and Visikha, the eminent female lay disciple,
went regularly twice every day to wait upon the Tathagata. Knowing
that the young novices would expect alms from them, they never
went empty-handed. Before breakfast [S] they took food, both
hard and soft; after breakfast they took the five medicaments and
the eight beverages. Moreover, in their residences seats were always
prepared for two thousand monks. Whoever wished food or drink
or medicine was iminediately provided with just what he wished.

Not a single day had Anathapindika asked the Teacher a ques-
tion. Anathapindika, we are told, refrained from asking questions
by reason of his excessive love for the Teacher. He thought to him-
self, “The Tathagata is a delicate Buddha, a delicate prince. Were
the Teacher, because of the thought, ‘This householder is my sup-
porter,’ to preach the Law to me, he would grow weary.”” Therefore
he asked the Teacher no questions. But so soon as Anathapindika
took his seat, the Teacher thought to himself, “This merchant pro-
tects me where I have no need to be protected. For I spent four
Incalculables and a hundred thousand cycles of time in addition
fulfilling the Perfections. My own gloriously adorned head have I
cut off; my eyes have I torn out; my heart’s flesh have I uprooted;
both son and wife, dear to me as life, have I renounced, solely that I
might preach the Law to others. This man protects me where I have
no need to be protected.” And straightway he preached a sermon on
the Law.

At this time seventy million people dwelt in Savatthi. Of these,
fiftty million became Noble Disciples after hearing the discourse of
the Teacher, but twenty million remained unconverted. The Noble
Disciples had two duties: before breakfast they gave alms; after
breakfast, bearing perfumes and garlands in their hands, with ser-
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vants bearing garments, medicaments, and beverages, they went to
hear the Law.

Now one day Maha Pala saw the Noble Disciples going to the
monastery with perfumes and garlands in their hands. [6] When
he saw them, he asked, “Where is this great throng going?” “To
hear the Law.” “I will go too,” said he. So he went, paid obeisance
to the Teacher, and sat down in the outer circle of the congregation.

Now when the Buddhas preach the Law, they have regard to the
predispositions of their hearers for the Refuges, the Moral Precepts,
and Retirement from the World. Thus they always preach the Law
with reference to the disposition of mind of each individual. When,
therefore, the Teacher preached the Law on that day, he had regard to
Maha Pila’s predispositions. And he preached in orderly sequence,
expounding one subject after another; to wit, Almsgiving, the Moral
Precepts, Heaven, the evil consequences and folly and defilement
of Sensual Pleasures, and the blessings of Retirement from the
World.

Maha Pila the householder listened Thought he, “When a man
goes to the next world, neither sons nor daughters nor riches follow
him; nay, even his own body goes not with him. Of what profit is
it for me to live the house-life? I will become a monk.” So at the
end of the discourse he approached the Teacher and asked to be re-
ceived into the Order. The Teacher asked him, “Have you no kins-
man of whom it is proper that you should ask leave?” “Why yes,
Reverend Sir, I have a younger brother.” ‘“Well then, ask him.”
To this Maha Pala agreed, and said, “Very well.” So he paid obeisance
to the Teacher and went home. Summoning his younger brother, he
said to him,

“Dear brother, whatever wealth is in this house, whether animate
or inanimate, all this I give into your hands; take possession thereof.”
“But you, master?” “I shall enter the Order under the Teacher.”
‘“What say you, dear brother? When my mother died, I gained in
you as it were a mother; when my father died, as it were a father.
Your house contains great wealth. Surely you can do works of merit
even though you live the house-life. [7] Do not so.” “Dear brother,
after hearing the Teacher preach the Law, I can no longer live the life
of a householder. For the Teacher preached a Law lovely in its begin-
ning, its middle, and its end, and established precisely and exactly
the Three Characteristics of existing things: Impermanence, Suffer-
ing, and Absence of Individuality. I cannot fulfill the Law amid the
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cares of the household life; I must enter the Order, dear brother.”
“Dear brother, now you are young. Wait until you are old, and then
enter the Order.” “Dear brother, in the case of an old man, even
hands and feet are disobedient and answer not to his will; how much
more so his kinsmen? No, I will not do as you say; I will fulfill the
duties of a monk.

Hands and feet weakened by old age are disobedient;
How shall he whose strength is impaired fulfill the Law?

Dear brother, I shall enter the Order despite all considerations to
the contrary.”

In spite of his brother’s lamentations Mahi Pila went to the
Teacher and asked to be admitted to the Order. He was admitted
and professed and spent five rainy seasons in residence with teachers
and preceptors. When he had completed his fifth residence and
celebrated the terminal festival, he approached the Teacher, paid
obeisance to him, and asked, “Reverend Sir, how many Duties are
there in this religion?”” .“Two Duties only, monk: the Duty of Study
and the Duty of Contemplation.” ‘“Reverend Sir, what is meant by
the Duty of Study, and what is meant by the Duty of Contempla-
tion?” ‘““The Duty of Study necessitates gaining a knowledge of the
Word of the Buddha in a manner conformable to one’s understanding,
the mastery of one or two Nikayas, or indeed of the whole Tipitaka,
bearing it in mind, reciting it, teaching it. [8] On the other hand the
Duty of Contemplation, which leads to Arahatship, involves frugal
living, satisfaction with a remote lodging, fixing firmly in one’s mind
the idea of decay and death, and the development of Spiritual Insight
by persistent effort.”” ‘‘Reverend Sir, since I became a monk in old
age, I shall not be able to fulfill the Duty of Study. But I can fulfill
the Duty of Contemplation; teach me a Formula of Meditation.”

So the Teacher taught him a Formula of Meditation leading to
Arahatship. Then he paid obeisance to the Teacher, sought monks
to accompany him, and having obtained sixty, departed with them.
When he had proceeded a distance of twenty leagues, he arrived at
a larger border-village, and accompanied by his retinue, entered the .
village for alms. The inhabitants, observing that the monks were
faithful in the perforinance of their duties, were favorably disposed to
them, provided them with seats, and served them with savory food.
Then they inquired, “Reverend Sirs, whither go the noble monks?”’
“Lay brethren, to a suitable retreat.” Then the wise villagers knew
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within themselves, “The reverend monks seek lodgings wherein to
spend the rainy season.’

Said they, “If the noble monks would reside here during these three

months, we would abide steadfast in the Refuges and receive the
Moral Precepts.” The monks, thinking to themselves, “Through
these families we shall effect escape from the round of existences,”
gave their consent. The villagers, having obtained the consent of
the monks, proceeded to erect a monastery, building night-quarters
and day-quarters, and when it was finished, presented it to the monks.
The monks resorted regularly to that village only for alms. And
a certain physician came to them and offered his services, saying,
“Reverend Sirs, where many reside, disease is inevitable. Should
sickness arise, pray send me word, and I will prescribe remedies for
you.” ,
When the monks entered upon residence on the first day of the
rainy season, the Elder, addressing them, asked this question, [9]
“Brethren, in how many Postures will you spend these three months?”
“In all Four Postures, Reverend Sir.” “But, brethren, is this proper?
Assuredly we must be heedful, for it was from the living Buddha that -
we received our Formula of Meditation on coming hither; and the
favor of the Buddhas may not be won by double-dealing, but only by
the manifestation of upright intent. Four States of Suffering await
whoso is heedless, that he may enter therein as into his own habi-
tation. Therefore, brethren, be heedful.” “But you, Reverend
Sir?”” “I shall spend the time in the Three Postures; I shall not
stretch out my back, brethren.” “Very well, Reverend Sir. Be
heedful.”

At the end of the first month the Elder, who allowed himself no
sleep, began to suffer from an affection of the eyes. Streams of tears
trickled from his eyes, as streams of water from a broken jar. All
night long he devoted himself to meditation, and with the coming of
dawn entered his cell and sat down. When it was time for the monks
to go the rounds for alms, they came to the Elder and said to him,
“Reverend Sir, it is time for us to go the rounds for alms.” “Very
well, brethren; take bowl and robe.” Having thus directed them to
take their own bowls and robes, he himself set out. The monks ob-
served that his eyes were running and asked him, “What is the
matter, Reverend Sir?” “The wind cuts my eyes, brethren.” “Were
we not offered the services of a physician, Reverend Sir? We will
inform him.” “Very well, [10] brethren.”
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They informed the physician, who prepared an ointment and sent
it to the Elder. The Elder applied the ointment to his nose, remaining
seated as he did so, and then entered the village. The physician,
seeing him, said to him, “Reverend Sir, I am informed that the wind
hurts your reverence’s eyes.” “That is true, lay disciple.” ‘“Rev-
erend Sir, did you apply to your nose an ointment which I prepared
and sent you?” “Yes, lay disciple.” “How do you feel now?”
“The pain continues just the same, lay disciple.” The physician
thought to himself, ““The ointment which I sent him should have cured
him with only one application. How is it that he is not cured?”
So he asked the Elder, ‘“Were you seated when you applied the oint-
ment, or were you lying down?” The Elder remained silent. Though
the physician repeated the question several times, he answered not a
word. The physician thought to himself, “I will go to the monastery
and have a look at his cell.” So he dismissed the Elder, saying to him,
“That will do, Reverend Sir.” And going to the monastery, he in-
spected the Elder’s cell. Seeing only a place to walk and a place to
sit down, but no place to lie down, he asked the Elder, “Reverend
Sir, were you seated when you applied the ointment, or were you
lying down?”” The Elder remained silent. ‘“Reverend Sir, do not
act in this way; the duties of a religious can be performed only so
long as the body is properly cared for. Were you lying down when
you applied the ointment?”” After the physician had repeated the
question several times, the Elder replied, “Go your way, brother;
I will take counsel and decide the matter for myself.”

Now the Elder had no kinsmen or blood-relatives there. With
whom, therefore, was he to take counsel? Therefore he took counsel
with his own person, saying, [11] “Come now, brother Pilita, tell
me this, Will you regard your eyes or the Religion of the Buddha?
For in the round of existences without conceivable beginning, there is
no counting the number of times you have been without eyes. But
while unnumbered hundreds of Buddhas and thousands of Buddhas
have passed, your experience does not cover the period of even a single
Buddha. Now in this rainy season you resolved not to lie down for
three months. Therefore let your eyes perish or decay. Keep only
the Law of the Buddha, not your eyes.” And admonishing his own
physical body, he uttered the following Stanzas,

My eyes perish, my ears perish, so also my body,

All that has to do with my body perishes;
Why, Pilita, continue heedless?
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My eyes wear out, my ears wear out, so also my body,
All that has to do with my body wears out;
Why, Pilita, continue heedless?

My eyes decay, my ears decay, so also my body,
All that has to do with my body decays;
Why, Pilita, continue heedless? [12]

Having thus admonished himself in three Stanzas, he applied the
ointment to his nose, remaining seated as before, and then entered
the village for alms. The physician, seeing him, asked him, “Rev-
erend Sir, have you applied the ointment to your nose?” ‘Yes, lay
disciple.” ‘“How do you feel?”” ‘“The pain continues just the same,
lay disciple.” ‘“Reverend Sir, were you seated when you applied the
ointment, or were you lying down?” The Elder remained silent.
The physician repeated the question several times, but the Elder
answered never a word. Then the physician said to him, “You are
not doing as you ought for your own good. Henceforth do not say,
‘So and So prepared ointment for me’ and I will not say, ‘I prepared
ointment for you.””

Given up by the physician, the Elder went to the monastery. Said
he, “Monk, though you have been given up by the physician, do not
give up your Posture.”

You are given up as incurable, you are abandoned by your physician.
Destined to the King of Death, why, Pilita, are you heedless?

Having admonished himself in this Stanza, he resumed his medi-
tations. At the end of the middle watch his eyes and his Deprav-
ities were blotted out simultaneously, and he became an Arahat
dwelling in the bliss of Spiritual Insight. He entered his cell and sat
down. When the time came for the monks to go the rounds for alms,
they came to the Elder and said to him, “Reverend Sir, it is time for
us to go the rounds for alms.” “Is it time, brethren?” ‘Yes, Rev-
erend Sir.” ‘“Well then, go -your way.” “But you, Reverend Sir?”’
“The sight of my eyes is gone, brethren.” They looked at his eyes,
and their own eyes filled with tears. “Do not worry, Reverend Sir;
[13] we will look after you,” said they to the Elder, comforting him.
And having performed the various duties required of them, they en-
tered the village for alms.

Not seeing the Elder, people asked the monks, “Brethren, where is
our noble Elder?”” When they learned what had happened, they sent
rice-porridge to him. Afterwards, taking food, they went in person,
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paid obeisance to the Elder, and rolling on the ground before his
feet, poured out their lamentations. Then they comforted him, say-
ing, “We will care for you, Reverend Sir; do not worry,” and went
their way. From that time on they sent rice-porridge regularly to the
monastery.

The Elder constantly admonished the other sixty monks, and they
carried out his admonitions so faithfully that at the next Pavarana
all of them became Arahats possessed of the Supernatural Faculties.
At the end of the rainy season, desiring to see the Teacher, they said
to the Elder, “Reverend Sir, we desire to see the Teacher.” When
the Elder heard their request, he thought to himself, “I am weak,
and on the way is a forest haunted by evil spirits. If I go with them,
all will become weary and will be unable to obtain alms. I will send
them on ahead.”

So he said to them, ‘“Brethren, you go on ahead.” ‘“But you,
Reverend Sir?” “I am weak, and on the way is a forest haunted by
evil spirits. If I go with you, you will all become weary; therefore
you go on ahead.” “Do not so, Reverend Sir; we will go only with
you.” ‘‘Brethren, please do not do so; if you do so, it will displease
me. When my younger brother sees you and asks after me, tell him
that [14] I have lost the sight of my eyes, and he will send someone
to guide my steps. Greet in my name the Possessor of the Ten Forces
and the eighty Chief Elders.” So saying, he dismissed them.

They begged the Elder to pardon them for their insistence, and
entered the village for alms. The villagers provided them with seats,
presented them with alms, and asked them, “Reverend Sirs, may we
know why the noble monks are leaving?” “Yes, lay disciples, we de-
sire to see the Teacher.” The villagers repeatedly begged the monks
to remain, but finding that they were firm in their determination
to go, accompanied them on their way weeping, and then turned back.

After journeying from place to place, the monks arrived at Jetavana
and greeted the Teacher and the eighty Chief Elders in the name of
the Elder. Having so done, they entered for alms the street where
lived the Elder’s younger brother. The householder recognized them,
received them cordially, provided them with seats, and asked them,
“Where is my dear brother the Elder?”” They told him what had
happened. Flinging himself at their feet, he rolled on the ground and
wept.

Then he asked them, “Now, brethren, what is to be done?”” ““The
Elder wishes to have someone come from here, that he may return
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with him.” ‘Brethren, here is my sister’s son Pilita. Send him.”
“It will never do to send him, for there is danger by the way. We
might, however, send him, after first receiving him into the Order.”
“Do so and send him, brethren.” So they received him into the Order
and for a fortnight instructed him in such matters as the proper manner
of putting on the robe. Then, showing him the way, they sent him
forth.

After journeying from place to place, he arrived at the village.
Seeing an old man at the village gate, he asked him, “Is there a forest
hermitage near this village?”” ‘“There is, Reverend Sir.” “Who
lives there?”” ‘“An Elder named Palita, Reverend Sir.” ‘“Show me
the way there.” “Who are you, Reverend Sir?” “I am the son of
the Elder’s sister.” So the old man took him and [15] led him to the
hermitage. He paid obeisance to the Elder and for a fortnight per-
formed the major and minor duties for him, ministering to him faith-
fully. Then he said to him, “Reverend Sir, the householder my
mother’s brother desires to have you come to him. Let us go thither.”
“Very well, take hold of my staff.” Taking hold of the staff by the
tip, he entered the village with the Elder. The villagers provided the
Elder with a seat and asked him, “Reverend Sir, may we know your
purpose in going?” “‘Yes, lay disciples, I am going to pay my respects
to the Teacher.” The villagers sought by all means in their power to
persuade them to remain, but failing in their efforts, escorted them
part of the way, and then turned back weeping.

When the novice had gone part of the way with the Elder, holding
the tip of the Elder’s staff, he arrived at a forest village named Kat-
thanagara, near which the Elder formerly resided. As the novice
came out of the village, he heard in the forest the voice of a woman
singing away as she gathered firewood. As he listened to her song,
he fell in love with her voice. (There is no sound to be compared with
a woman’s voice for power to thrill man’s whole frame. Therefore
said the Exalted One, “Monks, I know of no other single sound which
so completely takes possession of the heart of a man as this, monks;
namely, a woman’s voice.” ?)

The novice, fascinated by her voice, let go his hold of the Elder’s
staff. Said he, “Wait just a moment, Reverend Sir; I have some
business.” So saying, [16] he went in the direction of the woman.
When she saw him, she became silent. The novice violated the law of

! Anguttara, i. 1.
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chastity with her. The Elder thought to himself, ‘“‘Just now I heard
the sound of someone singing, and it was none other than a woman’s
voice. The novice tarries; he must have violated the law of chastity.”
When the novice had finished his business, he returned to the Elder
and said, ‘“Come, Reverend Sir, let us be off.” But the Elder asked
him, “Novice, have you committed sin?”> The novice remained silent,
and though questioned repeatedly, answered never a word. Then
said the Elder to him, “A sinner like you can never hold the tip of
my staff.”

The novice, overwhelmed with remorse, removed his yellow robes,
clothed himself in the garb -of a householder, and said, ‘“Reverend
Sir, before I was a novice; now I have become a laymman again. It
was not through faith that I became a monk, but because I feared the
dangers of the journey. Come, let us be off.” The Elder replied,
““An evildoer is an evildoer, be he layman or be he novice. While you
were a novice, you were unable to keep the law of chastity. Will you
be a better man for having become a layman? A sinner like you can
never hold the tip of my staff.” “Reverend Sir, the road is infested
with evil spirits and you are blind. How can you remain here?”
The Elder answered, ‘Brother, don’t worry about that. No matter
whether I lie down right here and die, or wander hither and thither,
with you I will never go.”” So saying, he pronounced the following
Stanzas,

Alas! I have lost the sight of my eyes; a weary way have I come;
I will lie down and go no farther; with a simpleton no fellowship may be. [17]

Alas! I have lost the sight of my eyes; a weary way have I come;
I shall die; I will go no farther; with a simpleton no fellowship may be.

When the novice heard this, he was overwhelmed with remorse.
And he cried out, “A grievous sin indeed have I committed, a deed of
violence and impropriety!” And wringing his hands and weeping,
he plunged into the forest and made off.

By the power of the Elder’s virtue the Yellowstone Throne of
Sakka king of gods, sixty leagues long, fifty leagues wide, fifteen
leagues thick, of the color of the Jayasumana flower, which has a way
of lowering itself when Sakka sits down and of rising again when he
stands up, manifested signs of heat. ‘“Who, pray, can be seeking to
thrust me from my seat?”” thought Sakka. Surveying the world with
Supernatural Vision, he saw the Elder. Therefore said those of old
time,



156 Book 1, Story 1. Dhammapada 1 [N.1.1714~

The king of gods, possessing a thousand eyes, purified the Divine Eye;
This sin-abhorring Pila purified his life.
The king of the gods, possessing a thousand eyes, purified the Divine Eye;
This Pila, reverer of the Law, sat delighting in Religion.
Then this thought occurred to him, “Should I fail to go to the as-
sistance of such a sin-abhorring, Law-revering Elder, my head is likely
to split into seven pieces. I will go to him.” And so

The w of the gods, possessed of a thousand eyes, bearing majestic sway over the
In a single instant approaching, approached Cakkhupala. (18]

Accordingly Sakka approached the Elder. When he was quite
near him, he shuffled his feet. “Who is there?” asked the Elder.
“It is I, Reverend Sir, a traveler.” ‘“Where are you going, lay dis-
ciple?” “To Savatthi, Reverend Sir.”” “Continue your journey,
brother.” ‘““But, Reverend Sir, where is your reverence going?”
“I am going there too.” “Well then, let us go together, Reverend Sir.”
“I am weak, brother. If you go with me, you will be delayed.” “I
have no urgent business. Besides, if I go with you, I can avail myself
of one of the ten ways and means of acquiring merit. Let us go
together, Reverend Sir.”

The Elder thought to himself, “This is without doubt some pious
man.” So he said to him, “Very well, take hold of the tip of my
staff, lay brother.” Sakka did so. And Sakka shortened the distance
so that they arrived at Jetavana at eventide. The Elder, hearing the
noise of trumpets, drums, and other instruments of music, asked,
““Where is that noise?” ‘At Savatthi, Reverend Sir.” ‘‘Lay brother,
when I came here before, we were a long time in coming.” “I know a
short cut, Reverend Sir.” At that moment the Elder perceived within
himself, “This is no human being; it must be a divinity.”

The king of gods, possessing a thousand eyes, bearing majestic sway over the gods,
Shortening the distance, came quickly to Savatthi.

Sakka conducted the Elder to a hut of leaves and grass which his
younger brother had made for his express use, [19] seated him on a
couch, and then, disguising himself as a dear friend of the younger
brother, went to summon him. “Friend Pala!” he called out. “What
is it, friend?” “Do you know that the Elder has arrived?” ‘No;
is it true that the Elder has arrived?” ““Yes, friend, I have just re-
turned from the hermitage, and saw the Elder seated in the hut of
leaves and grass you built for him.” So saying, he departed.
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The householder went to the hermitage. When he saw the Elder,
he flung himself at his feet, rolled on the ground, and wept. Then
" he said, “I knew this would happen, Reverend Sir. It was for this
reason that I withheld from you my permission to become a monk.”
After talking with him for some time, he freed two slave-boys, had the
Elder receive them into the Order, and committed him to their care,
saying, ‘Bring rice-porridge and other kinds of food from the village
and minister to the Elder.” The novices ministered to the Elder,
performing the major and minor duties faithfully.

Now one day a party of monks residing in foreign parts came to
Jetavana to see the Teacher. After paying their respects to the Teacher
and seeing the eighty Chief Elders, they made the rounds of the mon-
astery. Coming to Cakkhupala’s retreat, they said to each other,
“Let us see him too.”” So when evening came, they set out to visit
him. Just at that moment a severe storm arose. So they turned back,
saying, “It is now evening, and a storm has arisen. Therefore we will go
and see him in the morning.” The rain continued during the first
watch, but ceased in the second. The Elder, a man of great energy,
accustomed to walking, came down into the cloister in the last watch.
Now at that time many insects had come out of the newly wet earth,
[20] and as the Elder walked up and down, they perished in great
numbers. The resident monks did not sweep betimes where the Elder
walked. When the visiting monks arrived, saying, “We would see
the place where the Elder resides,”” and saw the insects in the cloister,
they asked, “Who was it that walked in this cloister?” ‘Qur master,
Reverend Sirs.”” They were offended and said, “See what the monk
has done. When he had the sight of his eyes, he lay down and slept
and did no sin. But now that he has lost his eyesight, saying to him-
self, ‘I will take a walk,” he has destroyed these insects. ‘That which
is right I will do,’ said he; but that which was not right he has done.”

So they went and reported the matter to the Tathagata, saying,
“Reverend Sir, the Elder Cakkhupila, saying to himself, ‘I will take
a walk,” has destroyed many insects.” ‘“But did you see him killing
them?” “We did not, Reverend Sir.”” “Precisely as you did not see
him, so also did he not see these insects. Monks, they that are freed
from the Depravities have no thought of killing.” ‘“Reverend Sir,
seeing that he was destined to become an Arahat, how was it that he
became blind?” ‘“Monks, it was by reason of his misdeed in a former
existence.” “Why, Reverend Sir, what did he do?” “Well then,
monks, listen.”
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1a. Story of the Past: The wicked physician and the woman !

In times long past, when the king of Kasi reigned at Benires,
a certain physician went through towns and villages practicing his
profession. Seeing a certain woman with weak eyes, he asked her,
“What is the matter with you?” ‘“My eyesight has failed.” I
will prescribe for you.” ‘Do so, master.” “What will you give me?”’
“If you succeed in making my eyes well and strong again, I will be-
come your slave, and my sons and daughters too.” “Very well,”
said he. So he prescribed a remedy for her, and with a single applica-
tion of the remedy her eyes became well and strong again. [21]

Upon this she thought, “I promised to become his slave, and my
sons and daughters too. But he will not treat me kindly. Therefore
I will deceive him.” So when the physician came and asked her how
she was getting on, she answered, ‘“Before, my eyes pained me a little;
but now they hurt me worse than ever.” The physician thought,
““This woman is deceiving me because she is unwilling to give me any-
thing. I don’t want her fee; now I will make her blind.”” So he went
home and told his wife about the matter. His wife said nothing.
Then he compounded an ointment, went to the woman’s house, and
directed her to rub it into her eyes. She did so, and her eyes went out
like the flame of a lamp. That physician was Cakkhupala. End of
Story of the Past. i

“Monks, the evil deed then committed by my son followed him
ever after; for an evil deed follows the evildoer even as a wheel fol-
lows the hoof of the ox that bears the yoke.” After relating this story,
the King of Righteousness joined the connection, even as a king seals
an edict with the royal seal after the clay has been affixed, and pro-
nounced the following Stanza,

1. Thought is of all things first, thought is of all things foremost, of thought are all
things made.
If with thought corrupt a man speak or act,
Suffering follows him, even as a wheel follows the hoof of the beast of burden.

1 Cf. Story ix. 9 a, Physician, boys, and snake.
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I.2. WHY CRY FOR THE MOON?!

The Second Stanza also, beginning with the words, “Thought is
of all things first,” was recited in the same city, Savatthi, with refer-
ence to Matthakundali. [25]

At Savatthi, we are told, lived a Brahman named Never-Gave,
Adinnapubbaka. He never gave anything to anybody, and that is
why they called him Never-Gave, Adinnapubbaka. He had an only
son who was his darling and delight. Now he desired to have a set
of ornaments made for him. But knowing that in case he gave the
commission to a goldsmith, he should have to pay him a fee, he beat
out the gold himself, made him a pair of burnished earrings, and
gave them to him. In this way his son received the name Burnished-
Earrings, Matthakundali.

When his son was sixteen years old, he had an attack of jaundice.
The mother looked at the boy and said, “Brahman, your son is sick;
have him treated by a physician.” “Wife, if I send for a physician,
I shall have to pay him a fee in rice; you care nothing about the loss
of my substance.” ‘“Well, Brahman, what are you going to do about
it?”> “I shall manage things in such a way as to lose none of my
wealth.” So he went to various physicians and asked, “What are
you in the habit of prescribing for such and such an ailment?” They
mentioned to him bark of trees and this or that.

So he procured these and prepared a remedy for his son. But
in spite of all he did, his son’s condition grew worse and worse, until
finally he was past help. The Brahman, perceiving that his son was
very weak, sent for a physician. The physician looked at the youth
and said, “I have important business to attend to; send for some other
physician and have him treat him.” [26] Having thus refused to
treat the boy, he turnéd and left the house. The Brahman realized

1 Parallels: Jataka Mﬁ: iv. 59-62; Jataka 454: 85-87; Vimana-Vatthu Com-
mentary, vii. 9: 822-330 (cf. Peta-Vatthu Commentary, ii. 5: 92); Rogers, Buddha-
ghosha’s Parables, ii, pp. 12-17. The author has evidently worked over Jdtaka
449, both Introduction and Story of the Past, making one story out of two and ex-
panding the original considerably. The Buddha’s conversion of Matthakundali, a
prominent feature of the Dhammapada Commentary story, is lacking in the Jataka
version. The Vimdna-Vatthu Commentary version is derived, not from the Jataka
Book, but from thé Dhammapada Commentary. It is much briefer at the beginning
and end; elsewhere more diffuse. Vr. cm., 32528263, is word for word the same as
Dk. cm., i, 28-80. This story is referred to at Milindapasiha, 85012, Text: N i.
25-37.
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that his son was at the point of death. Thought he, “All who come
to see this youth will see the wealth in my house; therefore I will
place him outside.” So he carried his son out of the house and laid
him down on the terrace.

On that day, very early in the morning, the Exa.lted One arose
from a Trance of Great Compassion. And for the purpose of seeing
those who had made their Earnest Wish under previous Buddhas,
those the roots of whose merit were fully developed, brethren capable
of conversion, he surveyed the universe with the Eye of a Buddha,
spreading the Net of his Knowledge over the ten Cakkavila Worlds.
Straightway Matthakundali, lying outside on the terrace, appeared
within the Net of his Knowledge. As soon as the Teacher saw him, he
became aware that he had been removed from the house and laid there;
and considering within himself, “Have I sufficient reason for going to
him?” he saw the following:

“This youth will repose faith in me, will die, and will be reborn
as a deity in the Heaven of the Thirty-three, in a golden mansion, with
a retinue of a thousand celestial nymphs. The Brahman will burn
his body and will go about the burning-ground weeping. The deity
will survey his own person, three-quarters of a league in height, adorned
with sixty cart-loads of ornaments, surrounded by a thousand celestial
nymphs. And considering within himself, ‘Through what merit have
I attained this attainment of 'splendor?’ he will perceive that he ob-
tained it by reposing faith in me. Then he will say to himself, ‘My
father, who failed to provide medicine for me for fear of wasting his
wealth, has now gone to the burning-ground and is weeping. I will
effect a change in his attitude.” And provoked at his father, he
will take the form of Matthakundali, will go [27] to a place not far
from the burning-ground, and will fling himself on the ground and
weep.

“The Brahman will ask him, ‘Who are you?’ He will reply,
‘I am your son Matthakundali’ ‘Where were you reborn?’ ‘In
the World of the Thirty-three.’” The Brahman will ask him, ‘What
deed of merit did you perform?’ and Matthakundali will tell him
that he was reborn in the World of the Thirty-three by reposing faith
in me. Then the Brahman will ask me, ‘Are there any that have been
reborn in Heaven by reposing faith in you?’ and I will reply to him,
‘It is not so many hundreds or thousands or hundreds of thousands
— there is no counting the number of them.” I will then recite a Stanza
in the Dhammapada. At the conclusion of the Stanza eighty-four
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thousand living beings will obtain Comprehension of the Law,
Matthakundali will receive the Fruit of Conversion, and so will
Adinnapubbaka the Brahman. Thus through this noble youth
many will obtain Comprehension of the Law.”

Of all this the Teacher became aware. Accordingly, on the fol-
lowing day, having attended to his toilet, he surrounded himself
with a large company of monks, entered Savatthi for alms, and in
due course arrived at the house of the Brahman. At that moment
Matthakundali was lying with face turned towards the house. The
Teacher, observing that he did not see him, sent forth a ray of light.
“What is that radiance?” asked the youth, turning over. Seeing
the Teacher from where he lay, he said, “On account of a foolish
father, I have been deprived of the privilege of approaching so excel-
lent a Buddha, nor have I obtained the privilege either of waiting upon
him or of giving him alms or of hearing the Law. Now I cannot even
control the movements of my hands; there is nothing else I can do.”
So saying, he reposed faith in the Buddha. The Teacher said, “He
has done enough,” and departed.

As the Tathagata receded from his range of vision, [28] he died
with a believing heart, and as if awaking from sleep, was reborn in the
World of the Gods in a golden mansion thirty leagues in extent.
The Brahman burned the body of his son, and resorting to the burn-
ing-ground, abandoned himself entirely to lamentation. Every day
he would go to the burning-ground and weep and say, “Where are
you, my only son?”’

The deity his former son surveyed his own glory and considered
within himself, “By what deed of merit have I obtained this?”’ Per-
ceiving that it was by reposing faith in the Teacher, he said to himself,
“This Brahman failed to provide medicine for me when I was sick,
but now goes to the burning-ground and weeps; I must effect a change
in his attitude.” Accordingly he took the form of Matthakundali,
went to a place not far from the burning-ground, and stood wringing
his hands and weeping. The Brahman saw him and thought to him-
self, ““As for myself, I am weeping because of sorrow for my son; why
is yonder youth weeping? I will ask him.” So he asked him in the
following Stanza,

Richly adorned, wearing earrings of burnished gold,
Bearing garlands, with protuberances of yellow sandal,
You wring your hands and weep.

Why are you afflicted in the midst of the forest?



162 Book 1, Story 2. Dhammapada 2 [N.1.2818-

Said the youth,

I have obtained a chariot-body,

Shining, of solid gold,

But I cannot find a pair of wheels for it;
Through grief over this I shall lose my life. [29]

Then said the Brahman to him,

Name wheels of gold, of precious stones,
Of copper, or of silver.

Name them to me, good youth,

And I will procure you a pair of wheels.

Hearing this, the youth thought to himself, “This Brahman failed
to provide medicine for his son. But seeing that I look like his son, he
says, ‘I will procure wheels for your chariot, either of gold or of pre-
cious stones or of copper or of silver.” Very well! I will humble him.”
So he said, “ How large a pair of wheels will you make for my chariot?”
“As large as you wish.” ‘I want the moon and the sun,” said the
youth. “Give them to me.” By way of request

Said the youth to the Brahman, The moon and the sun are brothers twain.
My chariot is of solid gold; with such a pair of wheels it would shine.

The Brahman replied,

Youth, you are a simpleton to seek for what cannot be obtained.
I suppose you will die, for you will never obtain the moon and the sun.

But the youth said to him, “But which is the greater simpleton,
he who weeps for what exists, or he who weeps for what does not
exist?”’ [30]

They are seen that go and come;

The property of color is seen on both sides of the street;

But he that is dead and gone cannot be seen;
Which of us that weep here is the greater simpleton?

Hearing this, the Brahman came to the conclusion, “What thls
youth says is sensible.” And he said to him,

. Youth, what you say is quite true; it is I that am the greater simpleton of the two

that weep;
Like a child crying for the moon, I desired a son that is dead and gone.

Having thus spoken, freed from sorrow by the words of the youth,
the Brahman pronounced the following Stanzas in praise of the youth,

When I was all on fire, and the fire was as if fed with ghee,
You poured water on the fire, as it were, and extinguished all my grief.
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You drew out the arrow that was in me, the sorrow that was in my heart;
Although I was dead with sorrow, you removed my sorrow for my son.

The arrow of my grief has been withdrawn, and I am tranquil and happy;
Having heard your words, youth, I sorrow no more, nor do I weep. [31]

Then the Brahman asked him, “Who are you?”

Are you a devata or a gandhabba, or are you Sakka Purindada?
Who are you? whose son are you? how am I to know you?

The youth replied,

I am he for whom you lament, he for whom you weep,
Your son, whom you yourself burned in the burning-ground.
By the performance of a work of merit

I have attained the Society of the Thirty.

In these words the youth gave him the information he asked for.
Then said the Brahman,

I never saw you give alms, either little or much, in your own home.
Nor did you so much as keep fast-day; by what work of merit did you attain the
World of the Gods?

The youth replied,

As I lay in my own hone, sick, afflicted, oppressed with a grievous ailment, my body
weakened by disease,
I beheld the Buddha, free from passion, free from doubt, happy, of lofty wisdomn.

With joyful mind and believing heart I did homage to the Tathigata, with hands

reverently clasped;
By the performance of this work of merit I attained the Society of the Thirty. [32]

As the youth spoke, the whole body of the Brahman was suffused
with joy. And this joy he made known in the following Stanza,

Wonderful! marvelous! that such as this should be the fruit of a reverent salutation.
I too with joyful mind and believing heart seek refuge in the Buddha this very day.

Then said the youth,
This very day with believing heart seek refuge in the Buddha, the Law, and the

€r;
Likewise take upon yourself the Five Precepts, and keep them unbroken and unim-
paired;
Refrain from taking life, from this moment; take not that which is not given to you
in this world;
Drink not strong drink; speak not falsely; be content with your own wife.

“Very well,” said the Brahman, agreeing. And he pronounced the
following Stanzas,
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You desire my weal, yakkha; you desire my welfare, divinity;
I will obey your words; you are my teacher.

I seek refuge in the Buddha, and likewise in his incomparable Law,
And in the Order of the Prince of Men do I seek refuge.

From the taking of life do I refrain, from this moment; I abstain from taking that
which is not given to me in this world;
I drink not strong drink; I speak not falsely; I am content with my own wife. [33]

Then said the deity to him, “Brahman, you have much wealth in
your house. Approach the Teacher, give alms, listen to the Law,
and ask him questions.” So saying, he disappeared. The Brahman
went home and said to his wife, “ Wife, I shall invite the monk Gotama
to my house and ask him questions; therefore prepare hospitality.”
Then he went to the monastery, and without saluting the Teacher or
expressing any pleasure at seeing him, stood on one side and said,
“Sir Gotama, consent for to-day to take a meal in my house with your
company of monks.” The Teacher consented. As soon as the Brah-
man received his consent, he returned home quickly and caused food,
both hard and soft, to be prepared in his house.

The Teacher, accompanied by the Congregation of Monks, went
to his house and sat down on the seat prepared for him. The Brah-
man waited upon him respectfully. A multitude of people assembled.
We are told that when a man who holds false views invites the Tatha-
gata, two classes of people assemble. Those who hold false views
assemble with the thought in their minds, “To-day we shall see the
monk Gotama embarrassed by the questions that are asked him.”
Those who hald orthodox views assemble with the thought, “To-day
we shall see the power of a Buddha and the grace of a Buddha.”

Now when the Tathagata had finished his meal, the Brahman
approached him, seated himself on a low seat, and asked him the
following question, ““Sir Gotama, are there any that have been reborn
in Heaven, without giving alms to you, without rendering honor to
you, without hearing the Law, without keeping fast-day, solely by
making an act of faith?” ‘“Brahman, why do you ask me? Did not
your own son Matthakundali tell you that he had been reborn in
Heaven by reposing faith in me?” ‘““When, Sir Gotamna?” “Did you
not go to the burning-ground to-day, and while you were weeping,
see a youth near you wringing his hands and weeping? [34] And did
you not say to him, ‘Richly adorned, wearing earrings of burnished
gold, bearing garlands, with protuberances of yellow sandal?’”



-N.1.351¢] Why cry for the moon? 165

Continuing, the Teacher related in detail the conversation of the two
and told the whole story of Matthakundali.

For this very reason the Teacher pronounced this Word of the
Buddha, “Brahman, it is not a question of one hundred or two hun-
dred — there is no counting the number of those who have been re-
born in Heaven by reposing faith in me.” The multitude were not
free from doubt. The Teacher, perceiving that they were not free
from doubt, commanded, “Let the deity Matthakundali come hither
in his mansion.” Thereupon Matthakundali drew near, three-quarters
of a league in height, his person adorned with celestial adornments.
Descending from his mansion, he paid obeisance to the Teacher
and stood respectfully on one side. The Teacher asked him, “What
work of merit did you perform to attain this glory?”

Divinity, you who possess surpassing beauty,
Tlluminating all four quarters like the herb-star,

I ask you, god of mighty power,
What meritorious act did you perform in your human estate?

When the Teacher had completed this Stanza, the deity replied,
“Reverend Sir, I obtained this glory by reposing faith in you.” “You
obtained it by reposing faith in me?” “Yes, Reverend Sir.”

The populace surveyed the god and exclaimed, “Marvelous, in-
deed, are the powers of the Buddhas! the son of the Brahman Adin-
napubbaka [35] obtained glory such as this simply by reposing faith
in the Teacher, without doing a single other work of merit!” And
they were filled with joy. Then the Teacher said to them, “QOur
thoughts are the source of all our actions, both good and bad, and by
our thoughts are our actions controlled. For, like a shadow, an act
done with thought of faith never leaves a man who goes to the World
of the Gods or the world of men. Having related this story, the King
of Truth joined the connection, and sealing, as it were, with the royal
seal an edict to which the clay had been attached, pronounced the
following Stanza,

2. Thought is of all things first, thought is of all things foremost, of thought are all
things made.
If with thought of faith a man speak or act,
Happiness follows him, even as a shadow never fading.
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I.3. TISSA THE FAT'!

He abused me. This religious instruction was given by the Teacher
while he was in residence at Jetavana with reference to Elder Tissa. [37]

It seems that this Venerable Elder was the son of the sister of the
father of the Exalted One. He was an old man when he retired from
the world, and very fat. He enjoyed the gain and honor of the
Buddhas; his clothes were always smooth from constant beating; he
always sat in the center of the monastery in the Hall of State.

One day some visiting monks came to see the Tathagata, and sup-
posing Tissa to be some Great Elder, asked to be allowed the privilege
of waiting upon him, offering among other things to rub his feet. Tissa
remained silent. Thereupon a certain young monk asked him, ‘“How
many seasons have you kept residence?” ‘“No seasons at all,” re-
plied Tissa; “I was an old man when I retired from the world.” Said
the young monk, “You wretched old monk, [38] you overestimate your
own importance. Seeing before you, as you do, all these Great Elders,
you are not even civil to them. To their offers to perform various
_services for you, you answer by silence. Moreover, you show not the
slightest regret for your misconduct.” So saying, he snapped his
fingers. Recovering the pride of a member of the Warrior caste, Tissa
asked them, “Whom did you come to see?”” ‘“We came to see the
Teacher.” ‘“But with reference to me, you say to yourselves, ‘Who
is he?’ I will extirpate your whole race.” So saying, he went to the
Teacher, weeping and sad and sorrowful.

The Teacher asked him, “Tissa, how is it that you come to me sad
and sorrowful, with tears in your eyes, weeping?” The monks said
to themselves, “If he goes alone, he may cause some trouble.” So
they went right with him, paid obeisance to the Teacher, and sat down
respectfully on one side. Tissa answered the Teacher’s question as
follows, ““Reverend Sir, these monks are abusing me.”  “But where
were you sitting?”” “In the center of the monastery in the Hall of
State, Reverend Sir.” “Did you see these monks when they came?”’
“Yes, Reverend Sir, I saw them.” “Did you rise and go to meet
them?” ‘““No, Reverend Sir, I did not.” “Did you offer to take their
monastic utensils?” “No, Reverend Sir, I did not offer to take them.”

! Derived from this story are Thera-Gathd Commentary, xxxix, and Rogers,

Buddhaghosha’s Parables, iii, pp. 18-24. Cf. Samyutta, xxii. 84: iii. 106-109. Text:
N i. 8745.
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“Did you offer to wait upon them and to provide them with water to
drink?” “No, Reverend Sir, I did not offer to do either of these
things.” “Did you bring seats for them and rub their feet?” “I
did not, Reverend Sir.”” “Tissa, you should have performed all these
services for the old monks, for he who does not do this has no right to
sit in the center of the monastery. You alone are to blame; ask pardon
of these monks.” “But they [39] abused me, Reverend Sir; I will
not ask their pardon.” “Tissa, do not act thus. You alone are to
blame; ask their pardon.” ‘I will not ask their pardon, Reverend Sir.”
The monks said to the Teacher, “He is an obstinate monk, Rev-
erend Sir.” The Teacher replied, “ Monks, this is not the first time he
has proved obstinate; he was obstinate also in a previous state of
existence.” ““We know all about his present obstinacy, Reverend Sir;
but what did he do in a previous state of existence?” ‘Well then,
monks, listen,” said the Teacher. So saying, he told the following

3 a. Story of the Past: Devala and Narada !

Onceupon atime, whenacertain king of Benares reigned at Benares,
an ascetic named Devala, who had resided for eight months in the
Himalaya country, desiring to reside near the city during the four
months of the rains, returned from the Himalaya for salt and vinegar.
Seeing two boys at the gate of the city, he asked them, “Where do
monks who come to this city spend the night?” “In the potter’s
hall, Reverend Sir.”” So Devala went to the potter’s hall, stopped at
the door, and said, “If it is agreeable to you, Bhaggava, I should like
to spend one night in your hall.”” The potter turned over the hall to
him, saying, “I have no work going on in the hall at night, and the hall
is a large one; spend the night here as you please, Reverend Sir.”

No sooner had Devala entered the hall and sat down than another
ascetic named Narada, returning from the Himalaya, asked the potter
for a night’s lodging. The potter thought to himself, “The ascetic
who arrived first may or may not be willing to spend the night with
him; I will therefore relieve myself of responsibility.” [40] So he
said to the ascetic who had just arrived, “Reverend Sir, if the ascetic
who arrived first approves, spénd the night at his pleasure.” So Narada
approached Devala and said, “Teacher, if it is agreeable to you, I
should like to spend one night here.” Devala replied, “The hall is a
large one; therefore come in and spend the night on one side.” So

1 Cf. the story of Jatimanta and the Future Buddha in Jataka 497: iv. 388-389.
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Narada went in and sat down behind the ascetic who had gone in
before him. Both exchanged friendly greetings.

When it was bedtime, Narada noted carefully the place where
Devala lay and the position of the door, and then lay down. But
when Devala lay down, instead of lying down in his proper place, he
lay down directly across the doorway. The result was that when
Narada went out at night, he trod on Devala’s matted locks. There-
upon Devala cried out, ““Who is treading on my locks?”” Nairada
replied, “Teacher, it is 1. “False ascetic,” said Devala, “you come
from the forest and tread on my locks.” ‘“Teacher, I did not know
that you were lying here; pardon me.” Narada then went out, leav-
ing Devala weeping as if his heart would break.

Devala thought to himself, “I will let him tread on me when he
comes in also.” So he turned around and lay down, placing his head
where his feet had been before. When Narada came in, he thought to
himself, “The first time I injured the teacher; this time I will go in
past his feet.” The result was that, when Narada entered, he trod on
Devala’s neck. Thereupon Devala cried out, “Who is that?”> Narada
replied, “It is I, teacher.” ‘False ascetic,” said Devala, ‘““the first
time you trod on my locks; this time you tread on my neck. I will
curse you.” “Teacher, I am not to blame. I did not know that you
were lying in this position. When I came in I thought to myself, ‘The
first time T injured the teacher; this time I will go in past his feet.’
Pardon me.” [41] “False ascetic, I will curse you.” “Do not so,
teacher.” But Devala, paying no attention to what Narada said,
cursed him all the same, saying,

The sun possesses a thousand rays and a hundred flames, is dispeller of darkness.
When the sun rises on the morrow, may your head split into seven pieces.

Nirada said, “Teacher, I told you it was not my fault. But in
spite of what I said, you have cursed me. Let the head of the guilty
man split into seven pieces, not that of the innocent.” Thereupon
Narada pronounced the following curse,

The sun possesses a thousand rays and a hundred flames, is dispeller of darkness.
When the sun rises on the morrow, may your head split into seven pieces.

Now Narada possessed great supernatural power and could call to
mind eighty cycles of time, forty cycles in the past and forty in the
future. So considering, “On whom will the curse fall?”’ and perceiving
that it would fall on his brother-ascetic, he felt compassion for him, and
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therefore put forth the power of his magic and prevented the sun from
rising.

When the sun failed to rise, the citizens assembled before the gate
of the king’s palace and wailed, “ Your majesty, the sun has not risen,
and you are king. Make the sun rise for us.” The king surveyed his
own deeds, words, and thoughts, and seeing no impropriety, thought
to himself, “What can be the cause?” Suspecting that it might be
because of a quarrel of the monks, he inquired, ‘“‘Are there any monks
in this city?” ‘“Your majesty, last evening there were some arrivals
at the potter’s hall.” [42] The king immediately went there with
torches carried before him, paid obeisance to Narada, seated himself
respectfully on one side, and said,

Narada, the people of the Land of the Rose-Apple are unable to pursue their wonted
occupations. :
Why is the world overspread with darkness? Tell me in answer to my question.

Narada told him the whole story. “For this reason,” said he, “I
was cursed by this ascetic. So I cursed him back, saying, ‘I am not
to blame; let the curse fall upon whichever of us is to blame.” But
when I had cursed him, I considered within myself, ‘Upon whom
will the curse fall?’ and perceived that, as soon as the sun rose, the
head of my brother-ascetic would split into seven pieces. Therefore,
out of pity for him, I am not permitting the sun to rise.” “But,
Reverend Sir, how can he escape destruction?” ‘“He may escape
destruction by begging my pardon.”

“Well then,” said the king to Devala, “beg his pardon.” Devala
replied, “Great king, this fellow trod on my matted locks and on my
neck; I will not beg pardon of this false ascetic.”” ‘“Beg his pardon,
Reverend Sir; do not act thus.” ‘“Great king, I will not beg his
pardon.” “Your head will split into seven pieces.” ‘‘Nevertheless
I will not beg his pardon.” “I am convinced that you will not beg his
pardon of your own free will,” said the king. Thereupon, taking him
by the hands, feet, belly, and neck, the king compelled him to bow down
before Narada’s feet. Narada said, “Rise, teacher, I pardon you.”
Then said Narada to the king, “Great king, since this ascetic does not
ask pardon of his own free will, [43] take him to a certain lake not
far from the city, put a lump of clay on top of his head, and make him
stand in the water up to his neck.”

The king did so. Then said Narada to Devala, “Teacher, I will
put forth my magical power and cause the sun to rise. At that moment
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duck in the water, rise in a different place, and go your way.” As
soon as the sun’s rays touched the lump of clay, it split into seven
pieces. Thereupon Devala ducked in the water, rose in a different
place, and ran away. End of Story of the Past.

When the Teacher had given this religious instruction, he said,
“Monks, at that time the king was Ananda, Devala was Tissa, and
Narada was I myself; at that time also he was obstinate.” Then he
addressed the Elder Tissa as follows, “Tissa, if a monk allows himself
to think, ‘So and So abused me, So and So struck me, So and So de-
feated me, So and So robbed me of my goods,’ his hatred never ceases.
But if he does not cherish such thoughts, his hatred ceases.” So say-
ing, he pronounced the following Stanzas,

3. “He abused me, he struck me, he defeated me, he robbed me;”
If any cherish this thought, their hatred never ceases.

4. “He abused me, he struck me, he defeated me, he robbed me;”
If any cherish not this thought, their hatred ceases.

I.4. “NOT HATRED FOR HATRED”!

For not by hatred. This religious instruction was given by the
Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with reference to a
certain barren woman. [45]

It appears that a certain householder’s son, on the death of his
father, did all the farm and household work by himself alone and took
care of his mother to boot. Now his mother said to him, “Dear son,
I will fetch you a young woman to wife.” ‘‘Dear mother, speak not
thus; my sole desire is to care for you so long as you shall live.” “Dear
son, you alone are doing all the farm and household work, and I am
not satisfied to have it so; let me fetch you a young woman to wife.”

_He protested time and again, and then held his peace.

The mother left the house, intending to go to a certain family
and fetch home the daughter of that family. Her son asked her, “To
what family are you going?”’ ‘“To such and such a family.” He would
not let her go to the family she had in mind, but told her of a family
he liked better. So she went to the family he fancied, selected a wife

1 With this story cf. Stories xxi. 2 and x. 8 ¢ and Jatakas 510 and 518. Text:
N i. 45-58.
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for her son, and having set the day, installed her in her son’s house.
The woman turned out to be barren.

Then said the mother to the son, “Son, you had me fetch you a
wife you yourself selected. Now she turns out to be barren. With-
out children a family [46] dies out, and the line is not continued.
Therefore let me fetch you another young woman to wife.” ‘“Enough
said, dear mother,” replied the son; but the mother repeated her
request time and again. The barren wife heard the talk and thought
to herself, “It is certain that sons cannot disobey the words of their
mothers and fathers. Now if she fetches him a wife who is fruitful,
they will treat me like a slave. Suppose I were to fetch him a young
woman of my own selection?”’

So the barren wife went to a certain family and selected a young
woman for him. But she immediately encountered the opposition of
the young woman’s parents, who said to her, “Woman, what say you?”
The barren wife replied, “I am a barren woman, and without children
a family dies out. If your daughter gives birth to a son, she will be
mistress of the family and the wealth thereof. Therefore give your
daughter to me for my husband.” She finally prevailed upon them to
grant her request, and taking the young woman with her, installed
her in her husband’s house.

Then this thought occurred to her, “If my rival gives birth to a
son or a daughter, she alone will be mistress of the household. I
must see to it that she shall not give birth to a child.” So the barren
wife said to her rival, ““As soon as you have conceived a child in your
womb, pray let me know.” “Very well,” replied her rival. In
accordance with her promise, as soon as she had conceived, she told her
fellow-wife.

Now the barren wife was accustomed to give her rival a meal of
rice-porridge regularly every day with her own hand. [47] So along
with the food she gave her a drug to cause abortion. The result was
that her rival had a miscarriage. Again the second time the fruitful
wife conceived a child and informed the barren wife. And again her
fellow-wife did as before and brought about a miscarriage.

The women who lived in the neighborhood asked the fruitful wife,
“Is not your rival putting an obstacle in your way?” When she told
them the facts, they said to her, “You foolish woman, why did you do
this? This woman was afraid you would get the upper hand. So she
mixed a preparation to bring about a miscarriage and gave it to you.
Do not tell her again.” Accordingly the third time the fruitful wife
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said nothing to her rival. But the barren wife, seeing her belly, said to
her, “Why did you not tell me that you had conceived a child?”
Said the fruitful wife, “It was you who brought me here, and twice
you have caused me to suffer a miscarriage; why should I tell you?”

“Now I am lost,” thought the barren wife. From that time on she
watched to catch her rival off her guard. When the babe in the womb
was fully matured, she took advantage of an opportunity, mixed a
drug, and gave it to her. But because the babe in her womb was fully
mature, an abortion was out of the question, and the result was that the
child lodged across the neck of the womb. Immediately the mother
suffered acute pains and feared that her hour had come.

“You have killed me!” she cried. “It was you alone that brought
me here; it was you alone that killed my three children. Now I also
am going to die. When I have passed out of this existence, may I be
reborn as an ogress able to devour your children.” And having made
this Earnest Wish, she died, [48] and was reborn in that very house
as a cat. The husband seized the barren wife, and saying to her, “It
was you who destroyed my family,” beat her soundly with elbows,
knees, and otherwise. As the result of the beating she received, she
sickened and died, and was reborn in that very house as a hen.

So the fruitful wife was reborn as a cat, and the barren wife was
reborn as a hen. The hen laid eggs, and the cat came and ate them.
This happened three times. Said the hen, “Three times have you eaten
my eggs, and now you are seeking an opportunity to eat me too.
When I have passed out of this existence, may I be able to eat you and
your offspring.” And having made this Earnest Wish, she passed out
of that existence, and was reborn as a leopardess. The cat was reborn
as a doe.

So the barren wife, at the end of her existence as a hen, was reborn
as a leopardess; and the fruitful wife, at the end of her existence as a
cat, was reborn as a doe. Thrice the doe brought forth young, and
thrice the leopardess went and devoured the doe’s offspring. When
the doe came to die, she said, “Thrice this beast has devoured my off-
spring, and now she purposes to devour me too. When I have passed
out of this existence, may I be able to devour her and her offspring.”
And having made this Earnest Wish, she was reborn as an ogress.
When the leopardess passed out of that existence, she was reborn at
Savatthi as a young woman of station.

So the fruitful wife, at the end of her existence as a doe, was reborn
as an ogress; and the barren wife, at the end of her existence as a
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leopardess, was reborn at Savatthi as a young woman of station. When
the latter grew up, she was married and went to live with her husband’s
family in a little settlement near the gate of the city. After a time she
gave birth to a son. The ogress disguised herself as a dear friend of the
young woman and went to see her. “Where is my friend?” said the
ogress. “In the inner room; she has just given birth to a child.”
“Did she give birth to a son or a daughter? I should like to see her.”
So saying, the ogress went in. While pretending to be looking at the
child, she seized him, devoured him, and then went out. Again a second
time she devoured a child of the young wife in the same way.

The third time the young wife was great with child she addressed
her husband, “Husband, in this place an ogress has devoured two sons
of mine and escaped. [49] This time I intend to go to the house of
my parents to give birth to my child.”

Now at this time that ogress was away doing her turn at drawing
water. (For Vessavana’s ogresses take their turn at drawing water
from lake Anotatta, passing it along from the source. At the expira-
tion of four or five months they are released; the others die of ex- -
haustion.) The moment the ogress was released from her turn at
drawing water she went quickly to the young wife’s house and in-
quired, “ Where is my friend?”’ ‘“Where you will not see her. There
is an ogress that devours every child she bears in this house, and there-
for, she has gone to the house of her parents.” “She may go wherever
she likes, but she will not escape from me.” Spurred on by an impulse
of hatred, the ogress dashed towards the city.

On the day appointed for the naming of the child the mother bathed
him, gave him a name, and then said to her husband, “Husband, now
we will go back to our own home.” Accordingly she took the boy in
her arms and set out with her husband along the path leading through
the grounds of the monastery. When they reached the monastery
pool, the young wife gave the boy to her husband and bathed in the
pool. When she had finished her bath, her husband bathed in the
pool. While the husband was bathing, the wife remained near, giving
suck to her child.

Just then the ogress drew near. The young wife saw her coming
and recognized her. Immediately she screamed with a loud voice,
“Husband! husband! come quickly! come quickly! here is that
ogress!” Not daring to wait until her husband came, [50] she turned
and dashed into the monastery.

Now at this time the Teacher was preaching the Law in the midst
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of the congregation. The young wife laid her boy at the feet of the
Tathagata and said, “I give you this child; spare the life of my son.”
The deity Sumana, who resided in the embattled chamber over the
gate, prevented the ogress from entering. The Teacher addressed
the Elder Ananda, saying, “Go, Ananda, summon that ogress within.”
The Elder summoned her within. The young wife said, “Here she
comes, Reverend Sir.”” Said the Teacher, “Let her come; make no
noise.”

When the ogress came and stood before him, the Teacher said,
“Why have you so done? Had you not come face to face with a Buddha
like me, you would have cherished hatred towards each other for an
aeon, like the Snake and the Mongoos,! who trembled and quaked with
enmity, like the Crows and the Owls.2 Why do you return hatred for
hatred? Hatred is quenched by love, not by hatred.”” And when he
had thus spoken, he pronounced the following Stanza,

5. For not by hatred are hatreds ever quenched here in this world.
By love rather are they quenched. This is an eternal law. [51]

At the conclusion of the Stanza the ogress was established in the
Fruit of Conversion.

The Teacher said to the woman, “Give your child to this ogress.”
“I am afraid to, Reverend Sir.”” ‘“‘Fear not. You have no reason to
be alarmed because of her.” The young wife gave her child to the
ogress. The ogress kissed and caressed him, gave him back again to
his mother, and began to weep. The Teacher asked her, “Why do you
weep?” ‘“‘Reverend Sir, in the past I have managed somehow or other
to get a living, but I have never had enough to eat. Now how am I
to live?” Then the Teacher comforted her, saying, “Do not worry.”
And turning to the mother, he said, [52] “Take this ogress home with
you, let her live in your own house, and feed her with the choicest
rice-porridge.”

So the young wife took the ogress home with her, lodged her on
the central rafter of the hut, and fed her with the choicest rice-porridge.
Now when the rice was threshed and the flail was raised, she feared that
it would strike her head. So she said to her friend, “I shall not be able
to live here any longer; lodge me elsewhere.” She was lodged succes-
sively in the flail-hut, the water-chatty, the bake-house, the store-
room for nimbs, the dust-heap, and the village gate. But she refused

1 Panchatantra, Book v, Frame-story, Harvard Oriental Series, xiv., p. 181.
* Panchatantra, Book iii, Frame-story, ibidem, p. 90.
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to live in any of these places, saying, ‘Here the flail rises as if it would
split my head in two; here boys empty out slops; here dogs lie down;
here boys attend to nature’s needs; here they throw away sweepings;
here village boys practice fortune-telling.”” So they lodged her in a
quiet place by herself outside of the village, and there they brought
her the choicest rice-porridge.

The ogress said to her friend, “This year there will be abundance
of rain; therefore plant your crops in a dry place. This year there will
be a drought; therefore plant your crops in a moist place.” Other
people’s crops were destroyed either by excessive moisture or by
drought, but the crops of the young wife flourished above measure.

People asked the young wife, ‘“Woman, your crops are destroyed
neither by excessive moisture nor by drought. When you plant your
crops, you seem to know in advance whether the season will be wet or
dry. How is this?”” The young wife replied, “I have a friend, an
ogress, [53] who. tells me whether the season will be wet or dry; and
I plant my crops according to her directions on high or low ground.
Don’t you see? Every day the choicest rice-porridge and other kinds
of food are carried out of our house; to her are they carried. Do you
also carry the choicest rice-porridge and other kinds of food to her, and
she will look after your crops also.”

Straightway all the residents of the city rendered honor to her.
On her part, from that time forth, she looked after the crops of all.
And she received abundant gifts and a large retinue. Subsequently
she established the Eight Ticket-foods, which are kept up even to this
present day.

I. 5. THE QUARRELSOME MONKS OF KOSAMBI!

But others do not understand. This religious instruction was given
by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with reference to
the monks of Kosambi.

1 Parallels: Jataka 428: iii. 486-490; Vinaya, Maka Vagga, x. 1-5: i. 837-857;
Udana, iv. 5: 41-42. The story of the quarrel among the monks is almost word for
word the same as Jataka 428, which in turn is derived from the Vinaya. The story
of the Buddha’s residence in Protected Forest with an elephant for his attendant is
for the most part an elaboration of Vinaya, i. 850-857. The story of the monkey
is an original touch of the redactor. The redactor follows the Vinaya account rather
than that of the Uddna. Text: N i. 53-66.



176 Book 1, Story 5. Dhammapada 6 [N.1.5815~

5 a. Quarrel among the monks

For at Kosambi, in Ghosita monastery, resided two monks, each
with a retinue of five hundred monks. Of the two monks, one was a
student of the Discipline, the other a preacher of the Law. One day
the preacher of the Law, after easing himself, left in a vessel what
remained of the water in which he had washed in the bathroom and
came out. Afterwards the student of the Discipline went [54] in and
saw the water. When he came out, he asked his companion, “Brother,
was it you that left the water?”” ‘Yes, brother.” ‘“But do you not
know that it is a sin so to do?” “Indeed I do not.” ‘But, brother,
it is a sin.” ““Well then, I will make satisfaction for it.” “Of course,
brother, if you did it unintentionally, inadvertently, it is no sin.”
Thus the preacher of the Law came to look upon the sin as no sin.

Notwithstanding, the student of the Discipline said to his own
pupils, “This preacher of the Law, although he has committed sin,
does not realize it.” They, seeing the pupils of the preacher of the
Law, said, “Your preceptor, although he has committed sin, does not
realize it.”” The preacher’s pupils went and informed their own
preceptor. The preacher of the Law spoke thus, “This student of the .
Discipline said before, ‘It’s no sin.” Now he says, ‘It %s a sin.” He’s
a liar.” The preacher’s pupils went and said, ““ Your teacher is a liar.”
Thus did they foment a quarrel between the two. Then the student
of the Discipline, seizing the opportunity, pronounced sentence of
excommunication against the preacher of the Law for failing to recog-
nize his sin. Thenceforth even the supporters who furnished them the
Requisites formed two factions. Even the nuns receiving instruction,
even the protecting deities; their friends and intimates, the deities who
dwell in the sky; beginning with these and extending to the world of
Brahma, all beings, even the unconverted, formed two factions.
The quarrel extended from the Realm of the Four Great Kings to the
Heaven of the Gods Sublime.

Now a certain monk drew near the Tathagata and told him that
those who pronounced the sentence of excommunication held the view
that the monk had been excommunicated according to law; [S5]
but that the partisans of the excommunicated monk held the view that
he had been excommunicated contrary to law, and that the latter had
gathered round in support of him, in spite of the fact that those who
pronounced the sentence of excommunication forbade them to do so.
Twice the Exalted One sent word, “Let them be united,” and received
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the reply, “Venerable Sir, they refuse to be united.”” The third time
he exclaimed, “The congregation of monks is rent asunder! The con-
gregation of monks is rent asunder!” So saying, he went to them and
pointed out to those who had pronounced sentence of excommunica-
tion the wrong involved in their act, and to those who had failed to
recognize sin the wrong involved in theirs. Again he enjoined upon
them the holding of fast-day and other ceremonies right there within
the boundary, and laid down the rule that those who quarreled in re-
fectories and elsewhere were to occupy separate seats in the refectory.

Hearing that they were quarreling again, he went to them, and
beginning his discourse with the words, “Enough, monks! No quar-
reling!” he continued, “Monks, quarrels, strifes, contentions, dis-
putes, — all these are unprofitable. For because of a quarrel even a
tiny quail brought about the destruction of a noble elephant.” And
he told the Birth-Story of the Tiny Quail.! Continuing, he said:
““Monks, be united; engage not in disputes. For because of a dispute
many thousand quails lost their lives.” And he told the Birth-Story
of the Quails.?

But in spite of this they paid no attention to his words, and a cer-
tain heretical teacher, who wished the Tathégata to be relieved of
annoyance, said to him, “Reverend Sir, let the Exalted One, the Lord
of Truth, remain at home. Reverend Sir, let the Exalted One live a
life of inaction and ease in this present world. [56] We shall make
ourselves notorious by our quarrels, strifes, contentions, and disputes.”
Thereupon the Tathéigata told the following Story of the Past:?

“Once upon a time, monks, Brahmadatta reigned at Benares as
king of Kasi. Brahmadatta fought against Dighati Kosala, took away
his kingdom, and killed him while he was living in disguise. Dighati’s
son, Prince Dighdvu, although he knew that Brahmadatta was the
murderer of his father, spared his life. Thenceforth they were at peace

with each other. Such, monks, is said to have been the patience and _ -

. gentleness of these kings who took scepter and sword. How much

more, monks, should you, who have retired from the world under a
Law and Discipline so well taught, let your light so shine in this world
as to be known of men as patient and gentle.” Thus did the Teacher
admonish them.

1 Jataka 857: iii. 174-177.

* Jataka 83: i. 208-210. Cf. Panchatantra, Book ii. Frame-story.

3 For a translation of the complete version of this beautiful story, see Sacred
Books of the East, xvii (Vinaya Texts), pp. 208-805.
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But in spite of his admonition he was unable to reunite them.
Thereupon, unhappy because of the crowded conditions under which
he lived, he reflected, “Under present conditions I am crowded and
jostled and live a life of discomfort. Moreover, these monks pay no
attention to what I say. Suppose I were to retire from the haunts of
men and live a life of solitude.”

After making his round for alms in Kosambi, without bidding the
Congregation of Monks farewell, he took his own bowl and robe, and
went quite alone to the village of Balaka, the salt-maker, where he
discoursed to the Elder Bhagu on the solitary life; thence he went to
Eastern Bamboo Deer-park, where he discoursed to the three youths
of station on the bliss of the sweets of concord; [57] and from there he
went to Parileyyaka. There, at the foot of a beautiful Sal-tree, in
Protected Forest, near Parileyyaka, the Exalted One spent the rainy
season pleasantly, attended by the elephant Parileyyaka.

" When the lay brethren resident at Kosambi went to the monastery
and failed to see the Teacher, they asked, “Reverend Sirs, where has
the Teacher gone?” “To Parileyyaka Forest.” ‘“For what reason?”
“He strove to reunite us, but we would not be reunited.” “Do you
mean, Reverend Sirs, that after receiving admission as monks at the
hands of the Teacher, you refused to agree when he asked you to do
so?” “Precisely so, brethren.” People said, “These monks, after
receiving admission at the hands of the Teacher, were unwilling to
patch up their differences when the Teacher asked them to do so. It’s
all their fault that we were unable to see the Teacher. To these monks,
assuredly, we will neither give seats nor offer respectful salutations or
other civilities.” And from that time on they showed them not so
much as a sign of civility.

The monks got so little food that they were nearly famished, and
it required only a few days to bring them to a better state of mind.
Then they confessed their sins, one to another, asked to be pardoned,
and said, ‘“Brethren, we are reconciled; be to us as before.” “Rev-
erend Sirs, have you begged the Teacher’s pardon?”” “No, we haven’t,
brethren.” “Well then, beg the Teacher’s pardon, and as soon as the
Teacher has pardoned you, we will be to you as before.” But as the
rainy season was then at its height, they were unable to go to the

~—Teacher and spent the rainy season very uncomfortably. The Teacher,

' however, spent the time pleasantly, attended by an elephant. For
this elephant, of noble breed, left his herd [58] and entered the forest
for the sole purpose of having a pleasant time. As it is said,



 -N.1.5914] The quarrelsome monks of Kosamb: 179

5b. The Buddha, the elephant, and the monkey

“Here I live, crowded by elephants, female elephants, elephant
calves, and young elephants. They have chewed off the tips of the
grass I eat; they eat branch after branch I break down; they muddy
the water I have to drink. Whenever I plunge into the water, or come
up out of the water, the female elephants come and rub against my
body. Suppose I were to retire from the herd and live all alone.”

So then this noble elephant withdrew from the herd and drew near
to Parileyyaka, to Protected Forest, to the foot of the beautiful
Sal-tree; even to where the Exalted One was, thither did he draw near.
And when he had drawn near and paid obeisance to the Exalted One,
he looked all about for a broom. And seeing none, he smote with his
foot the beautiful Sal-tree below and hewed away with his trunk
at the Sal-tree above. And taking a branch, he then swept the
ground.

Then he took a water-pot in his trunk and procured drinking-water.
And as hot water was required, he prepared hot water. (How was that
possible?) First he produced sparks with a fire-drill which he worked
with his trunk; then he dropped sticks of wood on the sparks. Thus
did he kindle a fire. In the fire he heated small stones; these he rolled
along with a stick and dropped into a little depression in the rock.
Then, lowering his trunk and finding the water hot enough, he went
and made obeisance to the Teacher. The Teacher asked, “Is your
water hot, Parileyyaka?” and went there [59] and bathed. After
that the elephant brought various kinds of wild fruits and presented
them to the Teacher.

Now when the Teacher enters the village for alms, the elephant
takes his bowl and robe, puts them on top of his head, and accom-
panies him. When the Teacher reaches the vicinity of the village, he
bids the elephant bring him his bowl and robe, saying, “Parileyyaka,
farther than this you are not permitted to go. Fetch me my bowl and
robe.” The Teacher then enters the village, and the elephant stands
right there until he returns. When the Teacher returns, the elephant
advances to meet him, takes his bowl and robe just as he did before,
deposits them in the Teacher’s place of abode, pays him the usual
courtesies, and fans him with the branch of a tree. At night, to ward
off danger from beasts of prey, he takes a big club in his trunk, says
to himself, “I’ll protect the Teacher,” and back and forth in the in-
terstices of the forest he paces until sunrise. (From that time forth,
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we are told, that forest was called “Protected Forest.”’) When the
sun rises, the elephant gives the Teacher water wherewith to bathe
his face, and in the manner before related performs all of the other
duties.

Now a monkey saw the elephant up and doing each day, perform-
ing the lesser duties for the Tathagata, and he said to himself, “I’ll
do something too.” One day, as he was running about, he happened
to see some stick-honey free from flies. He broke the stick off, took
the honey-comb, stick and all, broke off a plantain-leaf, placed the
honey on the leaf, [60] and offered it to the Teacher. The Teacher
took it. The monkey watched to see whether or not he would eat it.
He observed that the Teacher, after taking the honey, sat down with-
out eating. “What can be the matter?” thought he. He took hold
of the stick by the tip, turned it over and over, carefully examining it
as he did so, whereupon he discovered some insect’s eggs. Having
removed these gently, he again gave the honey to the Teacher. The
Teacher ate it.

The monkey was so delighted that he leaped from one branch to
another and danced about in great glee. But the branches he grasped
and the branches he stepped on broke off. Down he fell on the stump
of a tree and was impaled. So he died. And solely because of his
faith in the Teacher he was reborn in the World of the Thirty-three
in a golden mansion thirty leagues in measure, with a retinue of a
thousand celestial nymphs.

It became known over all the Land of the Rose-apple that the
Teacher was residing in Protected Forest, attended by a noble ele-
phant.! From the city of Savatthi, Anathapindika, Visikha, the emi-
nent female lay disciple, and other such great personages sent the
following message to the Elder Ananda,

“Reverend Sir, obtain for us the privilege of seeing the Teacher.”
Likewise five hundred monks residing abroad approached the Elder
Ananda at the close of the rainy season and made the following re-
quest, “It is a long time, Ananda, since we have heard a discourse on
the Law from the lips of the Exalted One. We should like, brother
Ananda, if you please, to have the privilege of hearing a discourse on
the Law from the lips of the Exalted One.”

So the Elder took those monks with him and went to Protected
Forest. When he reached the forest, he thought to himself, “The

! Cf. Story xxiii. 7.
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Tathagata has resided in solitude for a period of three months. It is
therefore not fitting that I should approach him all at once with so
many monks as these.” [61] Accordingly he left those monks out-
side and approached the Teacher quite alone. When the elephant
Parileyyaka saw the Elder, he took his staff and rushed forward.
The Teacher looked around and said to the elephant, “Come back,
Parileyyaka; do not drive him away. He is a servitor of the Bud-
dha.” The elephant immediately threw away his staff and requested
the privilege of taking the Elder’s bowl and robe. The Elder refused.
The elephant thought to himself, “If he is versed in the rules of
etiquette, he will refrain from placing his monastic requisites on the
stone slab where the Teacher is accustomed to sit.”” The Elder placed
his bowl and robe on the ground. (For those who are versed in the
rules of etiquette never place their own monastic requisites on the
seat or bed of their spiritual superiors.) The Elder, after saluting
the Teacher, seated himself on one side.

The Teacher asked him, “Did you come alone?”” The Elder in-
formed him that he had come with five hundred monks. “But where
are they?” asked the Teacher. “I did not know how you would
feel about it, and therefore I left them outside and came in alone.”
“Tell them to come in.”” The Elder did so. The Teacher exchanged
friendly greetings with the monks. Then the monks said to the
Teacher,

“Reverend Sir, the Exalted One is a delicate Buddha, a deli-
cate prince. You must have endured much hardship, standing
and sitting here alone as you have during these three months. For
of course you had no one to perform the major and minor duties for
you, no one to offer you water for bathing the face or to perform any
of the other duties for you.” The Teacher replied,

“Monks, the elephant Parileyyaka performed all of these offices
for me. For one who obtains such a companion as he may well live
alone; did one fail to find such, [62] even so the life of solitude were
better for him.” So saying, he pronounced these three Stanzas in the

Naga Vagga,

328. Should one find a prudent companion to walk with, an upright man and steadfast,
Let one walk with him, joyful, mindful, overcoming all dangers.

329. Should one not find a prudent companion to walk with, an upright man and stead-
fast,
Then like a king renouncing the kingdom he has conquered, let one walk alone,
Like an elephant roaming at will in an elephant-forest.
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330. The life of solitude is better; one cannot be friends with a simpleton;
Let a man live in solitude, and do no evil deeds,
Taking his ease, like an elephant roaming at will in an elephant-forest.

At the conclusion of the Stanzas the five hundred monks were
established in Arahatship.

The Elder Ananda then delivered the message sent by Anatha-
pindika and the rest, saying, “Reverend Sir, fifty million Noble Dis-
ciples headed by Anathapindika desire your return.” “Very well,”
said the Teacher, ‘“take bowl and robe.” Causing them to take bowl
and robe, he set out. The elephant went and stood crosswise on the
road. “Reverend Sir, what is the elephant doing?” ‘‘Monks, he
desires to give alms to you. For a long time he has served me; it is
not right to hurt his feelings. Turn back, monks!” The Teacher
and the monks [63] turned back. The elephant entered the forest,
- gathered bananas and various other fruits, heaped them together, and
on the following day gave them to the monks. The five hundred monks
were unable to dispose of them all. When they had finished eating,
the Teacher took bowl and robe and set out. The elephant, threading
his way through the monks, went and stood crosswise in front of the
Teacher.

“Reverend Sir, what is the elephant doing?” ‘“Monks, having
sped your parting, he desires to make me turn back.” Said the Teacher
to the elephant, “Parileyyaka, I am going now, never to return. You
cannot hope in this existence to enter into states of trance, or to attain
Spiritual Insight, or the Paths, or the Fruits. Halt!” When the ele-
phant heard that, he thrust his trunk into his mouth and retreated
very slowly, weeping as he went. (Could he have made the Teacher
turn back, he would have cared for him in the very samne way to the -
end of his days.)

Now when the Teacher reached the vicinity of the village, he said,
“Parileyyaka, farther than this it is unsafe for you to go. The habi-
tations of men are fraught with danger to you. Halt!” The elephant
halted where he was and wept. As the Teacher slowly passed out of
sight, he died of a broken heart. Through faith in the Teacher he
was reborn in the World of the Thirty-three in a golden mansion thirty
leagues in measure, with a retinue of a thousand celestial nymphs.
God Parileyyaka was his name.

The Teacher arrived in due course at Jetavana. The monks of
Kosambi, [64] hearing of the Teacher’s return to Savatthi, went
thither to beg his pardon. The king of Kosala, hearing that the quar-
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relsome monks of Kosambi had come to Savatthi, approached the
Teacher and said, ‘“Reverend Sir, I’ll not allow those monks to come
into my country.” ‘Great king, these monks are good men; only
because of a dispute they had with each other they paid no attention
to my words. Now they are coming to beg my pardon; let them come,
great king.”” Anathapindika also said, “I’ll not allow those monks
to enter the monastery.”” But the Teacher took issue with him as he
had with the king, and he was silent.

Now when those monks reached Savatthi, the Exalted One gave
orders that separate lodging should be prepared and given to them.
The other monks neither sit nor stand in their company. One after
another those who come ask the Teacher, ‘“Where, Reverend Sir,
are the quarrelsome monks of Kosambi?”” The Teacher points them
out, saying, “There they are!”” ‘There they are! There they are!”

. One after another those who come point their fingers at them, until
for shame they are unable to lift their heads. Then they threw them-
selves at the feet of the Exalted One and asked him to pardon them.
Said the Teacher,

““Monks, grievous was the sin you committed when, after receiving
admission as monks at the hands of a Buddha like me, in spite of my
efforts to reconcile you, you refused to obey my words. Even wise
men of old hearkened to the admonition of their mother and father
under sentence of death, [65] disobeyed it not, even while their par-
ents were being deprived of life, and afterwards established their
sovereignty over two kingdoms.” So saying, he related the Kosambika
Jataka once more, concluding as follows, ,

“Thus, monks, Prince Dighavu, even while his mother and father
were being deprived of life, disobeyed not their admonition and after-
wards, obtaining Brahmadatta’s daughter in marriage, bore sway over
the two kingdoms of Kasi and Kosala. You, however, disobeyed my
words, and thereby committed a grievous sin.”’ So saying, he pro-
nounced the following Stanza,

6. But others do not understand that we must here control ourselves;
Yet let them understand this, and straight dissensions cease. [66]

At the conclusion of the Stanza the assembled monks were estab-
lished in the Fruit of Conversion.
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I. 6. KALA JUNIOR - AND KALA SENIOR'!

Whoever lives looking for pleasure. This religious instruction was
given by the Teacher while he was in residence near the city Setavya
with reference to Kala junior and Kila senior, Culla Kila and Maha
Kala.

For Culla Kila, Majjhima Kala, and Maha Kala were three house-
holders who lived in Setavya, and they were brothers. Culla Kaila
and Maha Kala, the oldest and youngest respectively, used to travel
abroad with their caravan of five hundred carts and bring home goods
to sell, and Majjhima Kaila sold the goods they brought. Now on a
certain occasion the two [67] brothers, taking wares of various kinds
in their five hundred carts, set out for Savatthi, and halting between
Savatthi and Jetavana, unharnessed their carts.

At eventide Maha Kala saw Noble Disciples, residents of Savatthi,
with garlands and perfumes in their hands, going to hear the Law.
“Where are they going?”’ he asked. Receiving the answer that they
were going to hear the Law, he thought to himself, “I will go too.”
So he addressed his youngest brother, “Dear brother, keep watch
over the carts; I am going to hear the Law.” So saying, he went and
paid obeisance to the Tathagata and sat down in the outer circle
of the congregation.

On that day the Teacher preached the Law in orderly sequence
with reference to Maha Kala’s disposition of mind, and quoting the
Sutta on the Aggregate of Suffering, and other Suttas, discoursed
on the sinfulness and folly and contamination of sensual pleasures.
Maha Kala, after listening to the discourse, thought to himself, “ So
a man must needs leave al things behind him when he goes hence.
When a man goes to the world beyond, neither wealth nor kinsmen can
follow him. Why should I continue to live the life of a householder?
I will become a monk.” Accordingly, when the multitude had paid
obeisance to the Teacher and departed, he requested the Teacher to
receive him into the Order.

“Have you no kinsman of whom it is proper that you should ask
permission?” inquired the Teacher. “I have a younger brother,
Reverend Sir.”” “Ask his permission.” “Very well, Reverend Sir.”
So Maha Kaila went to Culla Kala and said to him, “Dear brother,

! Derived from this story are Thera-Gatha Commentary, cxxxvi, and Rogers,
Buddhaghosha's Parables, iv, pp. 25-81. Text: N i. 66-77.
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receive all this wealth.” [68] ‘“But you, brother?”” “I intend to
retire from the world under the Teacher.” Culla Kila used all manner
of arguments to dissuade his brother from carrying out his intention,
but in vain. Finally he said to him, “Very well, master; do as you
wish.” So Maha Kila went and became a monk under the Teacher.
Culla Kila likewise became a monk. But the thought in Culla
Kaila’s mind was, “After a time I will return to the world and take my
brother with me.”

Somewhat later Maha Kaila made his full profession, and ap-
proaching the Teacher, asked him, “How many duties are there in
this Religion?” The Teacher informed him that there were two.
Said Maha Kala, “Reverend Sir, since I became a monk in old age,
I shall not be able to fulfill the Duty of Study, but I can fulfill the
Duty of Contemplation.” So he had the Teacher instruct him in the
Pure Practice of a Burning-grounder, which leads to Arahatship. At
the end of the first watch, when everyone else was asleep, he went to
the burning-ground; and at dawn, before anyone else had risen, he
returned to the monastery.

Now the keeper of the burning-ground, a certain woman named
Kali, whose duty was to burn the bodies of the dead, saw the Elder
as he stood up and sat down and walked about. And she thought to
herself, “Who can this be that comes here? I will find out about him.”
But she was unable to find out what she wished to find out about him.
So one night she lighted a lamp in the hut of the burning-ground, and
taking son and daughter with her, hid herself on one side of the burn-
ing-ground. When she saw the Elder approach, she approached him,
paid obeisance to him, and asked him, “Reverend Sir, does our
noble monk reside in this place?” “Yes, lay sister.” ‘“Reverend Sir,
[69] those that reside in a burning-ground have certain rules to ob-
serve.”” The Elder did not say, “Do you think I shall observe any
rules of your telling?”” Instead he said, “What ought I to do, lay
sister?”

Said the keeper of the burning-ground, “Reverend Sir, they that
reside in a burning-ground are bound to declare the fact to the
keepers of the burning-ground, to the Chief Elder at the monastery,
and to the village headman.” “Why?” “Thieves who commit depre-
dations, when pursued by lawful owners of property, frequently flee
to a burning-ground and leave their spoils there; then the owners
come and threaten residents of the burning-ground with harm. But
if the authorities are duly informed, they can avert trouble by saying,
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“We know for a fact that this reverend monk has resided here for such
and such a length of time; he is no thief.” For this reason you are
bound to declare your intention to the authorities I have mentioned.”

Maha Kaila then asked, “Is there anything else I ought to do?”’
“Reverend Sir, so long as your reverence resides in a burning-ground,
you must abstain from fish, flesh, sesame, flour, oil, and molasses.
You must not sleep by day. You must not be slothful. You must
live with high resolve, exerting all the powers of your will, avoiding
double-dealing and deceit. At eventide, when all are asleep, you must
leave the monastery and come here; at dawn, before any have risen,
you must return to the monastery.

“In case, Reverend Sir, while you reside in this burning-ground,
you succeed in reaching the goal of the Religious Life, and they bring
a dead body here and cast it away, I will place it on the funeral pyre,

“and rendering the usual honors with perfumes and garlands, I will
perform the funeral rites over the body. If you do not succeed, I will
light the pyre, drag the body along with a stake, [70] throw it outside,
chop it to pieces with an axe, throw the pieces into the fire, and burn
it.” The Elder said to her, “Very well, woman. But in case you
should see a corpse which you think would afford me a suitable Subject
of Meditation on Material Form, be good enough to tell me.” “Very
well,” said she, promising him to do so.

In accordance with his intention the Elder Maha Kala performed
his meditations in the burning-ground. The Elder Culla Kala, how-
ever, busy and active, thinking always of the house-life, remembering
son and wife, said to himself, “It is an excessively difficult task my
brother is engaged in.”

Now a certain young woman of station was attacked by a disease,
and the very moment the disease attacked her, she died, at eventide,
without a sign of withering or weariness. In the evening her kinsfolk
and friends brought her body to the burning-ground, with firewood,
oil, and other requisites, and said to the keeper of the burning-ground,
“Burn this body.” And paying the keeper the usual fee, they turned
the body over to her and departed. When the keeper of the burning-
ground removed the woman’s dress and beheld her beautiful golden-
hued body, she straightway thought to herself, “This corpse is a suit-
able Subject of Meditation to show to his reverence.” So she went
to the Elder, paid obeisance to him, and said, “I have a remarkably
good Subject of Meditation; pray look at it, Reverend Sir.”

“Very well,” said the Elder. So he went and caused the dress
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which covered the corpse to be removed, and surveyed the body from
the soles of the feet to the tips of the hair. Then he said, [71] “Throw
this beautiful golden-hued body into the fire, and so soon as the
tongues of fire have laid hold of it, please tell me.”” So saying, he went
to his own place and sat down.

The keeper of the burning-ground did as she was told and went’
and informed the Elder. The Elder came and surveyed the body.
Where the flames had touched the flesh, the color of her body was
like that of a mottled cow; the feet stuck out and hung down; the
hands were curled back; the forechead was without skin. The Elder
thought to himself, “This body, whichbut now caused those who looked
thereon to forget the Sacred Word, has but now attained decay, has
but now attained death.” And going to his night-quarters, he sat
down, discerning clearly Decay and Death.

Impermanent are all existing things. It is their nature to come into existence and
to decay.
They come into existence and perish. It is well when they have ceased to be.!

Having recited this Stanza, Maha Kala developed Spiritual In-
sight and attained Arahatship, together with the Supernatural
Faculties.

When Maha Kila attained Arahatship, the Teacher, surrounded
by the Congregation of Monks, traveling from place to place, arrived
at Setavya and entered the Simsapa forest. Culla Kala’s wives, hear-
ing that the Teacher had arrived, thought to themselves, ‘“Now we
shall recover our husband.” So they sent and invited the Teacher.
Now when a visit is expected from the Buddhas, it is customary to
prepare a seat in a place which is not circumscribed, and in order to
insure that this shall be done, it is customary for a single monk to go
in advance and give warning. For the Seat of the Buddhas must be
set in the midst, [72] on the right of the Buddha must be placed the
seat of the Elder Sariputta, on his left that of the Elder Maha Moggal-
lana, and next to these on both sides must be arranged the seats for the
Congregation of Monks. Therefore the Elder Maha Kala, standing
in the place where the bowls and robes were kept, sent forth Culla
Kaila, saying, “You go in advance and give warning to arrange the
seats.”

From the moment the members of the household caught sight of
Culla Kila, they made a jest of him, putting the low seats at the ends

! Digha, ii. 157 9.
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where the Elders of the Assembly were to sit, and the high seats where
the novices were to sit. Culla Kala said to them, “Do not arrange
the seats thus; do not put the low seats above and the high seats
below.” But the women, pretending not to hear him, said, “What
are you doing here, walking about? What right have you to give
orders about the arrangement of the seats? By whose leave did you
become a monk? Who made a monk of you? What made you come
here?”

And having thus made a mock of him, they tore off his under and
upper garments, clothed him with white garments instead, placed a
garland-coil on his head, and packed him off, saying, “Go fetch the
Teacher; we will arrange the seats.”” Now those who have been
monks but a short time, and have returned to the world before keep-
ing a single residence, are without a sense of shame. Therefore Culla
Kala, free from any anxiety on the score of his clothing, went to the
Teacher, paid obeisance to him, and taking with him the Congregation
of Monks presided over by the Buddha, returned.

When the Congregation of Monks had finished their meal, Maha
Kaila’s wives thought to themselves, “Culla Kala’s wives recovered
their husband; let us also recover ours.” [73] Accordingly they in-
vited the Teacher for the following day. But on this occasion a
different monk came to arrange the seats, and so Maha Kala’s wives
failed of an opportunity to embarrass him. When they had seated
the Congregation of Monks presided over by the Buddha, they pre-
sented them with food. Now Culla Kila had two wives, Majjhima
Kaila had four, and Maha Kala had eight. Those of the monks who
desired to eat sat down and ate their meal; those who desired to go
out arose and went out. The Teacher sat down and ate his meal.
When he had finished his meal, those women said to him, “Reverend
Sir, Maha Kala will pronounce the formula of thanksgiving and then
return; you go on ahead.” The Teacher said, “Very well,” and went
on ahead.

When the Teacher reached the village gate, the Congregation of
Monks were offended and said, “ What a thing for the Teacher to do!
Did he do it wittingly or unwittingly? Yesterday Culla Kala came
in advance, and that was the end of his monastic life. But to-day a
different monk came in advance, and nothing of the sort happened.”
The Teacher sent Maha Kaila back and continued on his way. Said
the monks, “The monk Maha Kala is virtuous and upright. Will
they put an end to his monastic life?”’
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Hearing their words, the Teacher stopped and asked them, “What
is it you are saying, monks?”” When they told him, he said, “But,
monks, you do not think that Maha Kaila is like Culla Kala?” “Yes,
Reverend Sir; Culla Kala has two wives, but Maha Kala has eight.
If his eight wives gather about him and seize him, what can he do,
Reverend Sir?” Said the Teacher, ‘“Monks, do not speak thus. Culla
Kaila lives a busy and active life and allows his thoughts to dwell on
many pleasing objects. My son [74] Maha Kala, on the other hand,
does not live looking for pleasure, but is immovable, like a mountain
of solid rock.” So saying, he pronounced the following Stanzas,

7. Whoever lives looking for pleasure, exercising no restraint over his senses,

Immoderate in his enjoyments, indolent, inert,
Him Mara overpowers, even as the wind overpowers a tree of little strength.

8. Whoever lives looking not for pleasure, exercising restraint over his senses,
Moderate in his enjoyments, endowed with faith, exerting the power of his will,

Him Mara does not overpower, even as the wind does not overpower a mourtain
of rock. [77]

Maha Kala’s former wives surrounded him and said to him, “By
whose leave did you become a monk? Will you now become a house-
holder?” Having said this and much more to the same effect, they.
sought to strip him of his yellow robes. But the Elder, divining their
intention, rose from the seat where he had been sitting and flew
upwards by his supernatural power, rending the peak of the pagoda
asunder. And having soared through the air, he descended to the
grqund as the Teacher spoke the concluding words of the Stanzas,
praising the golden body of the Teacher and paymg obeisance at the
feet of the Tathagata.

I.7. DEVADATTA WEARS AN UNBECOMING ROBE!

Whoever, not free from tmpurity. This religious instruction was
given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with
reference to Devadatta’s assumption of the yellow robe at Rijagaha.

For on a certain occasion the two Chief Disciples, each with a retinue
of five hundred monks, took leave of the Teacher and went from
Jetavana to Rajagaha. Theresidents of Rajagaha united by twos and
threes and in larger groups and gave alms in accordance with the
custom of giving alms to visitors. Now one day Venerable Sariputta

1 Cf. Jataka 221: ii. 196-199. Text: N i. 77-83.
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said, in making the Address of Thanksgiving, [78] “Lay brethren,
one man himself gives alms, but does not urge another to give; that
man receives in succeeding states of existence the blessing of wealth,
but not the blessing of a retinue. Another man urges his neighbor to
give, but does not himself give; that man receives in succeeding states
of existence the blessing of a retinue, but not the blessing of wealth.
Another man neither himself gives alms nor urges others to give; in
succeeding states of existence that man receives not so much as a
bellyful of sour rice-gruel, but is forlorn and destitute. Yet another
both himself gives alms and urges his neighbor to give; that man in
succeeding states of existence, in a hundred states of existence, in a
thousand states of existence, in a hundred thousand states of existence,
receives both the blessing of wealth and the blessing of a retinue.”
Thus did Venerable Sariputta preach the Law.

A certain wise man heard him and thought to himself, “Sir, the
preaching of the Law is indeed a wonderful thing; well has the means
of happiness been expounded. It behooves me to do works of merit
productive of these two Attainments.” So he invited the Elder to
take a meal with him, saying, “Reverend Sir, accept my hospitality
for to-morrow.” ‘“How many monks have you need of, lay disciple?”
“But how many monks are there in your retinue, Reverend Sir?”
“A thousand, lay disciple.”” “Bring all your monks with you to-
morrow and accept my hospitality, Reverend Sir.”” The Elder accepted
the invitation.

The lay disciple went through the street of the city urging others
to give alms, saying, “Men and women, I have invited a thousand
monks. How many monks will you be able to provide with food?
how many will you?”” The people promised to provide food, each
according to his means, saying, [79] “We will give to ten; we will give
to twenty; we will give to a hundred.” The lay disciple then directed
them to bring their offerings to one place, saying, “Well then, let us
assemble in one place and cook the food as one body. All of you bring
together in one place the sesame, rice, ghee, molasses, and other
articles of food.”

Now a certain householder presented a perfumed yellow robe worth
a hundred thousand pieces of money, saying, “If your combined alms
prove insufficient, sell this and devote the proceeds to supplying the
deficiency; if they are sufficient, you may give it to whatever monk you
please.” The combined offerings proved sufficient for the householder’s
purpose; there was nothing lacking. The lay disciple therefore said
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to the men, “Honorable Sirs, this yellow robe, given by a certain
householder for such and such a purpose, is superfluous. To whom
shall we give it?”

Some said, “Let us give it to the Elder Sariputta.” Others said,
“The Elder Sariputta has a way of coming and going when the crops
are ripe. But Devadatta is our constant companion, both on festival
days and on ordinary days, and is ever ready like a water-pot. Let us
give it to him.” After a long discussion it was decided by a majority
of four to give the robe to Devadatta. So they gave the robe to
Devadatta. Devadatta cut it in two, fashioned it, dyed it, put one
part on as an undergarment and the other as an upper garment, and
wore it as he walked about. When they saw him wearing his new
robe, they said, “This robe does not become Devadatta, but does
become the Elder Sariputta. Devadatta is going about wearing under
and upper garments which do not become him.” [80]

Now a certain monk who lived in foreign parts came from Rajagaha
to Savatthi, and when he had paid obeisance to the Teacher and
expressed his pleasure at seeing him, the Teacher asked him about the
well-being of the two Chief Disciples. The monk thereupon told him
the whole episode of the robe from beginning to end. Said the Teacher,
““Monks, this is not the first time Devadatta has worn robes unbecom-
ing to him; in a previous state of existence also he wore robes which
did not become him.” So saying, he related the following '

7 a. Story of the Past: The elephant-hunter and the noble elephant

Once upon a time, when Brahmadatta ruled at Benires, there
dwelt at Benares a certain elephant-hunter who made a living by
killing elephants and marketing their tusks, claws, entrails, and solid
flesh. Now in a certain forest several thousand elephants found
pasture. One day, when they went to the forest, they saw some
Private Buddhas. From that day, both going and coming, they fell
down on their knees before the Private Buddhas before proceeding
on their way.

One day the elephant-hunter saw their actions. Thought he, “It
is only with great difficulty that I can kill these beasts. But every
time they come and go they pay obeisance to the Private Buddhas.
What is it they see that makes them pay obeisance?”” Coming to the
conclusion that it was the yellow robe, he thought to himself, “I too
ought to get a yellow robe immediately.” So he went to a pool used
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by a certain Private Buddha, and while the latter was bathing and
his robes lay on the bank, stole his robes. Then he went and sat down
on the path by which the elephants came and went, with a spear in
his hand and the robe drawn over his head. The elephants saw him,
and taking him for a Private Buddha, paid obeisance to him, and then
went their way. The elephant which came last of all he killed with a
thrust of his spear. And taking the tusks and other parts which were
of value and burying the rest of the dead animal in the ground, he
departed. [81]

Later on the Future Buddha, who had been reborn as an elephant,
became the leader of the elephants and the lord of the herd. At that
time also the elephant-hunter was pursuing the same tactics as before.
The Great Being observed the diminution of his retinue and asked,
““Where do these elephants go that this herd has become so small?”’
“That we do not know, master.” The Great Being thought to himself,
““Wherever they go, they must not go without my permission.” Then
the suspicion entered his mind, “The fellow who sits in a certain place
with a yellow robe drawn over his head must be causing the trouble;
he will bear watching.”

So the leader of the herd sent the other elephants on ahead and
brought up the rear himself, walking very slowly. When the rest of
the elephants had paid obeisance and passed on, the elephant-hunter
saw the Great Being approach, whereupon he gathered his robe together
and threw his spear. The Great Being fixed his attention as he
approached, and stepping backwards, avoided the spear. ““This is
the man who killed my elephants,” thought the Great Being, and
forthwith sprang forwards to seize him. But the elephant-hunter
jumped behind a certain tree and crouched down. Thought the Great
Being, “I will encircle both the hunter and the tree with my trunk,
seize the hunter, and dash him to the ground.” Just at that moment
the hunter removed the yellow robe and allowed the elephant to see it.
When the Great Being saw it, he thought to himself, “If I offend
against this man, the reverence which thousands of Buddhas, Private
Buddhas, and Arahats feel towardsme will of necessity be lost.”” There-
fore he kept his patience. Then he asked the hunter, “Was it you that
killed all these kinsmen of mine?”’ ‘Yes, master,” replied the hunter.
“Why did you do so wicked a deed? You have put on robes which
become those who are free from the passions, but which are unbecoming
to you. In doing such a deed as this, you have committed a grievous
sin.” So saying, he rebuked him again for the last time, saying, [82]
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Whoever, not free from impurity, lacking self-restraint and truth,
Puts on the yellow robe, he is not worthy of the yellow robe.

Whoever is free from impurity, firmly established in the moral precepts,
Possessed of self-restraint and truth, he is worthy of the yellow robe.

“Unbecoming is the deed you have done,” said he.

When the Teacher had ended this lesson, he identified the char-
acters in the Jataka as follows, ‘“At that time the elephant-hunter was
Devadatta, and the noble elephant who rebuked him was I myself.
Monks, this is not the first time Devadatta has worn a robe which was
unbecoming to him; he did the same thing in a previous state of
existence also.” So saying, he pronounced the following Stanzas,

9. Whoever, not free from impurity, lacking self-restraint and truth,
Puts on the yellow robe, he is not worthy of the yellow robe.

10. Whoever is free from impurity, firmly established in the moral precepts,
Possessed of self-restraint and truth, he is worthy of the yellow robe.

1.8. THE CHIEF DISCIPLES !

They who think to find the truth in falsehood. [83] This religious
instruction was given by the Teacher while he was in residence at
Veluvana, and it was with reference to the announcement made by
the Chief Disciples of Safijaya’s refusal to go to the Teacher. From
first to last the story is as follows:

8 a. Life of the Buddha

Four Incalculables and a hundred thousand cycles of time in the
past our Teacher was born as a Brahman prince in the city of Amara-
vati, and his name was Sumedha. After acquiring proficiency in all
the arts, he renounced wealth amounting to countless millions which
he inherited on the death of his mother and father, retired from the
world, adopted the life of an anchorite, took up his residence in the
Himalaya country, and there won for himself by Ecstatic Meditation
the Supernatural Powers. Now it came to pass on a certain day that

1 8a is a brief outline of Nidanakatha, Jataka, i. 2'3-85*: translated by Rhys
Davids, Buddhist Birth Stories, pp. 2-119. 8 b is derived from Vinaya, Mahd Vagga,
i. 28-24. 4: i. 89224387, Cf. Hardy, Manual of Buddhism, pp. 200-203. With 8 f
(Dh. cm., i. 100'-1042) cf. Khuddaka Patha Commentary, 202-206%, and Peta Vatthu
Commentary, 192-23'. Peta Vatthu Commentary is here almost word for word the same
as Khuddaka Patha Commentary. Text: N i. 83-114.
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Dipaiikara, Master of the Ten Forces, set out from Sudassana mon-
astery to go to the city Ramma, and the populace came forth to
clear the way. As Sumedha came flying through the air on that day,
he observed that a road was being cleared. Therefore selecting for
himself a portion of the road which had not yet been cleared, when the
Teacher approached, he made of himself a bridge for him, spread his
mantle of antelope skin in the mud, laid himself thereon, and said,
“Let not the Teacher with his company of disciples tread upon the
mud. Let him rather tread upon me; so let him proceed upon his
journey.”

When the Teacher beheld Sumedha, he said, “Yonder prince is a
nascent Buddha; four Incalculables and a hundred thousand cycles
of time hence [84] he will become a Buddha named Gotama.” Thus
did the Teacher Dipafkara prophesy regarding the Brahman prince
Sumedha. After Dipafikara came the following Buddhas: Kondaiifia,
Maigala, Sumana, Revata, Sobhita, Anomadassi, Paduma, Narada,
Padumuttara, Sumedha, Sujata, Piyadassi, Atthadassi, Dhammadassi,
Siddhattha, Tissa, Phussa, Vipassi, Sikhi, Vessabhii, Kakusandha,
Kondgamana, and Kassapa. One after another these twenty-four
Buddhas arose in the world and enlightened the world, and from each
of them the Brahman prince Sumedha received the prophecy that he
should one day become a Buddha. Now after Sumedha had fulfilled
the Ten Perfections and the Ten Minor Perfections and the Ten Major
Perfections, making in all Thirty Perfections, he was reborn as Ves-
santara; and in his existence as Vessantara he bestowed mighty alms
which caused the earth to quake, and in that existence also he re-
nounced both son and wife. When the term of life allotted to him was
come to an end, he was reborn in the Heaven of the Tusita gods; and
when he had remained in this state of existence during the term of
life allotted to him, the deities of the Ten Thousand Worlds assembled
together and thus addressed him,

The time is come, mighty hero; descend into the womb of your mother;
Rescue the worlds of men and gods; discover the Region of the Deathless.

Thereupon he made the Five Great Observations, and passing from
that state of existence, received a new existence in the royal household
of the Sakiyas. In this royal household he was brought up amid great
splendor and in the course of time attained auspicious youth. He
spent his youth in three mansions appropriate to the three seasons of
the year, enjoying splendor and majesty of sovereignty comparable
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to the splendor of the World of the Gods. In the course of time it
came to pass that, as he proceeded on three successive days to the
garden to amuse himself, he beheld the Three Heavenly Messengers;
namely, a man worn out by old age, a man afflicted with disease, and
a dead man. [85] On each of the three days he returned to his palace,
overcome with emotion.

On the fourth day he beheld a man who had retired from the world
and adopted the life of a monk. “It were well for me to retire from
the world and adopt the life of a monk,” said he, conceiving a desire
for the religious life; and with this thought in mind, he proceeded to
the garden and spent the entire day sitting on the bank of the royal
pool. While he sat there, the god Vissakamma approached him, dis-
guised as a barber, and dressed him in rich apparel and adorned him
with all manner of adornments. There also he received the message
that a son had been born to him, Prince Rahula; and realizing the
strength of affection for a son, he reflected, “I must straightway break
this bond, lest it become too strong for me.” In the evening, as he
entered the city, Kisi Gotami, daughter of his father’s sister, pro-
nounced the following Stanza,

Happy indeed is that mother, happy indeed is that father,
Happy indeed is that wife whose husband is such a one as he.

When he heard Kisa Gotami pronounce this Stanza, he said, “This
woman has taught me where true happiness is to be found;” and taking
off a string of pearls, he sent it to her as a present. Having entered
his own residence, he lay down on the royal couch, and as he lay there
beheld the disgusting appearance of the nautch-girls asleep. Heart-
sick he roused his courtier Channa, caused his steed Kanthaka to be
brought to him, mounted Kanthaka, and taking Channa with him as
his companion, and surrounded by the deities of the Ten Thousand
Worlds, he went forth and made the Great Retirement. Proceeding
to the bank of the river Anoma, he retired from the world and adopted
the life of a monk.

Having adopted the life of a monk, he proceeded to Rajagaha and
went about the city receiving alms. Then he retired to Pandava
mountain and seated himself in Pandava mountain cave. While he
was sitting there, the king of Magadha came to him and offered to
bestow his kingdom upon him, but this offer of the king he straightway
refused. He promised the king, however, to visit his kingdom so
soon as he should attain Omniscience. Then he approached Alara
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and Uddaka; but after following their system of discipline, failed to
win the Attainment which distinguishes one who has attained Arahat-
ship. Thereafter, for a period of six years, he engaged in the Great
Struggle.

Early in the morning on the day of full moon of the month Visakha
[86] he ate rice-porridge presented to him by Sujata, caused his golden
bowl to float on the river Nerafijara, and spent the day in Mahavana
Grove in the various degrees of Ecstatic Meditation. In the evening he
listened to the praise of his noble qualities bestowed upon him by Kila,
King of the Dragons, ascended the Throne of Wisdom, received the
bundles of grass presented to him by Sotthiya, scattered the grass
before him, and formed the following resolution, “I will not abandon
this posture until I have ceased utterly to care for the things of this
world and my heart has thus rid itself of the Depravities.”

Thereupon he sat down facing the east, and before the sun had set
overcame the host of Mara. In the first watch he acquired the knowl-
edge of previous states of existence; in the second watch he acquired
the knowledge of the vanishing of creatures from one state of existence
and of their reappearance in another; at the conclusion of the last
watch he acquired the knowledge of the Causes of Existence, fathoming
the depths of Omniscience and acquiring the Ten Forces, the Four
Subjects of Confidence, and all of the Noble Qualities. For seven
weeks he remained on the Throne of Wisdom; in the eighth week
he seated himself under the Goatherd’s Banyan-tree and meditated
upon the depths of the Law, finally arriving at misgivings as to his
ability to preach the Law to others.

Straightway Sahampati Brahma, accompanied by the retinue of
the Ten Thousand Worlds with which Maha Brahma is wont to be
accompanied, approached him and requested him to preach the Law
to others. Surveying the world with the eye of a Buddha, he acceded
to Brahma'’s request. ‘““To whom, pray, shall I first preach the Law?”
thought he. Surveying the world, he became aware of the death of
Alara and Uddaka. But remembering the devoted services of the
Five Monks, he arose from his seat [87] and went to Kasipura, meet-
ing Upaka by the way and talking with him.

On the day of full moon of the month Asalha he arrived at Isipatana
in the Deerpark, at the place of residence of the Five Monks; and when
the Five Monks addressed him improperly, he instructed them how
properly to address him. Then he set in motion the Wheel of the Law,
giving to drink of the Deathless to a hundred and eighty millions of
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angels, but above all to the monk Afifia-Kondafiia. Having set in
motion the glorious Wheel of the Law, on the fifth day of the half-
month he established all those monks in Arahatship. On the same day
also he perceived that the noble youth Yasa possessed the dispositions
requisite for Conversion; and when the noble youth Yasa left his
house in disgust at what he saw during the night, he saw him and
summoned him and made a monk of him, saying, “Come, Yasa!”
In that same night also he caused him to attain the Fruit of Conversion,
and on the following day caused him to attain Arahatship. After-
wards he made monks of his fifty-four companions, employing the
formula, ‘“Come, monks!” And having made monks of them, he
caused them to attain Arahatship.

There were thus sixty-one Arahats in the world. Having kept
residence during the season of the rains, and having celebrated the
terminal festival, he sent out the sixty monks into all the world, saying,
“Go forth, monks, preaching and teaching.” He himself proceeded
to Uruvela, on the way thither, in Kappasika grove, instructing the
Thirty Youths known as the Bhaddavaggiyas. Of these the least
attained the Fruit of Conversion and the greatest attained the Fruit
of the Third Path. All these youths he received into the Order with
the single formula, ‘“Come, monks!” And when he had so done, he
sent them out into all the world. Arriving at Uruvela, he performed
three thousand five hundred miracles [88] and converted Uruvela-
Kassapa, Nadi-Kassapa, and Gaya-Kassapa. These were three
brothers, ascetics who wore matted hair, with a following of a thousand
disciples. These ascetics he instructed in the Law. And when he had
so done, he received them into the Order with the single formula,
“Come, monks!” Seating them at Gayasisa, he established them in
Arahatship by preaching the Fire Sermon; then, attended by a
thousand Arahats, he went to Latthivana Garden near the city of
Rajagaha, intending to redeem the promise he had given to King
Bimbisara.

“The Teacher has arrived,” went forth the cry. Hearing the
report, King Bimbisara approached with twelve nahutas of Brahman
householders, and to him the Buddha preached the Law in a pleasing
manner, establishing the king and eleven nahutas of Brahmans in the
Fruit of Conversion and one nahuta of Brahmans in the Refuges.
On the following day he listened to the praise of his noble qualities
by Sakka king of the gods disguised as a Brahman youth, and then
entered the city of Rajagaha. Having eaten his meal in the royal
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residence, he accepted the gift of Veluvana monastery and took up
his residence there. And there it was that Sariputta and Moggallana
came to him.

8 b. Life of Upatissa (Sariputta) and Kolita (Moggallina)

Before the Buddha appeared in the world, there were two Brahman
villages not far from Rajagaha named Upatissa village and Kolita
village. One day a Brahman’s wife named Riipasari, who lived in
Upatissa village, conceived a child in her womb; and on the same day a
Brahman’s wife named Moggali, who lived in Kolita village, likewise
conceived a child in her womb. We are told that for seven generations
these two families had been firmly knit and bound together in the
bonds of friendship; they performed the Protection of the Embryo for
the two expectant mothers on the same day. On the expiration of
ten lunar months, both women gave birth to sons.

On the day appointed for the naming of the children, they gave the
name Upatissa to the son of the Brahman woman whose name was
Sari, because he was the son of the principal famlly in Upatissa village;
[89] to the other boy, because he was the son of the principal family in
Kolita village, they gave the name Kolita. As they grew up, both
boys attained the highest proficiency in all the arts and sciences.
Whenever the youth Upatissa went to the river or the garden to disport
himself, five hundred golden litters accompanied him; five hundred
chariots drawn by thoroughbreds accompanied the youth Kolita.
The two youths had retinues of five hundred boys apiece.

Now there is a festival celebrated every year in Rajagaha which
goes by the name of Mountain-top festival. A couch for the two
youths was set up in one place, and the two youths sat together and
witnessed the passing show. When there was occasion to laugh, they
laughed; when there was occasion to weep, they wept; when it was
time to give alms, they gave alms. In this way they witnessed the
festivities for several days. But one day, when they had grown wiser,
there was no laugh when they might have laughed, as on preceding
days, there were no tears when they might have wept, and when their
alms were sought they gave no alms.

The following thought, we are told, occurred to the two youths,
“Why should we look at this? Before a hundred years have passed,
all these people will have gone hence and will no more be seen. It
behooves us rather to seek the Way of Release.” And taking this
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thought to heart, theysat down. Then Kolita said to Upatissa, “Friend
Upatissa, you do not appear to be pleased and delighted as on previous
days. Nay rather, you are afflicted with melancholy. What is in
your mind?” “Friend Kolita, I sit thinking, ‘There is no lasting
satisfaction in looking upon these folk; [90] this is all unprofitable;
it behooves me rather to seek the Way of Release for myself.” But
why are you melancholy?” Kolita said the same thing. When
Upatissa discovered that Kolita’s thoughts were one with his own, he
said, “Both of us have had a happy thought. It behooves us both to
seek the Way of Release and to retire from the world together. Under
what teacher shall we retire from the world?”

Now at this time a wandering ascetic named Safijaya entered the
city of Rajagaha, accompanied by a large retinue of wandering ascetics.
“We will retire from the world and become monks under Safijaya,”
said Upatissa and Kolita. So they dismissed five hundred retainers,
saying to them, “Take the litters and the chariots and go,” and to-
gether with the remaining five hundred, retired from the world and
became monks under Safijaya. From the day when these two youths
retired from the world and became monks under Saifijaya, Safijaya
reached the pinnacle of gain and renown. In but a few days they had
passed the bounds of Safijaya’s teaching. Therefore they asked him,
“Teacher, is this all the religious truth you know, or is there somethmg
more besides?”” “This is all there is; you know all.”

Upatissa and Kolita thought to themselves, “If this is the case, it
is profitless for us to remain pupils of this teacher any longer. The Way
of Release we retired from the world to seek for, we certainly cannot
obtain from this teacher. But the Land of the Rose-apple is an exten-
sive country. Let us journey through villages, market-towns, and
royal cities. We shall surely find some teacher who will expound to
us the Way of Release.”” From that time forth, wherever they heard
there was a learned monk or Brahman, they went to him and held
converse with him. The questions Upatissa and Kolita asked, the
others [91] were not able to answer; but every question the others
asked, Upatissa and Kolita answered. In this manner they traveled
all over the Land of the Rose-apple; then they retraced their steps
and returned to their own homes again. Before they separated,
Upatissa said to Kolita, “Friend Kolita, whichever of us first attains
the Deathless is to inform the other.”” Having made this agreement,
they separated.

While they were living under this agreement, the Teacher, after
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traveling from place to place as has been related above, arrived at
Rajagaha, accepted the gift of Veluvana monastery, and took up his
residence at Veluvana. Now after the Teacher had sent forth the
sixty-one Arahats to proclaim the virtues of the Three Jewels, saying,
“Goforth, monks, preaching and teaching,” oneof the Band of Five, the
Great Elder Assaji, turned back, came to Rajagaha, and on the follow-
ing day, early in the morning, taking his bowl and his robe, entered
Rajagaha for alms. On the same day, early in the morning, the
wandering ascetic Upatissa ate his breakfast, and proceeding to the
hermitage of the wandering ascetics, saw the Elder. When he saw
him, he thought to himself, “ Never before have I seen a monk like
this monk. He must be one of those monks who have attained Arahat-
ship in this world, or who have entered upon the path leading to
Arahatship. Suppose I were to approach this monk and ask him,
‘For whose sake, brother, have you retired from the world? And who
is your teacher? And whose doctrine do you profess?” ”” Then this
thought occurred to him, “It is not the proper time to ask this monk
questions, for he is going from house to house for alms. Suppose I
were to follow close in the footsteps of this monk, as those are wont to
do who seek some favor?”

Therefore, observing that the monk had received a portion of alms
and was on his way to a certain place, and perceiving that he desired
to sit down, [92] he placed his own monk’s stool on the ground and
offered it to him; and when the monk had finished his meal, offered
him water from his own water-pot. Having thus performed the
duties of a pupil to a teacher, he exchanged pleasant greetings with
the Elder after the meal was over and said to him, “Calm and
serene, brother, are your organs of sense; clean and clear is the
hue of your skin. For whose sake, brother, did you retire from the
world? And who is your teacher? And whose doctrine do you
profess?”’

The Elder thought to himself, “These wandering ascetics are
hostile to the religion I profess; therefore I will show this monk the
profundity of our religion.” But first he explained that he was himself
a mere novice, saying, ‘“Brother, I am as yet a mere novice; no long
time have I been a monk; but recently did I approach this Doctrine
and Discipline; just now I shall not be able to expound the Law at
length.” Thought the wandering ascetic, “I am Upatissa; say much
or little according to your ability; I will undertake to fathom the
meaning in a hundred ways or a thousand ways.” Therefore he said,
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Say little or much; tell me the substance only;
I have need of the substance only; why utter many words?

In response the Elder pronounced the first line of the Stanza,
Of all things that proceed from a cause, of these the cause the Tathidgata hath told.

So soon as the wandering ascetic heard the first line, he was estab-
lished in the Fruit of Conversion, perfect in a thousand ways. [93]
So soon as he was established in the Fruit of Conversion, the Elder
completed the second line,

And also how these cease to be, this too the mighty monk hath told.

But after he had attained the Fruit of Conversion, the Higher
Excellence failed to appear. Therefore he considered, “There must
be a reason for this,” and said to the Elder, “Do not carry your teach-
ing of the Law any further; let this suffice. Where does our Teacher
reside?”” ‘““At Veluvana, brother.” ‘Well then, Reverend Sir, you
go on ahead. I have a friend, and he and I made the following agree-
ment with each other, ‘Whichever of us first attains the Deathless is
to inform the other.” I wish first to redeem this promise. I will bring
my friend with me and go to the Teacher, following the same path you
take.” So saying, Upatissa prostrated himself before the feet of the
Elder with the Five Rests, walked thrice around him sunwise, and
then took leave of him and went to meet the leader of the wandering
ascetics.

The wandering ascetic Kolita saw him approaching from afar and
said to himself, ‘“To-day my friend’s face has a hue not as on other
days; it must be that he has attained the Deathless.” Therefore he
asked him at once whether he had attained the Deathless. Upatissa
said in reply, “Yes, brother, I have attained the Deathless.” So
saying, he pronounced the same Stanza Assaji had pronounced. At
the conclusion of the Stanza Kolita was established in the Fruit of
Conversion. Thereupon Kolita said, “Friend, where does our
Teacher reside?”” “At Veluvana, friend. So I was informed by our
teacher the Elder Assaji.”” ‘“Well then, friend, let us go; let us see
the Teacher.”

Now it was a distinguishing trait of the Elder Sariputta that he
always held a teacher in profound respect. Therefore said he to his
friend, “Friend, let us inform our teacher, the wandering ascetic
Safijaya, that we have attained the Deathless. [94] Thus will his
mind be awakened, and he will comprehend. But should he fail to
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comprehend, he will at any rate believe what we say to be true; and
so soon as he has listened to the preaching of the Buddhas, he will
attain the Path and the Fruit.” Accordingly the two.wandering
ascetics went to Safijaya. WhenSafijaya saw them, he asked, “Friends,
did you succeed in finding anyone able to show you the Way to the
Deathless?” “Yes, teacher, such a one have we found. The Buddha
has appeared in the world, the Law has appeared, the Order has
appeared. You, sir, are walking in vain unreality. Come, sir, let us
go to the Teacher.” ‘““Youmay go; I cannot go.” “For what reason?”
“In the past I have gone about as a teacher of the multitude. For me
to become a pupil again would be as absurd as for a chatty to go to
the well. I shall not be able to live the life of a pupil.”

“Do not act thus, teacher.” ‘“Never mind, friends, you may go,
but I cannot go.” “Teacher, from the moment of the Buddha’s
appearance in the world the populace will take perfumes, garlands,
and so forth in their hands and will go and do honor to him alone.
Let us also go there. What do you imtend to do?” “Friends, which
are more numerous in this world, the stupid or the wise?”’ ‘“Teacher,
the stupid are many, the wise are few.” ‘“Well then, friends, let the
wise men go to the wise monk Gotama, and let the stupid come to
stupid me. [95] You may go, but I shall not go.” “You will be-
come a famous man, teacher!” said his two former pupils, and de-
parted. As they departed, Safijaya’s congregation broke up; at that
instant the grove was empty. When Safijaya saw that the grove was
empty, he vomited hot blood. Five hundred wandering ascetics ac-
companied the two on their journey a little way. Of these, two hun-
dred and fifty remained loyal to Safijaya and turned back; the other
two hundred and fifty wandering ascetics the two received as their own
pupils and took with them to Veluvana.

As the Teacher sat in the midst of the fourfold congregation preach-
ing the Law, he saw the two wandering ascetics approaching from afar.
Straightway he addressed the monks, ‘“Monks, here come two friends,
Kolita and Upatissa. They will become my pair of disciples, my chief
and noble pair.” The two wandering ascetics paid obeisance to the
Teacher, sat down respectfully on one side, and spoke thus to the
Teacher, “Reverend Sir, we should like to receive admission to the
Order at the hands of the Exalted One; we should like to make our
full profession.” Said the Exalted One, ‘“Come, monks! The Law
has been well taught. Lead the holy life, to the end that all suffering
may be utterly done away.” Instantly they became possessed of
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bowls and robes created by supernatural power, and became as it
were Elders of a hundred years’ residence.

By the acts of the company of his disciples the Teacher caused the
preaching of the Law constantly to increase. With the exception of
- the two Chief Disciples all attained Arahatship. The two Chief
Disciples, however, did not complete the meditations leading to the
Three Higher Paths. (What was the reason for this? It was because
of the magnitude of the Perfection of Knowledge of Chief Disciples.)

Now Venerable Moggallana the Great, [96] residing near the
village Kallavala in the kingdom of Magadha, fell into sloth and torpor
on the seventh day after the day of his reception into the Order.
But aroused by the Teacher, he shook off sloth and torpor, and apply-
ing himself to the Formula of Meditation on the Elements given him
by the Tathdgata, completed the meditations leading to the Three
Higher Paths and attained the goal of the Perfection of Knowledge of
Chief Disciples.

As for the Elder Sariputta, he spent the fortnight following his
reception into the Order with the Teacher, residing at Siikarakhata
Cave near the same city Rajagaha. Having heard an exposition of the
Vedanapariggaha Suttanta by his own sister’s son, the wandering
monk Dighanakha, he applied his mind to the Sutta, and like a man
who eats rice boiled for another man, attained the goal of the Perfection
of Knowledge of Chief Disciples.

(Surely the Venerable Sariputta is a man of great intelligence.
Why, then, does he require a longer time than Moggallana the Great
to attain the goal of the Perfection of Knowledge of Chief Disciples?
Because the preliminaries are so elaborate. We must understand that
the case is analogous to that of a king, who, when he wishes to set out
on a journey, is obliged to make great preparations, such as caparison-
ing riding-elephants. On the other hand a poor man, no matter where
he may wish to go, immediately goes there without more ado.)

On the very day when Sariputta and Moggallana were received
into the Order, as the shadows of evening lengthened, the Teacher
gathered his disciples together at Veluvana, assigned the place of Chief
Disciples to the newcomers, and then recited the Patimokkha. The
monks were offended and said, “The Teacher shows favoritism in
bestowing this distinction. In bestowing the place of Chief Disciples,
he ought to give the preference to those who were the first to retire
from the world; namely, the Band of Five. If he disregard their
claims, he ought to give the preference to the Elder Yasa and his Fifty-
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four Companions. If he disregard their claims, [97] he ought to give
the preference to the Thirty Youths. If he disregard their claims, he
ought to give the preference to the Three Brothers, Uruvela-Kassapa,
Nadi-Kassapa, and Gaya-Kassapa. In rejecting the prior claims of all
these monks and giving the place of Chief Disciples to those who retired
from the world last of all, the Teacher shows favoritism.”

The Teacher asked them, “Monks, what is the subject you are
discussing?”” When they told him, he said, “Monks, I show no
favoritism in bestowing this distinction. On the contrary I bestow
on these monks and on all others that for which each has made his
Earnest Wish. For Affia-Kondafifia gave the first fruits of a certain
crop nine times, but in so doing did not make an Earnest Wish for
the place of Chief Disciple. On the contrary, in bestowing his gift,
he made the Earnest Wish that he might be the first to win the fore-
most estate of all; namely, Arahatship.” ‘“When was that, Reverend
Sir?”” “Listen, monks.” “Yes, Reverend Sir.” Thereupon the
Exalted One related the following

8 c. Story of the Past: Kila junior and Kila senior

Monks, ninety-one cycles of time in the past the Exalted Vipasst
appeared in the world. At that time two brothers, Maha Kila and
Ciila Kala, both of them householders, caused a great field to be planted
with rice. One day Cila Kala went to the rice-field, hulled a kernel
of rice, and ate it, and found it unusually sweet. Shortly afterwards
he desired to make a gift of unripe rice to the Congregation of Monks
presided over by the Buddha. So he went to his older brother and
said to him, ‘“Brother, let us have unripe rice hulled and cooked in
a manner suitable for the Buddhas, and let us bestow the same in
alms.” “What say you, brother? No one has ever yet had unripe
rice hulled and given in alms, nor is anyone likely to do such a thing
in the future; don’t spoil the crop.”

The younger brother repeated his suggestion several times. [98]
Finally the older brother said, “Very well, divide the field into two
parts. Do not touch my portion, but do whatever you like in your own
portion of the field.” “Very well,” said Ciila Kala. So he divided
the field into two parts, hired a large number of men for manual labor,
caused grains of unripe rice to be hulled, had it cooked in rich milk,
adding ghee, honey, and sugar, and presented the rice thus prepared
to the Congregation of Monks presided over by the Buddha, saying
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at the conclusion of the meal, ‘“Reverend Sir, by virtue of this my
gift of first-fruits may I be the first to win the foremost estate of all;
namely, Arahatship.” *“So be it,” said the Teacher, returning thanks.

When he went back to the field and looked at it again, he saw that
the entire field was filled with heads of growing rice, bound together,
as it were, in sheaves. At this sight he experienced the five kinds of
joy. Thought he, “I am indeed fortunate.”” When the rice was in the
ear, he gave first-fruits of rice in the ear. In association with the
residents of the village he bestowed the first-fruits of the crop. When
the rice was reaped, he gave the first-fruits of the reaping; when it was
in the sheaf, the first-fruits of the sheaves; when it was in the shock, the
first-fruits of the shocks; when it was in the rick, the first-fruits of
the ricks; when it was threshed, the first-fruits of the threshing-floor;
when it was ground, the first-fruits of the flour; when it was measured,
the first-fruits of the measuring; when it was put away in the store-
house, the first-fruits of the store. Thus he bestowed the first-fruits
of a single crop nine times. Whatever he took away was made up,
and he had a bumper harvest. Goodness keeps him who keeps it.
Therefore said the Exalted One, [99]

Righteousness truly keeps him who keeps righteousness; righteous living brings
happiness.

Herein is the advantage of living righteously, that he who walks righteously will never
go to a state of suffering.,

Thus, in the dispensation of the Supremely Enlightened Vipassi,
did Anfia-Kondafifia bestow the gift of first fruits nine times, making
the Earnest Wish to be the first to attain the foremost of all estates.
Likewise in the dispensation of the Buddha Padumuttara, a hundred
thousand cycles of time in the past, in the city Hamsavati, he gave
mighty gifts, and falling at the feet of that Exalted Buddha, made the
Earnest Wish to be the first to attain the foremost of all estates;
namely, Arahatship. Thus I bestowed on him only that for which he
made his Earnest Wish. I show no favoritism in bestowing distinction.

8 d. Story of the Past: Yasa and fifty-four companions

Reverend Sir, what work of merit did the fifty-five noble youths
led by Yasa perform? They too made an Earnest Wish for Arahat-
ship at the feet of a certain Buddha and did many works of merit.
Subsequently, but before the present Buddha had appeared in the
world, they became friends, banded themselves together for the
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performance of works of merit, and devoted themselves to the care of
the corpses of paupers. One day, seeing the dead body of a pregnant
woman, they carried the body to the cemetery for the purpose of burn-
ing it. To Yasa and four of his companions was assigned the duty of
burning the corpse; the rest returned and entered the village.

As the youth Yasa burned the body, piercing it with stakes and
turning it over and over, he grasped the thought of the Impurity of
the Body. This thought he communicated to his four companions
also, saying, ‘“‘Behold, brethren, this body. Here and there the skin
has burst open; it resembles nothing so much as the skin of a mottled
cow. It is impure, stinking, [100] repulsive.” Straightway his four
companions also grasped the thought of the Impurity of the Body. In
their turn these five companions went to the village and informed the
rest of their friends. As for Yasa, he went home and informed his
mother and father and wife, and they all developed the thought of
Impurity. This is the work of merit these youths performed in a previ-
ous state of existence. And because of this very work of merit, con-
sciousness of the Impurity of the Body arose within Yasa’s mind
in the women’s apartments. And thus, because they had acquired
the faculties requisite thereto, all of them developed Specific Attain-
" ment. Therefore these youths also obtained precisely that for which
they made their Earnest Wish. I show no favoritism in bestowing
distinction.

8 e. Story of the Past: Thirty noble youths

But, Reverend Sir, what work of merit did the thirty noble youths
perform? —— They also made an Earnest Wish for Arahatship at the
feet of previous Buddhas and performed works of merit. Subsequently,
but before the present Buddha appeared in the world, they were reborn
as thirty evildoers; but hearing the admonition addressed to Tundila,
they kept the Five Precepts for sixty thousand years. Thus these men
also obtained only that for which they made their Earnest Wish. I
show no favoritism in bestowing distinction.

8 f. Story of the Past: Three brothers Kassapa

But, Reverend Sir, what work of merit was performed by the three
brothers Kassapa: Uruvela-Kassapa, Nadi-Kassapa, and Gaya-
Kassapa? They also performed works of merit, making an Earnest
Wish to attain Arahatship. Ninety-two cycles of time in the past, two
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Buddhas appeared in the world at the same time, Tissa and Phussa}
Phussa’s father was King Mahinda. When Phussa attained Enlighten-
ment, the king’s youngest son became his Chief Disciple, and the son
of the house-priest became his Second Disciple. The king went to
the Teacher and said, “My oldest son is the Buddha, my youngest
son is Chief Disciple, and the son of my house-priest is Second Dis-
ciple.” And looking upon the three, he said, “My very own is the
.Buddha, my very own is the Law, my very own is the Order.” And
thrice he breathed forth the Solemn Utterance, ““Praise be unto Him
that is Highly Exalted, All-Worthy, Supremely Enlightened.”” Then
he prostrated himself before the feet of the Teacher and said, [101]
“Reverend Sir, now, at the end of a life lasting ninety thousand years,
it is time, as it were, for me to sit down and close my eyes in slumber.
So long as I live, go not to the door of others’ houses, but receive the
Four Requisites from me alone.” Having thus obtained the Teacher’s
consent, the king thereafter mmistered to him regularly.

Now the king had three other sons besides, the eldest of whom had
a retinue of five hundred soldiers, the middlemost three, and the young-
est two. One day they sought permission of their father to entertain
their brother, the Buddha Phussa, but failed to obtain it. This hap-
pened many times. Shortly afterwards an insurrection broke out on
the frontier, and they were.sent to suppress it. Succeeding in restoring
order on the frontier, they returned to their father. Their father
embraced them, kissed their heads, and said to them, “Dear sons, I
grant you whatever you desire.” ‘““Very well, your majesty,” said
they, accepting his offer. When, after a few days, their father again
said, “Dear sons, I grant you whatever you desire,” they replied,
“Your majesty, we desire naught else but only this, that henceforth
we may entertain our brother; grant us this boon.” “I will not grant
you this boon, dear sons.” “If you are unwilling to grant us this
privilege permanently, then grant it to us for seven years.” ‘“That
will I not, dear sons.” “Well then, grant us the privilege for six
years, or five, or four, or three, or two years, or for one year; or for
seven months, or six, or five, or four, or three, or two months, or for
one month.” “That will I not, dear sons.” ‘‘Well then, your majesty,
make it one month for each of us; grant us this privilege for three
months in all.” ‘“Very well, dear sons; then entertain your brother
for three months.”

Now all three brothers had a single treasurer and a single steward,
the latter of whom had a retinue of twelve nahutas of serving-men.
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The three brothers summoned the treasurer and the steward [102]
and said to them, ‘“During the coming three months we shall take
upon ourselves the Ten Precepts, put on yellow robes, and reside with
the Teacher. In our absence it will be your duty to administer the
alms; every day you are to provide all the food, both hard and soft,
for ninety thousand monks and a thousand soldiers. From henceforth
we shall have nothing at all to say.” So the three brothers took their
retinue of a thousand men, took upon themselves the Ten Precepts,
put on yellow robes, and began residence in the monastery.

The treasurer and the steward joined forces and performed the
duty of almsgiving by turns, taking provisions from the storehouses
of the three brothers and bestowing them in alms. But when the
children of the serving-men cried for rice-porridge and other kinds of
food, the treasurer and the steward would give them what they cried
for, even before the Congregation of Monks arrived. The result was
that the Congregation of Monks received only what was left over at
the end of a meal, and not a fresh supply of food at all. Finally the
treasurer and the steward became so greedy that they would take
food, and pretending that they were going to give it to the children,
eat it themselves. The mere sight of the pleasing food they were
unable to resist. They and their associates numbered eighty-four
thousand men. Because they ate food which it was their duty to give
to the Congregation of Monks, when they died and their bodies were
dissolved, they were reborn in the World of Ghosts.

When the three brothers and their thousand men died, they were
reborn in the World of the Gods and. spent ninety-two cycles of time
in passing from one celestial world to another. Thus did those three
brothers perform works of merit at that time, making the Earnest
Wish to attain Arahatship. What they received was only that for
which they made their Earnest Wish. I show no favoritism in giving
what I give. (Now at that time [103] their steward was Bimbiséara,
their treasurer was the lay disciple Visdakha, and the three royal princes
were the three ascetics of the matted locks.)

Their serving-men, reborn at that time among the ghosts, after
passing from one state of existence to another, both good and evil,
were reborn in this present world-cycle in the World of the Ghosts for
the space of four Buddha-intervals. In this present world-cycle they
approached first of all the Exalted Kakusandha, whose term of life
was forty thousand years, and asked him, “Tell us when we shall
obtain something to eat.”” He replied, “You will receive nothing to
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eat in my time; but after me the great earth will be elevated a league,
and the Buddha Kondgamana will appear; you had best ask him.”
They waited all that time, and when the Buddha Konigamana
appeared, asked him. He replied, “You will receive nothing to eat
in my time; but after me the great earth will be elevated a league, and
the Buddha Kassapa will appear; you had best ask him.” They waited
all that time, and when the Buddha Kassapa appeared, asked him.
He replied, “You will receive nothing to eat imn my time; but after me
the great earth will be elevated a league, and the Buddha Gotama will
appear. At that time your kinsman Bimbisara will be king; he will
give alms to the Teacher and will make over to you the merit acquired
by that act; at that time you will receive something to eat.”

The length of the period intervening between two Buddhas was to
them as the morrow. When the Tathagata appeared in the world and
King Bimbisdara gave alms on the first day and they failed to receive
the fruit thereof, they waited until it was night, and then made a
fearful noise and showed themselves to the king. When the king went
to Veluvana on the following day, [104] he related the incident to the
Tathagata. Said the Teacher, “Great king, ninety-two cycles of time
in the past, in the dispensation of the Buddha Phussa, these ghosts
were kinsmen of yours. They ate food which it was their duty to give
to the Congregation of Monks, and because of this were reborn in the
World of Ghosts. Passing through the round of existences, they
asked the Buddhas Kakusandha, Kondgamana, and Kassapa when
they should obtain food, and the Buddhas told them this and that.
All this time they desired greatly to receive your alms; and the reason
why they acted as they did last night was that, when you gave alms,
they failed to receive the fruit thereof.” ‘““But, Reverend Sir, in case
I were to give alms now, would they receive the fruit thereof?” ‘Yes,
great king.”

On the following day the king invited the Congregation of Monks
presided over by the Buddha, bestowed abundant offerings, and said,
“Reverend Sir, henceforth may celestial food and drink be the portion
of these ghosts.” And when he had thus transferred to the ghosts the
merit of his offering, they received celestial food and drink. On the
following day the ghosts made their appearance naked. Said the king
to the Buddha, “To-day, Reverend Sir, these ghosts made their
appearance naked,” and asked him what he should do. Said the
Teacher, “Great king, you did not give them clothes.” So on the
following day the king presented robes to the Congregation of Monks
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presided over by the Buddha, saying, ‘“Henceforth may they possess
celestial raiment.”” And when he had thus made over to them the
merit of his offering, instantly they became possessed of celestial rai-
ment, whereupon they put off their ghostly forms and took on the
forms of celestial beings. When the Teacher returned thanks, he
said, “ Without the walls they stand,” reciting the extra-mural formula.
At the conclusion of his words of thanksgiving eighty-four thousand
living beings obtained Comprehension of the Law. Thus did the
Teacher expound the Law, relating the story of the three brothers of
the matted locks.

8 g. Story of the Past: Sarada and Sirivaddha

But, Reverend Sir, what work of merit did the Chief Disciples
perform? They made their Earnest Wish to attain the station of
Chief Disciples. For an Incalculable of cycles of time and a hundred
thousand cycles of time additional in the past, Sariputta was reborn
in the family of a Brahman of great wealth, and his name was Prince
Sarada. Moggallina [105] was reborn in the family of a householder
of great wealth, and his name was Householder Sirivaddha. The
two youths were friends from the time when they played in the dirt
. together.

Prince Sarada came into a large family-inheritance on the death of
his father. One day, when he was alone by himself, he thought, “I
have certain knowledge of the life of this world only; I know nothing
of the life of the world beyond. All they that are born are certain to
die. I ought to retire from the world, enter some Order, and seek
the Way of Release.”” Therefore he approached his friend and said,
“Friend Sirivaddha, it is my intention to retire from the world and
seek the Way of Release. Can you, or can you not, retire from the
world with me?”’ “Friend, I cannot retire from the world; you alone
retire from the world.” Prince Sarada thought to himself, “No one
ever yet went to the world beyond with companions or kinsmen or
friends. What one does, he must do by himself.”

Accordingly he threw open the doors of his treasure-house and
bestowed abundant alms on paupers and travelers and beggars. Hav-
ing so done, he retired to the foot of a certain mountain and adopted
the life of an anchorite. First one, then two, then three, then many
others followed his example in adopting the monastic life. Finally
there were seventy-four thousand ascetics with matted locks. Sarada
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acquired the Five Supernatural Faculties and the Eight Higher Attain-
ments, and taught those ascetics of the matted locks the processes
necessary to the practice of Ecstatic Meditation. All of them acquired
the Five Supernatural Faculties and the Eight Higher Attainments.

At this time the Buddha Anomadassi appeared in the world. His
city was Candavati. His father was Yasavanta, of the Warrior
caste, and his mother was Lady Yasodhara. His Bo-tree was the
ajjuna-tree. Nisabha and Anoma were his Chief Disciples, Varuna
was his supporter, and Sundara and Sumana were his principal female
lay disciples. His term of life was a hundred thousand years, his
stature [106] was fifty-eight cubits, and the radiance from his body
flashed twelve leagues. He had a retinue of a hundred thousand monks.
One day at dawn, arising from a Trance of Great Compassion, he
surveyed the world and beheld the ascetic Sarada. Thereupon he
became aware of the following, “To-day, through my approaching
the ascetic Sarada, there will be mighty preaching of the Law. Sarada
will make his Wish for the place of Chief Disciple, and his friend,
Householder Sirivaddha, will make his Wish for the place of Second
Disciple. At the conclusion of the discourse the seventy-four thousand
ascetics with matted locks who compose his retinue will attain Arahat-
ship. Therefore it behooves me to go there.” Accordingly, taking his
own bowl and robe, saying not a word to anyone else, proceeding in
solitude like a lion, he commanded, ““Let Sarada know that I am the
Buddha.” And while the ascetic Sarada’s pupils were absent seeking
various kinds of fruits, he descended from the sky and alighted on the
earth before Sarada’s very eyes.

When the ascetic Sarada beheld the supernatural power of the
Buddha and the perfection of form of the Buddha, he pondered in his
mind the memorial verses relating to the characteristics of a great man.
And he said to himself, “One endowed with these marks, if he lives
the house-life, is a King, a Universal Monarch. Living the life of
retirement, he is one who has rolled back the veil of passion, an Om-
niscient Buddha. This man is without doubt a Buddha.” Therefore
he advanced to meet him, paid obeisance to him with the Five Rests,
prepared a seat and offered it to him. The Exalted One seated
himself in the seat prepared for him, and the ascetic Sarada, selecting
a seat appropriate to himself, sat down respectfully on one side.

At that moment the seventy-four thousand ascetics of the matted
locks, who had been absent gathering various kinds of sweet and juicy
fruits, returned to their teacher. Seeing the Buddha seated and their
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own teacher seated near him, they said, [107] “Teacher, we used to
go about this world thinking to ourselves, ‘There is no one greater
than you.” But as for this man, we are certain that he is greater than
you.” “Friends, what say you? Do you mean to compare a grain
of mustard seed to Mount Sineru, sixty-eight thousand leagues high?
Little sons, do not compare me to an Omniscient Buddha.” Then
those ascetics thought to themselves, ‘“Were this an insignificant man,
our teacher would not use such a comparison as this. How great indeed
must this man be!” And forthwith they fell before his feet and
prostrated themselves before him.

Then their teacher said to them, ““Friends, we have here no offering
suitable to present to the Buddhas, and the Teacher has come here at
a time when we usually go the rounds for alms; let us give him gifts
according to our ability. Fetch hither all manner of fruits that are
choicest.” And having thus caused them to fetch fruits, he washed his
hands and himself placed the fruits in the bowl of the Tathagata.
The moment the Teacher touched the fruits which were brought, the
deities imparted a celestial flavor to them. The ascetic Sarada also
himself filtered water and presented it to the Teacher. After the meal
was over, while the Teacher still remained seated, Sarada summoned
all of his pupils, and sitting down, discoursed pleasantly with the
Teacher.

Thought the Teacher to himself, “Let the two Chief Disciples
approach, together with the Congregation of Monks.” Straightway
those two ascetics with their retinue of a hundred thousand Arahats
approached, paid obeisance to the Teacher, and sat down respectfully
on one side. Then the ascetic Sarada [108] addressed his pupils as
follows, ““Friends, the seat wherein sit the Buddhas is low, and there
is no seat for the hundred thousand monks. To-day you should render
high honor to the Buddha. Fetch from the foot of the mountain flowers
possessing bright colors and sweet perfumes.”

There is a saying, ‘““Time occupied in talk is wasted; inconceivable
is the range of magical power possessed by one endowed with super-
natural power;” and so it was in this case. In but an instant those
ascetics brought back flowers possessing bright colors and sweet per-
fumes and arranged a cushion of flowers a league long for the Buddhas.
Then they arranged a cushion of flowers three gavutas long for the
two Chief Disciples. The cushions for the rest of the monks were half
a league long or less; those for the novices were an usabha long. It
is not permissible to ask the question, “How could seats of such great
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size be arranged in this hermitage?”” This was made possible by the
power of magic. When the seats had thus been made ready, the
ascetic Sarada took his stand before the Tathigata, and raising his
clasped hands in an attitude of reverent salutation, said, “Reverend
Sir, ascend this bed of flowers to my everlasting welfare and salvation.”
Therefore it is said,

He gathered together various flowers and perfumes,
Prepared a bed of flowers, and spoke these words,

“Here, mighty hero, have I prepared a seat suitable for you.
Sit down on this bed of flowers, and render my heart tranquil.

“For seven nights and days the Buddha sat upon my bed of flowers,
Rendering my heart tranquil, gladdening the world of men and the Worlds of the
Gods.”

While the Teacher sat thus, the two Chief Disciples with the rest of
the monks [109] sat each in the seat which had been prepared for
him. The ascetic Sarada, taking a great flower-parasol, held it over the
head of the Tathégata. Said the Teacher, “May this honor rendered
to me by the ascetics of the matted locks yield rich fruit.” And
straightway he entered into a state of trance, attaining the Attainment
of Cessation. Observing that the Teacher had attained the Attain-
ment of Cessation, the two Chief Disciples likewise entered into a state
of trance and attained the Attainment of Cessation. For seven days
the Teacher sat there, enjoying the bliss of the Attainment of Cessation.
When it was time to seek food, Sarada’s pupils went into the forest
and ate wild fruits and other varieties of fruits. The rest of the time
they stood holding out their hands in an attitude of reverent salutation
before the Buddhas. The ascetic Sarada, however, went not to seek
food, but for seven days continuously held the flower-parasol over the
Buddha, experiencing thereby intense joy and pleasure.

When the Teacher arose from trance, he said to his Chief Disciple
the Elder Nisabha, who sat on his right hand, ““Nisabha, return thanks
to the ascetics who have honored us with flowers and seats.” There-
upon the Elder, like a mighty warrior who has just received high
distinction at the hands of a Universal Monarch, his heart filled with
joy, manifesting the Perfection of Knowledge capable of attainment
by a disciple, began the address of thanksgiving for the flowers and
seats. At the end of the discourse the Buddha addressed the Second
Disciple as follows, “Do you also preach the Law to the monks.”
Thereupon the Elder Anoma, pondering the Tipitaka, the Word of
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the Buddhas, preached the Law. But although the two Chief Disciples
preached the Law, not a single monk present attained Comprehension
of the Law. Then the Teacher, manifesting the infinite power of a
Buddha, began to preach the Law, with the result that at the con-
clusion of his discourse all seventy-four thousand ascetics of the matted
locks attained Arahatship, with the sole exception of the ascetic Sarada.
Then the Teacher stretched forth his hand and said to them, “Come,
monks!” Instantly their hair and beard disappeared, and the Eight
Requisites were attached to their persons.

Do you ask, ‘“Why did not the ascetic Sarada attain Arahatship?”
It was because his mind was distracted. We are told that when he
seated himself in the seat of the Second Disciple of the Buddhas, [110]
and the Chief Disciple, manifesting the Perfection of Knowledge of a
disciple, preached the Law, at the very moment when he began to
listen to the preaching of the Law by the Chief Disciple, the following
thought arose in his mind, “Oh that at some time in the future, in the
dispensation of a Buddha who shall arise hereafter, I might receive
the burden which this disciple has received! Because of this thought,
we are told, he was unable to attain the Path and the Fruit.

Sarada, however, paid obeisance to the Tathagata, and standing
face to face with him, said, “Reverend Sir, what is the title in your
Religion borne by the monk who sits in the seat next to you?” “He
it is that follows me in setting in motion the Wheel of the Law which
I have set in motion; he it is that has reached the pinnacle of the
Perfection of Knowledge capable of attainment by a disciple; he it
is that has grasped the Sixteen Forms of Knowledge; he it is that is
therefore called in my Religion Chief Disciple.” ‘“Reverend Sir, here
for seven days have I stood holding the flower-parasol over you, thereby
rendering honor to you. As the fruit of this work of merit, I do not
wish for a second existence as Sakka or Brahmé. But at some time in
the future may I become the Chief Disciple of a certain Buddha, even
as is this present Elder Nisabha.”

When Sarada had made this Earnest Wish, the Teacher considered
within himself, “ Will the Wish of this man be fulfilled?”” Therefore he
sent forth his perception into the future, and surveying the ages of the
future, he passed before his mind a period of incalculable length and
a hundred thousand cycles of time in addition; whereupon he saw that
his Wish would be fulfilled. So when the Teacher saw that his Wish
would be fulfilled, he said to the ascetic Sarada, “This Earnest Wish
of yours will not be in vain. For at the end of a period of incalculable
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length and a hundred thousand cycles of time in addition, Gotama
Buddha will appear in the world. His mother will be Lady Maha
Maya, his father will be King Suddhodana, his son will be Rahula,
his servitor will be Ananda, and his Second Disciple will be Moggallana.
And you will be his Chief Disciple, the Captain of the Faith, and your
name will be Sariputta.” [111]

When the Teacher had thus: predicted the future of the ascetic, he
preached the Law, and then, surrounded by his company of monks,
flew up into the air and departed. The ascetic Sarada sought out the
pupils and elders and sent the following message to his friend, House-
holder Sirivaddha, ‘“Reverend Sirs, say to my friend, ‘Your friend the
ascetic Sarada fell down before the feet of the Buddha Anomadassi
and made his Earnest Wish for the place of Chief Disciple under the
dispensation of the Buddha Gotama, who shall hereafter arise in the
world. Do you make your Earnest Wish for the place of Second
Disciple.” ” And when he had thus spoken, he preceded the Elders
by a different route and went and stood at the door of Sirivaddha’s
residence.

When Sirivaddha saw him he said, “At last, after a long absence,
my noble friend has returned.” And straightway he seated his friend
in a seat, and having seated himself in a lower seat, asked him, “But,
Reverend Sir, have you no pupils and attendants?”” ““Yes, my friend,
the Buddha Anomadassi came to our hermitage, and we did him honor
to the extent of our power. The Teacher preached the Law to all,
and at the conclusion of his discourse all the members of our commu-
nity excepting me attained Arahatship and entered the Order. When
I saw the Chief Disciple of the Teacher, the Elder Nisabha, I made my
Earnest Wish for the place of Chief Disciple under the dispensation
of the Buddha Gotama, who shall hereafter arise in the world. Do
you also make your Earnest Wish for the place of Second Disciple under
his dispensation.” ‘“But, Reverend Sir, I am not on terms of familiar
acquaintance with the Buddhas.” “I will assume the burden of talking
with the Buddhas; you prepare a Great Resolve.”

When Sirivaddha heard his words, he adorned a space eight karisas
in extent before the door of his residence with the respect due to a
king, sprinkled sand, [112] scattered flowers of five kinds, including
laja flowers, caused a pavilion to be erected with a thatch of blue
lotuses, caused the Seat of the Buddha to be made ready, and seats
for the monks also to be prepared. And having caused abundant
offerings and gifts to be prepared, he directed the ascetic Sarada to
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invite the Buddhas. So the ascetic Sarada took the Congregation of
Monks presided over by the Buddha and went with them to Sarada’s
residence. Sarada advanced to meet them, took the bowl from the
hand of the Tathégata, conducted them into the pavilion, seated the
Congregation of Monks on the seats prepared for them, offered them
Water of Donation, and provided them with the choicest food.

At the conclusion of the meal, having clothed the Congregation of
Monks with robes of great price, he said to the Teacher, “Reverend
Sir, it was for the purpose of gaining no mean place that this entertain-
ment was undertaken. Show your gracious compassion by remaining
here in this manner for a period of seven days.” The Teacher con-
descended to remain. For seven days Sirivaddha bestowed abundant
offerings in this manner. At the end of his almsgiving he paid obeisance
to the Teacher, and standing before him with hands clasped in an
attitude of reverent salutation, said, “Reverend Sir, my friend the
ascetic Sarada made his Earnest Wish to become Chief Disciple of a
certain Teacher. May I also become the Second Disciple of that
same Teacher.”

The Teacher looked into the future, and beholding the fulfillment
of his Earnest Wish, made the following prophecy, “At the end of a
period of incalculable length and a hundred thousand cycles of time
in addition, you will become the Second Disciple of Gotama Buddha.”
Hearing this prophecy of the Buddhas, Sirivaddha was filled with joy
and satisfaction. The Teacher returned thanks for the offering of
food, and then, surrounded by the company of monks, returned to the
monastery. This, monks, was the Earnest Wish made by my sons at
that time. They have received precisely that for which they made their
Earnest Wish. When I give, I give without respect of persons. End
of Stories of the Past. [113]
~ When the Teacher had thus spoken, the two Chief Disciples paid
obeisance to the Exalted One and said, ‘“Reverend Sir, when we were
yet householders, we went to see the festivities of Mountain-top;”
and then told the entire story of the events which had recently taken
place, to their attainment of the Fruit of Conversion at the hands
of the Elder Assaji. Then they said, “Reverend Sir, we went to our
teacher, desiring to lead him to your feet, and pointed out to him the
shallowness of his own views, and dwelt upon the advantages of his
coming here. But he said to us, ‘For me to try to live the life of a
pupil now would be as absurd as for a chatty to go to the well.
I shall not be able to live the life of a pupil.” We replied, ‘Teacher,
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the populace will now take perfumes, garlands, and so forth in their
hands, and will go to do honor to the Teacher alone. What do you
intend to do?’ Said he, ‘Which are the more numerous in this world,
the stupid or the wise?” We replied, ‘Teacher, the stupid are many;
the wise are few.” ‘Well then,’ said he, ‘let the wise men go to the wise
monk Gotama, and let the stupid come to stupid me. As for you, go
where you like.” With these words, Reverend Sir, did he refuse to
come hither.”

When the Teacher heard this, he said, ‘““Monks, by reason of the
false views which he holds, Safijaya has mistaken falsehood for truth
and truth for falsehood. But you, by reason of your own wisdom,
have rightly discerned that which is true in its truth and that which
is false in its falsity, and you have done wisely to reject that which is
false and accept that which is true.”” So saying, he pronounced the
following Stanzas,

11. They who think to find the truth in falsehood, they who discern but falsehood m

the truth,
They never attain the goal of truth, but abide in the pasture-ground of error. [114]

12. They who have rightly discerned the true in its truth and the false in its falsity,
They attain the goal of truth and abide in the pasture-ground of right thinking,

I.9. NANDA THE ELDER!

Even as rain breaks through an ill-thatched house. This religious

instruction was given by the Teacher while he was in residence at
Jetavana with reference to Venerable Nanda. [115]

9 a. Nanda becomes a monk in spite of himself

For after the Teacher had set in motion the glorious Wheel of the
Law, he retired to Rajagaha and took up his residence at Veluvana.
Thereupon his father, the great king Suddhodana, sent ten ambassa-
dors to him, one after the other, each with a retinue of a thousand
men, saying to them, ‘“Fetch my son hither and show him to me

1 9 a follows Nidanakathd, Jataka, i. 852924, frequently word for word. 9 b is
almost word for word the same as Uddna, iii. 2: 21*—-24!3, Parallel to 9 b is Jadtaka
182: ii. 92-94. 9 c is entirely different from the Story of the Past in Jataka 182. Cf.
also Hardy, Manual of Buddhism, pp. 208-212; Chavannes, Cing cents Contes et
Apologues, 409: iii. 87-94; Thera-Gatha Commentary, cxxxix; Afnguttara Commentary
on Etadagga Vagga, Story of Nanda; and Winternitz, History of Buddhist Literature,
p. 207.
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before my face.” After nine ambassadors had gone thither, attained

Arahatship, and failed to return, Elder Kala Udayi went thither

and attained Arahatship. And knowing that it was the proper time
for the Teacher to go, he described the beauties of the journey and

conducted the Teacher with his retinue of twenty thousand Arahats

to Kapilapura. And there, in the company of his kinsfolk, the Teacher,
taking a shower of rain for his text, related the Vessantara Jataka.l

On the following day he entered the city for alms. By the recitation

of the Stanza, “A man should exert himself and should not live the

life of Heedlessness,”? he established his father in the Fruit of Con-

version; and by the recitation of the Stanza, “A man should live

righteously,”’? he established Maha Pajapati in the Fruit of Conver-

sion and his father in the Fruit of the Second Path. And at the end

of the meal, with reference to the praise bestowed on him by the Mother

of Rahula, he related the Canda Kinnara Jataka.

On the following day, while the ceremonies of Prince Nanda’s
sprinkling, house-warming, and marriage were in progress, the Teacher
entered the house for alms, placed his bowl in Prince Nanda’s hands,
and wished him good luck. Then, rising from his seat, he departed
without taking his bowl from the hands of the Prince. Out of rever-
ence for the Tathigata, Prince Nanda did not dare say, “Reverend
Sir, receive your bowl,” but thought within himself, “He will take
his bowl at the head of the stairs.” But even when the Teacher
reached the head of the stairs, he did not take his bowl. Thought
Nanda, “He will take his bowl at the foot of the stairs.” But the
Teacher did not take his bowl even there. [116] Thought Nanda,
“He will take his bowl in the palace court.” But the Teacher did not
take his bowl even there. Prince Nanda desired greatly to return to
his bride, and followed the Teacher much against his own will. But
so great was his reverence for the Teacher that he did not dare say,
“Receive your bowl,” but continued to follow the Teacher, thinking
to himself, “He will take his bowl here! he will take his bowl there!
he will take his bowl there!”

At that moment they brought word to his bride Belle-of-the-
Country, Janapada-Kalyani, “My lady, the Exalted One has taken
Prince Nanda away with him; it is his purpose to deprive you of him.”
Thereupon Janapada-Kalyani, with tears streaming down her face
and hair half-combed, ran after Prince Nanda as fast as she could

1 Jataka 547: vi. 479-598. Cf. Story xiii. 2. ? Dhammapada, 168.
3 Dhammapada, 169. 4 Jataka 485: iv. 282-288.



-N.1.11714] Nanda the Elder 219

”

and said to him, “Noble sir, please return immediately.”” Her words
caused a quaver in Nanda’s heart; but the Teacher, without so much
as taking his bowl, led him to the monastery and said to him, “Nanda,
would you like to become a monk?”’ So great was Prince Nanda’s
reverence for the Buddha that he refrained from saying, “I do not
wish to become a monk,” and said instead, “Yes, I should like to
become a monk.” Said the Teacher, “Well then, make a monk of
Nanda.” Thus it happened that on the third day after the Teacher’s
arrival at Kapilapura he caused Nanda to be made a monk.

On the seventh day the Mother of Rihula adorned Prince Rahula
and sent him to the Exalted One, saying, ‘“Dear son, go look upon this
monk, possessed of a retinue of twenty thousand monks, possessed of
a body of the hue of gold, possessed of the beauty of form of Maha
Brahma. This monk is your father. To him once belonged great stores
of treasure. From the time of his Great Retirement we have not seen
him. Ask him for this your inheritance, saying, ‘Dear father, I am a
royal prince, and so soon as I shall receive the ceremonial sprinkling,
I shall become a Universal Monarch. I have need of wealth; bestow
wealth upon me; for to a son belongs the wealth which formerly
belonged to his father.” ”

Accordingly Prince Rahula went to the Exalted One. The moment
he saw him he conceived a warm affection for his father, and his heart
rejoiced within him. And he said, ‘““Monk, pleasant is your shadow,”
[117] and said much else befitting his own station. When the Exalted
One had finished his meal, he pronounced the words of thanksgiving,
arose from his seat, and departed. Prince Rahula followed in the foot-
steps of the Exalted One, saying, “Monk, give me my inheritance;
monk, give me my inheritance.” The Exalted One did not repel the
Prince; even the attendants were unable to prevent the Prince from
accompanying the Exalted One. In this manner the Prince accom-
panied the Exalted One to the Grove. Then the thought occurred
to the Exalted One, “The paternal inheritance which this youth seeks
inevitably brings destruction in its train. Behold, I will bestow upon
him the Sevenfold Noble Inheritance which I received at the foot of the
Bo-tree; I will make him master of an inheritance which transcends
the world.”

Therefore the Exalted One addressed Venerable Sariputta, “Well
then, Sariputta, make a monk of Prince Rahula.”” When, however,
Prince Rahula had been received into the Order, the king his grand-
father was afflicted with great sorrow. Unable to endure his sorrow,
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he made known his sorrow to the Exalted One and made the following
request of him, “It were well, Reverend Sir, did the noble monks not
receive into the Order any youth without the permission of his mother
and father.” The Exalted One granted him this request. Again one
day, as the Exalted One sat in the royal palace after breakfast, the
king, sitting respectfully at one side, said to the Exalted One, “Rever-
end Sir, while you were practicing your austerities, a certain deity
approached me and said to me, ‘Your son is dead.” But I refused to
believe him and replied, ‘ My son will not die until he attains Enlighten-
ment.””’ Said the Exalted One, “Now will you believe? In a previous
existence also, when a deity showed you bones and said to you, ‘Your
son is dead,” you refused to believe.” And with reference to this
incident he related the Mahd Dhammapala Jataka.! At the con-
clusion of the story the king was established in the Fruit of the Third
Path.

9b. Nanda and the celestial nymphs

When the Exalted One had thus established his father in the Three
Fruits, [118] he returned once more to Rajagaha, accompanied by the
Congregation of Monks. Now he had promised Anathapindika to
visit Savatthi, so soon as the great monastery of Jetavana should be
completed, and receiving word shortly afterwards that the monastery
had been completed, he went to Jetavana and took up his residence
there. While the Teacher was thus residing at Jetavana, Venerable
Nanda, becoming discontented, told his troubles to the monks, saying,
“Brethren, I am dissatisfied. I am now living the Religious Life, but
I cannot endure to live the Religious Life any longer. I intend to
abandon the higher precepts and to return to the lower life, the life of
a layman.”

The Exalted One, hearing of this incident, sent for Venerable Nanda
and said this to him, “Nanda, is the report true that you spoke as
follows to a large company of monks, ‘Brethren, I am dissatisfied; I am
now living the Religious Life, but I cannot endure to live the Religious
Life any longer; I intend to abandon the higher precepts and to return
to the lower life, the life of a layman’?” “It is quite true, Reverend
Sir.” ‘““But, Nanda, why are you dissatisfied with the Religious Life
you are now living? Why cannot you endure to live the Religious Life
any longer? Why do you intend to abandon the higher precepts and

1 Jataka 447: iv. 50-55.
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to return to the lower life, the life of a layman?”’ ‘“Reverend Sir,
when I left my house, my noble wife Janapada-Kalyani, with hair
half-combed, took leave of me, saying, ‘Noble sir, please return
immediately.” Reverend Sir, it is because I keep remembering her
that I am dissatisfied with the religious life I am now living; that I
cannot endure to live the religious life any longer; that I intend to
abandon the higher precepts and to return to the lower life, the life of
a layman.”

Then the Exalted One took Venerable Nanda by the arm, and by
the power of his magic conducted him to the World of the Thirty-three.
On the way the Exalted One pointed out to Venerable Nanda in a
certain burnt field, seated on a burnt stump, a greedy monkey which
had lost her ears and nose and tail in a fire. When they reached the
World of the Thirty-three, he pointed out five hundred pink-footed
celestial nymphs who came to wait upon Sakka, king of the gods.
[119] And when the Exalted One had shown Venerable Nanda these
two sights, he asked him this question, ‘“Nanda, which do you regard
as being the more beautiful and fair to look upon and handsome,
your noble wife Janapada-Kalyani or these five hundred pink-footed
celestial nymphs?”’

“Reverend Sir,” replied Nanda, “as far inferior as this greedy
monkey which has lost her ears and nose and tail is to Janapada-
Kalyani, even so far inferior, Reverend Sir, is iny noble wife Janapada-
Kalyani to these five hundred pink-footed celestial nymphs. In com-
parison with these nymphs my noble wife does not come into the
count; she does not come within a fraction of thein, she does not come
within a fraction of a fraction of them; on the contrary, these five
hundred pink-footed celestial nymphs are infinitely more beautiful and
fair to look upon and handsome.”

“Cheer up, Nanda!” replied the Exalted One. “I guarantee that
you will win these five hundred pink-footed celestial nymphs.” Said
Venerable Nanda, “If, Reverend Sir, the Exalted Oue guarantees that
I shall win these five hundred pink-footed celestial nymphs, in that
case, Reverend Sir, I shall take the greatest pleasure in living the
exalted life of a religious.”” Then the Exalted One, taking Venerable
Nanda with him, disappeared from the World of the Thirty-three and
reappeared at Jetavana. Now it was not long before the monks heard
the following report, “It appears that it is in the hope of winning
celestial nymphs that Venerable Nanda, brother of the Exalted One,
son of his mother’s sister, is living the religious life; it appears that
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the Exalted One has guaranteed that he shall win five hundred pink-
footed celestial nymphs.” '

As a result Venerable Nanda’s fellow-monks treated him as a
hireling and as one bought with a price. And they addressed him
accordingly, saying, ‘It appears that Venerable Nanda is a hireling;
it appears that Venerable Nanda is one bought with a price. It appears
that it is in the hope of winning celestial nymphs that he is living the
religious life; it appears that the Exalted One has guaranteed that
he shall win five hundred pink-footed celestial nymphs.”

Now Venerable Nanda, [120] although his fellow-monks despised
him, were ashamed of him, and tormented him by calling him “hire-
ling” and “bought with a price,” nevertheless, living in solitude,
withdrawn from the world, heedful, ardent, resolute, in no long time,
even in this life, himself abode in the knowledge, realization, and
attaininent of that supreme goal of the religious life for the sake of
which goodly youths retire once and for all from the house-life to the
houseless life. This did he know: ‘““Birth is at an end, lived is the holy
life, duty is done: I am no more for this world.” And there was yet
another Venerable Elder numbered among the Arahats.

Now a certain deity came by night to the Teacher, illuminating
the whole Jetavana; and bowing to the Teacher, thus addressed him,
“Reverend Sir, Venerable Nanda, son of the sister of the mother of
the Exalted One, by extinction of the Depravities, even in this life,
himself abides in the knowledge, realization, and attainment of
freedom from the Depravities, emancipation of the heart, emancipation
of the intellect. And there arose within the Exalted One also knowl-
edge of the following, “By extinction of the Depravities, Nanda, even
in this life, himself abides in the knowledge, realization, and attainment
of freedom from the Depravities, emancipation of the heart, emancipa-
tion of the intellect.”

In the course of the same night Venerable Nanda also approached
the Exalted One, bowed to him, and spoke as follows, ‘“Reverend Sir,
I release the Exalted One from the promise which he made when he,
the Exalted One, guaranteed that I should win five hundred pink-
footed celestial nymphs.” The Exalted One replied, “Nanda, I myself
grasped your mind with my own mind and saw, ‘By extinction of the
Depravities, Nanda, [121] even in this life, himself abides in the
knowledge, realization, and attainment of freedom from the De-
pravities, emancipation of the heart, emancipation of the intellect.’
Likewise a deity informed me of the fact, saying, ‘By extinction of
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the Depravities, Nanda, even in this life, himself abides in the knowl-
edge, realization, and attainment of freedom from the Depravities,
emancipation of the heart, emancipation of the intellect.” When,
therefore, Nanda, you ceased to cling to the things of the world, and
your heart was released from the Depravities, at that moment I was
released from that promise.” Then the Exalted One, knowing the
true inwardness of this matter, breathed forth the following Solemn
Utterance,

He that has crossed over the mud and crushed the thorn of lust,
He that has destroyed delusion, such a man is unmoved, whether
in pleasure or in pain.

Now one day the monks approached Venerable Nanda and asked
him, “Brother Nanda, aforetime you said, ‘I am dissatisfied.” Do
you say the same thing now?” “Brethren, I am in no wise inclined
to the life of a layman.” When the monks heard his answer, they said,
““Venerable Nanda says that which is not true, utters falsehood. On
former days he used to say, ‘I am dissatisfied,” but now says, ‘I am in
no wise inclined to the life of a layman.” And forthwith they went and
reported the matter to the Exalted Oue. The Exalted One replied,
““Monks, in former days Nanda’s personality was like an ill-thatched
house, but now it has come to be like a well-thatched house. From the
day he saw the celestial nymphs, he has striven to reach the goal of a
monk’s labors, [122] and now he has reached it.” So saying, he
pronounced the following Stanzas,

13. Even as rain breaks through an ill-thatched house,
So lust breaks through an ill-trained mind.

14. Even as rain breaks not through a well-thatched house,
So lust breaks not through a well-trained mind.

The monks began to discuss the incident in the Hall of Truth:
“Brethren, the Buddhas are marvelous! Venerable Nanda became
dissatisfied with the Religious Life all because of Janapada-Kalyani;
but the Teacher, employing celestial nymphs as a lure, won him to
complete obedience.” The Teacher came in and asked them, “Monks,
what is it you are sitting here now talking about?”” When they told
him, he said, “Monks, [123] this is not the first time Nanda has been
won to obedience by the lure of the opposite sex; the same thing
happened in a previous existence also.” So saying, he related the
following '
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9 c. Story of the Past: Kappata and the donkey

Once upon a time, when Brahmadatta reigned in Benares, there
dwelt at Benares a merchant named Kappata. Now Kappata had
a donkey which used to carry loads of pottery for him, and every day
he used to go a journey of seven leagues. On a certain occasion
Kappata loaded his donkey down with a load of pottery and took him
to Takkasila. While he was engaged in disposing of his wares, he
allowed the donkey to run loose. As the donkey wandered along the
bank of a ditch, he saw a female of his species and straightway went
up to her. She gave him a friendly greeting and said to him, “Where
have you come from?”’ ‘“From Benares.” ‘“On what errand?” “On
business.” ‘“How big a load do you carry?” ‘A big load of pottery.”
“How many leagues do you travel, carrying a big load like that?”
“Seven leagues.” “In the various places you visit, is there anyone
to rub your feet and your back?” “No.” “If that’s the case, you
must have a mighty hard time.”

(Of course animals have no one to rub their feet and their back;
she said this merely to join bonds of love between them.)

As the result of her talk, the donkey became dissatisfied. After the
merchant had disposed of his wares, he returned to the donkey and
said to him, “Come, Jack, let’s be off.” ““Go yourself; I won’t go.”
[124] Over and over again the merchant tried with gentle words to
persuade him to go; and when, in spite of his efforts, the donkey
remained balky, he vented abuse upon him. Finally he thought to
himself, “I know a way to make him go,”” and pronounced the follow-
ing Stanza,

I will make a goad for you, with a sixteen-inch thorn;
I will cut your body to shreds; know this, donkey. )

When the donkey heard that, he said, “In that case I shall know
just what to do to you.” So saying, he pronounced the following
Stanza,

You say you will make a goad for me, with a sixteen-inch thorn. Very well!

In that case I will plant my fore feet, let fly with my hind feet,
And knock out your teeth; know that, Kappata.

When the merchant heard that, he thought to himself, “What can
be the reason for his talking thus?”” The merchant looked this way
and that, and finally his eyes fell upon the female. ‘““Ah!’ thought the
merchant to himself, “she must have taught him these tricks. I will
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say to the donkey, ‘I will bring you home a mate like that.” Thus,
by employing the lure of the opposite sex, I will make him go.” Accord-
ingly he pronounced the following Stanza,

A four-footed female, with face like mother-of-pearl, possessed of all the marks of

beauty,
Will I bring to you to be your mate; know that, donkey.

When the donkey heard that, his heart rejoiced, and he replied

with the following Stanza,

So “a four-footed female, with face like mother-of-pearl, possessed of all the marks of
beauty,”

You will bring to me to be my mate; in that case, Kappata,

Whereas hitherto I have traveled seven leagues a day, hereafter, I will travel fourteen
leagues. [125]

“Well then,” said Kappata, “come!” And taking the donkey
with him, he went back to the place where he had left the cart.

After a few days the donkey said to him, “Did n’t you say to me,
‘I will bring you a mate’?”” The merchant replied, “Yes, I said just
that, and I will not break my word; I will bring you home a mate.
But I will provide food only for you. It may or may not be enough
for both you and your mate, but that is a matter for you alone to
decide. After you both have lived together, foals will be born to you.
The food I shall give you may or may not be enough for both you and
your mate and your foals too, but that is a matter for you alone
to decide.” As the merchant spoke these words, the donkey lost his
desire.

When the Teacher had ended his lesson, he concluded the Jataka
as follows, “At that time, monks, the female donkey was Janapada-
Kalyani, the male donkey was Nanda, and the merchant was I myself.
In former times, too, Nanda was won to obedience by the lure of the
female sex.”

I.10. CUNDA THE PORK-BUTCHER'!

Here he suffers. This religious instruction was given by the
Teacher while he was in residence at Veluvana with reference to Cunda

the pork-butcher.

The story goes that for fifty-five years Cunda made his living by
killing pigs which he then either used for food or marketed. In time

1 Text: N i. 125-129.
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of famine he would go to the country with his cart filled with rice, [126}]
and return with it filled with shotes bought in villages for a mere pint-
pot or two of rice apiece. Back of his house he had a plot of ground
fenced off as a sort of pigsty, and there he kept his pigs, feeding them
all kinds of shrubs and excrement.

Whenever he wanted to kill a pig, he would fasten the pig securely
to a post and pound him with a square club to make his flesh swell
plump and tender. Then, forcing open the pig’s jaws and inserting
a little wedge in his mouth, he would pour down his throat boiling
hot water from a copper boiler. The hot water would penetrate the
pig’s belly, loosening the excrement, and would pass out through the
anus, carrying boiling hot excrement with it. So long as there was even
a little excrement left in the pig’s belly, the water would come out
stained and turbid; but as soon as the pig’s belly was clean, the water
would come out pure and clear.

The rest of the water he would pour over the pig’s back, and the
water would peel off the black skin as it ran off. Then he would singe
off the bristles with a torch. Finally, he would cut off the pig’s head
with a sharp sword. As the blood gushed forth, he would catch it in
a dish; then he would roast the pig, basting it with the blood he had
caught. Then he would sit down with his son and his wife and eat the
pig. Whatever meat was left over, he would sell. In this way he
made a living for fifty-five years. Although the Teacher was in resi-
dence at a neighboring monastery, not on a single day did Cunda do
him honor by offering him so much as a handful of flowers or a spoonful
of rice, nor did he do a single work of merit besides.

One day he was attacked by a malady, [127] and while he yet
remained alive, the fire of the Great Hell of Avici uprose before him.
(The fire of Avici is a consuming torment able to destroy the eyes of
one who stands a hundred leagues away and looks at it. Indeed, it
has been described! in this wise, “For ever and ever it shoots forth its
flames continually a hundred leagues in all directions.” Moreover,
the Elder Nagasena * employed the following simile to show how much
more intense is its heat than that of ordinary fire, “ Great king, reflect
that a rock even as big as a pagoda goes to destruction in the fire of
Hell in but an instant. However, living beings who are reborn there,
through the effect of their past deeds, suffer not destruction, but are
as though they reposed in their mothers’ wombs.”)

1 Anguttara, iii. 85: i. 142. 3 Milind;zpaiiha, 6778, n-23
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When the torment of the Great Hell of Avici uprose before the
pork-butcher Cunda, his mode of behavior was altered in corre-
spondence with his past deeds. Even as he remained within his house,
he began to grunt like a pig and to crawl about on his hands and knees,
first to the front of the house and then to the rear. The men of his
household overpowered him and gagged him. But in spite of all they
did (since it is impossible for anyone to prevent a man’s past deeds
from bearing fruit), he kept crawling back and forth, grunting like a
pig continually.

Not a person was able to sleep in the seven houses round about.
The members of his own household, terrified by the fear of death,
unable otherwise to prevent him from going out, barricaded the doors
of the house that he might not be able to go out, but might be confined
within. Having so done, they surrounded the house and stood on
guard. Back and forth for seven days crawled Cunda within his
house, suffering the torment of Hell, grunting and squealing like a pig.
Having thus crawled about for a period of seven days, he died on
the seventh day and was reborn in the Great Hell of Avici. (The
Great Hell of Avici is to be described in the terms of the Devadiita
Suttanta.l)

Some monks who passed the door of his house [128] heard the
noise, and thinking it was merely the noise of the grunting and squeal-
ing of pigs, went on to the monastery, seated themselves in the presence
of the Teacher, and said to him, ‘“Reverend Sir, for seven days the
door of Cunda the pork-butcher’s house has been closed, and for seven
days the killing of pigs has gone on; doubtless he intends to give some
entertainment. Think, Reverend Sir, how many pigs he has killed!
Evidently he has not a single thought of loving-kindness and lacks
utterly the sentiment of compassion. So cruel and savage a being has
never been known before.”

Said the Teacher, “Monks, he has not been killing pigs these
seven days. Retribution in harmony with his past deeds has overtaken
him. Even while he yet remained alive, the torment of the Great
Hell of Avici uprose before him. By reason of this torment he crawled
hither and thither in his house for seven days, grunting and squealing
like a pig. To-day he died, and was reborn in the Avici hell.” When
the Teacher had thus spoken, the monks said, ‘“Reverend Sir, having
suffered thus here in this world, he went again to a place of suffering

1 Mapjkima, 180: iii. 178-187; cf. Afiguttara, i. 138-142 (translated by Warren,
Buddhism in Translations, pp. 255-259).
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and was there reborn.” “Yes, monks,” replied the Teacher. “He
that is heedless, be he layman or monk, suffers in both places equally.”
So saying, he pronounced the following Stanza,

15. Here he suffers; after death he suffers: the evildoer suffers in both places.
He suffers, he is afflicted, seeing the impurity of his own past deeds.

I.11. THE RIGHTEOUS LAY BROTHER !

Here he rejoices. This religious instruction was given by the
Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with reference to a
righteous lay brother. [129]

At Savatthi, we are told, lived five hundred righteous lay brethren,
each with a retinue of five hundred lay brethren. The senior layman
had seven sons and seven daughters. Each of these sons gave regularly
ticket-porridge, ticket-food, food of the waning moon, food of the new
moon, invitation-food, fast-day food, visitors’ food, and food of the
season of the rains. All of them were ““later born,” so that the layinan
and his wife and fourteen children maintained sixteen forms of alms.
And the layman, virtuous, upright, together with son and wife, took
delight in the distribution of alms.

After a time the laymman was attacked by a disease, and his vital
forces began to decay. [130] Desiring to hear the Law, he sent word
to the Teacher, “Send me eight or sixteen monks.” The Teacher sent
them, and they straightway went and gathered around his bed and
sat down on seats prepared for themn. “Reverend Sirs,” said the lay-
man, “it will be difficult for me to see you, for I am weak; rehearse
me but a single Sutta.” ‘“Which Sutta would you like to hear, lay
brother?”” “The Satipatthana Sutta,? common to all the Buddhas.”
Accordingly they began to rehearse the Sutta, beginning with the
words, “There is this one Way, monks, this one Path which leads to
the Salvation of living beings.”

At that moment, from the Six Worlds of the Gods, approached six
chariots a hundred and fifty leagues long, drawn by a thousand Sindh
horses, adorned with all the adornments. In each chariot stood a
deity, and each deity spoke and said, ‘“Permit us to convey you to our
celestial world.” And they spoke again and said, “Even as one
shatters a clay vessel and replaces it with a vessel of gold, even so are

1 Text: N i. 129-132. * Digha, 22; Majjhima, 10.
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living beings reborn to take their pleasure in our celestial world.”
The lay disciple, unwilling to be interrupted in listening to the Law,
said, “Wait! wait!” The monks, thinking that he was speaking to
them, ceased their recitation of the Law. His sons and daughters
cried out, “Formerly our father could never hear enough of the Law.
But now, after summoning the monks and directing them to rehearse
the Law, he stops them himself. After all, there is no man who does
not fear death.” The monks said to each other, “This is no time for
us to remain.” And forthwith they arose and departed.

After a time the layman recovered his attention and asked his
sons, “Why do you weep?” “Dear father,” said they, “you sent for
the monks, and even as you listened to the Law, you yourself stopped
them from rehearsing the Law. We weep to think, ‘After all, there is
no man who does not fear death.”” [131] “But where are the noble
monks?”’ “They said to each other, ‘This is no time for us to remain.’
And forthwith they arose from their seats and departed.” ‘Dear
sons, I was not speaking to the noble monks.” “ With whom, then, were
you talking, dear father?”” “From the Six Worlds of the Gods six
deities approached in six magnificently adorned chariots, and standing
in their chariots poised in the air, they said to me, ‘Take your pleasure
in our celestial world; take your pleasure in our celestial world.” I
was talking with them.” ‘“Dear father, where are the chariots? We
do not see them.” “Have I any wreaths of flowers?”” ‘“Yes, dear
father.” ‘“Which celestial world is the most delightful?”” “Dear
father, the most delightful is the World of the Tusita gods, the abode
of the mothers and fathers of the Buddhas and of all the Future
Buddhas.” ‘“Well then, throw a wreath of flowers and say, ‘Let this
wreath of flowers cling to the chariot which came from the World of
the Tusita gods.””

Accordingly the children of the layman threw the wreath of flowers,
and it clung to the pole of the chariot and hung suspended in the air.
The populace saw the wreath of flowers suspended in the air, but did
not see the chariot. Said the lay disciple, ‘“Do you see this wreath of
flowers?” ““Yes, we see it.”” “This wreath hangs suspended from the
chariot which came from the World of the Tusita gods. I am going
to the World of the Tusita gods; be not disturbed. If you desire to
be reborn with me, do works of merit even as I have done.” And
when he had thus spoken, he died and set foot in the chariot. Imme-
diately he was reborn as a deity three-quarters of a league in stature,
adorned with sixty cartloads of ornaments. A retinue of a thousand
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celestial nymphs attended him, and a golden mansion twenty-five
leagues in extent became visible.

When those monks reached the monastery, the Teacher asked
them, ‘“Monks, did the lay disciple hearken to the recitation of the
Law?” “Yes, Reverend Sir. But in the midst of the recitation he
cried out, ‘Wait! wait!” and stopped us. Then his sons and daughters
began to weep, [132] whereupon we said to each other, ‘This is no
time for us to remain,” and arose from our seats and departed.”
“Monks, he was not talking to you. From the Six Worlds of the Gods
six deities approached in six magnificently adorned chariots, and they
summoned that lay disciple to go with them; but the lay disciple,
unwilling that the recitation of the Law should be interrupted, spoke
to them.” “Is that true, Reverend Sir?” “That is true, monks.”
“Reverend Sir, where was he reborn just now?” “In the World of the
Tusita gods, monks.”

“Reverend Sir, but recently he lived here among his kinsfolk
rejoicing, and just now he went again to a place of rejoicing and was
there reborn.” ““Yes, monks. They that are heedful, be they laymen
or monks, rejoice in both places equally.” So saying, he pronounced
the following Stanza,

16. Here he rejoices; after death he rejoices: he that has done good works rejoices in

both places.
He rejoices, he rejoices exceedingly, seeing the purity of his own past deeds.

I. 12. DEVADATTA’S CAREER'!

Here he suffers. [133] This religious instruction was given by the
Teacher while in residence at Jetavana with reference to Devadatta.
The story of Devadatta, from the time he became a monk to the time
the earth opened and swallowed him up, is related in all the Jatakas.?
The following is a synopsis of the story:

12 a. Retirement from the world of the six princes

While the Teacher was in residence at Aniipiya Mango-grove,
which lies near Aniipiya, a market-town of the Mallas, eighty thousand

1 i, 12 is for the most part derived from Vinaya, Culla Vagga, vii. 14. With
i.12 a, cf. xxv. 12b. With i. 12 b, cf. Hardy, Manual of Buddhism, pp. 326-333, 387
840. Text: N i. 183-150.

2 See Jatakas 542: vi. 120-181; 533: v. 338-337; 466: iv. 158-159; 404: iii. 355—
858.
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kinsmen one day recognized on him the Characteristics of a Tathagata,
and eighty thousand youths asserted, “Let him be a king or a Buddha,
he will spend his days surrounded by a retinue of Warrior-princes.”
After all but six of these youths had retired from the world and become
monks, the company of princes, observing that the six Sakyan princes,
King Bhaddiya, Anuruddha, Ananda, Bhagu, Kimbila, and Devadatta,
had not yet retired from the world, discussed the matter as follows,
“We admit only our own sons to the Order. But of course these six
Sakyan princes are not kinsmen of the Buddha. For this reason,
doubtless, they have not retired from the world and become monks.”
Now one day the Sakyan prince Mahianadma approached Anuruddha
and said, “Friend, there isn’t one of our family who has become a
monk. You become a monk and I will follow your example.”

Now Anuruddha is said to have been brought up in such softness
and luxury that he had never heard the word isn’t before. For example,
one day these six Sakyan princes engaged in a game of marbles.
Anuruddha staked cakes on the result, proved a loser, and sent home
for cakes. His mother prepared cakes and sent them. [134] The
princes ate the cakes and resumed their play. Anuruddha lost repeat-
edly. Three times in all his mother sent him cakes. The fourth time
she sent back word, “There isn’t cake to send. Now Anuruddha had
never before heard the word isn’t. Therefore, supposing that this
must be a variety of cake, he sent the man back, saying to him, “Fetch
me some t3n’t cakes. When his mother received the message, “Then,
my lady, send me some isn’t cakes,” she thought to herself, “My son
has never heard the word isn’t before. By this means, however, I can
teach him the meaning of it.”” So she took an empty golden bowl,
covered it with another golden bowl, and sent it to her son.

The guardian deities of the city thought, “When Anuruddha the
Sakyan was Annabhira, he gave food that was his own portion to the
Private Buddha Uparittha, making the Earnest Wish, ‘May I never
hear the word isn’t; may I never know where food comes from.’
Now if he sees the empty bowl, we shall never be able to enter the
assembly of the gods; it may even happen that our heads will split
into seven pieces.” So they filled the bow! with celestial cakes. As
soon as the bowl was set down on the round platter uncovered, the
fragrance of the cakes permeated the entire city. Moreover, the
roment a morsel of cake was placed in the mouth, it thrilled the seven
thousand nerves of taste. Anuruddha thought to himself, *“ My mother
does not love me; all this time she has never fried this isn’t cake
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for me. [135] From this time forth I shall eat no other kind of cake.”
So he went home and asked his mother, ‘“Mother, do you love me
or do you not?” ‘“My dear son, even as the eye is dear to one who
possesses but one eye, and even as the heart, so are you exceedingly
dear tome.” ‘“Then, dear mother, why is it that all this time you have
not fried zsn’t cake for me?”” Said the mother to her little page, “Boy,
is there nothing in the bowl?” ‘“My lady, the plate is filled to over-
flowing with cakes, and with such cakes as I have never seen before.”
The mother thought to herself, ‘It must be that my son has ac-
quired great merit; it must be that he has made an Earnest Wish;
deities must have filled the plate with cakes and sent them.” Said
the son to the mother, ‘“Dear mother, from this time forth I will eat
no other kind of cake than this; henceforth, I pray you, fry tsn’t cake
alone for me.” From that time forth, whenever her son said, “I
should like some cakes to eat,” she would send a bowl absolutely
empty, covered with another bowl. So long as he continued to live
at home, during all that time deities sent him celestial cakes. Since
Anuruddha was so unsophisticated as all this, how could he be ex-
pected to know the meaning of the expression becoming a monk?

For this reason, therefore, he asked his brother, ‘“What is this
becoming a monk#”’ His brother replied, “The life of a monk involves
cutting off the hair and beard, sleeping with indifference whether in a
thorn-brake or in a fine bed, and going the rounds for alms.” Anu-
ruddha replied, ‘“Brother, I am exceedingly delicate; I shall never
be able [136] to become a monk.” “Very well, my dear brother,
then learn farming and live the life of a householder. But at least
one of us must become a monk.” Then said Anuruddha, “What is
this farming®”’

How could you expect a youth to know the meaning of the word
farming who did not know where food comes from? For example,
on a certain day a discussion arose among the three princes Kimbila,
Bhaddiya, and Anuruddha as to where food comes from. Ximbila
said, “It comes from the barn.” Bhaddiya said to him, “You do
not know where food comes from; it comes from the boiler.”” Anu-
ruddha said, “Both of you together do not know where food comes
from. It comes from a golden bowl with jeweled knob.”

We are told that one day Kimbila saw rice being removed from
a barn, and immediately formed the opinion, “These grains of rice
were produced in the barn.” Likewise one day Bhaddiya saw food
being taken out of a boiler, and formed the opinion, “It was produced
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in the boiler.” Anuruddha, however, had never seen men pounding
rice or boiling it or taking it out of the boiler, but had seen it only after
it had been taken out of the boiler and set before him. So Anuruddha
formed the opinion, ‘“ When one desires to eat, food makes its appear-
ance in a golden bowl.” Such was the ignorance of all three princes
as to where food comes from.

Now when Anuruddha asked the question, “ What is this farming#”’
he received the following answer, “First the field inust be plowed, and
after that such and such other things must be done, and these things
must be done year after year.” Said he to himself, “When will the
duties connected with farming ever come to an end? When shall we
ever have time to enjoy our possessions in peace?” And because it
seemed to him that the duties connected with farming would never
come to an end and never cease, he said to his brother, “Well then, if
this is the case, you may live the life of a householder. But as for me,
I have no use for it.” Accordingly he approached his mother [137]
and said to her, “Mother, give me your permission; I wish to become
a monk.”

Thrice Anuruddha requested his mother to give him permission
to become a monk, and thrice she refused to do so. Finally she said
to him, “If your friend King Bhaddiya will become a monk, then you
may become a monk with him.” Accordingly he approached his
friend Bhaddiya and said to him, “Friend, whether I shall become a
monk or not is conditional upon your becoming a monk.” Anuruddha
urged his friend Bhaddiya with every argument at his command to
become a monk, and finally, on the seventh day, obtained Bhaddiya’s
promise to become a monk with him.

So six princes of the Warrior caste, Bhaddiya, king of the Sakyans,
Anuruddha, Ananda, Bhagu, Kimbila, and Devadatta, accompanied
by Upili the barber as seventh man, for seven days enjoyed celestial
glory like gods, and then set out with fourfold array, as though on their
way to a pleasure-garden. When they reached foreign territory, they
turned back their army by royal command, and then entered foreign
territory. There each of the six princes removed his own ornaments,
made a bundle of them, and gave them to Upali, saying, ‘“Now, Upali,
turn back. All this wealth will suffice to provide you with means of
livelihood.” Upali flung himself at their feet, rolled over and over on
the ground, and wept bitterly. But not daring to disobey the order,
he arose and turned back. When they parted, the forest wept, as it
were, and the earth quaked, as it were.
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When Upili had gone a little way, he thought to himself, “Harsh
and cruel are these Sakyans; they may kill me, thinking I have killed
their brethren. These Sakyan princes have renounced all this splendor,
have cast away these priceless ornaments like a mass of saliva, and
intend to become monks; [138] why not I?”” So saying, he untied
the bundle, hung those ornaments on a tree, and said, ‘“Let those who
want them takethem.” Havingso done, he went to the Sakyan princes,
and when they asked him why he had turned back, told them the
whole story.

So the six Sakyan princes took Upaili the barber with them, went
to the Teacher, and said to him, “ We, Reverend Sir, are proud Sakyans.
This man has been a servitor of ours for a long time. Admit him to
the Order first; to him first we will offer respectful salutations; so
will our pride be humbled.” Thus first did they cause Upaili the barber
to be admitted to the Order, and after that entered the Order them-
selves.

Of the six Sakyan princes, Venerable Bhaddiya attained Threefold
Knowledge in that very rainy season. Venerable Anuruddha attained
Supernatural Vision, and after listening to the Sutta entitled “The
Reflections of a Great Man,” attained Arahatship. Venerable Ananda
was established in the Fruit of Conversion. Elder Bhagu and Elder
Kimbila subsequently developed Spiritual Insight and attained
Arahatship. Devadatta attained the lower grade of Magic Power.

After a time, while the Teacher was in residence at Kosambi, rich
gain and honor accrued to the Tathagata and his company of disciples.
Men entered the monastery bearing in their hands robes, medicines,
and other offerings and asked, ‘“Where is the Teacher? Where is the
Elder Sariputta? Where is the Elder Moggallina? Where is the
Elder Kassapa? Where is the Elder Bhaddiya? Where is the Elder
Anuruddha? Where is the Elder Ananda? Where is the Elder Bhagu?
Where is the Elder Kimbila?” So saying, they went about looking
at the places where sat the eighty Chief Disciples.

12 b. Devadatta’s wicked deeds

Since no one asked, “Where does the Elder Devadatta sit and
stand?” Devadatta thought to himself, “I became a monk at the
same time as these other monks. Even as they are men of the Warrior
caste who have become monks, so also am I a man of the Warrior
caste who have become a monk. [139] But whereas men bearing rich
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offerings seek out these monks, no one takes my name on his lips. With
whom now can I make common cause? With whom can I ingratiate
myself, that I may obtain gain and honor for myself?”’

Then the following thought occurred to him, “This King Bimbiséra,
on the day when he first saw the Buddha, became established in the
Fruit of Conversion, together with eleven nahutas of men besides; I
cannot make common cause with him. Neither can I make common
cause with the king of Kosala. But this king’s son Ajatasattu knows
no one’s good qualities or bad qualities; I will make common cause
with him.” Accordingly Devadatta departed from Kosambi to
Rajagaha, transformed himself into a youth, put four snakes on his
hands and feet, put one snake about his neck, coiled one snake
about his head as a cushion-rest, placed one snake on one shoulder,
and thus arrayed in a girdle of snakes, he descended from the air and
seated himself in Ajatasattu’s lap. Ajatasattu was frightened and
said, “Who are you?” “I am Devadatta.” In order to dispel
Ajatasattu’s fear, Devadatta changed his form, stood before Ajatasattu
wearing the robe of a monk and carrying a monk’s bowl, ingratiated
himself with Ajatasattu, and obtained for himself gain and honor.

Overcome with the gain and honor he received, Devadatta thought
to himself, “It is I who ought to be at the head of the Congregation of
Monks.” Once having allowed this evil thought to spring up in his
breast, with the springing up of the evil thought Devadatta lost the
power to work miracles. Now at this time the Teacher was preaching
the Law to the Congregation at Veluvana monastery, and the king
was among the Congregation. While the Exalted One was preaching
the Law, Devadatta paid obeisance to him, and then rising from his
seat, extended his hands in an attitude of reverent salutation and said,
“Reverend Sir, the Exalted One is now worn out, stricken with years,
and aged; let him live a pleasant life in this world, free from care. I
will direct the Congregation of Monks; commit the Congregation of
Monks to my hands.” [140] The Teacher, instead of consenting to
the arrangement suggested by Devadatta, refused his request and
called him a lick-spittle. Therefore Devadatta was highly indignant,
and now for the first time conceiving hatred towards the Teacher,
departed. The Teacher caused public proclamation to be made con-
cerning Devadatta at Rajagaha.

Devadatta thought to himself, ‘“Now I have been rejected by the
monk Gotama; now I will make trouble for him.”” With this thought
in mind he approached Ajatasattu and said to him, *Youth, aforetime
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men were long-lived, but now they are short-lived. This makes it
probable that you, being a prince, will soon die. Well then! You kill
your father and become king, and I will kill the Exalted One and
become Buddha.” So when Ajatasattu was established in his kingdom,
Devadatta hired men to kill the Tathagata. But the men he hired
attained the Fruit of Conversion and turned back. Then Devadatta
himself climbed Vulture Peak and said to himself, “I alone will deprive
the monk Gotama of life.”” So saying, he split off a piece of rock and
hurled it down. But he succeeded only in drawing the Teacher’sblood.
Failing in this way also to kill him, he next dispatched the elephant
Nalagiri against the Teacher. When the elephant approached, the
Elder Ananda offered his own life in behalf of the Teacher and stood
in the breach. The Teacher subdued the elephant, and then departed
from the city and went to the monastery. After partaking of the
offerings of food brought by countless thousands of lay disciples, he
preached in due course to the residents of Rajagaha, one hundred and
eighty millions in number, and eighty-four thousand living beings
obtained Comprehension of the Law. Said the monks, “How noble
is the Venerable Ananda! When so mighty an elephant approached,
he offered his own life [141] and stood in front of the Teacher.” The
Teacher, hearing the Elder praised in this wise, said, “Monks, this
is not the first time he has renounced his life for my sake; he did the
same thing in a previous state of existence.”” And in response to a
request of the monks he related the Culla Hamsa,' Maha Hamsa,?
and Kakkata ? Jatakas.

Devadatta’s wickedness did not by any means become so notorious
from his having compassed the king’s death nor from his hiring
murderers to kill the Tathagata nor from his splitting off the piece of
rock, as it did froin his letting loose the elephant Nalagiri. For upon
that, the people raised a tumult and said, “Devadatta alone had the
kingkilled and hired murderers and castdown therock. But nowhe has
turned the elephant Nalagiri loose. Behold what manner of evildoer
the king has on his hands!” The king then, hearing the words of the
populace, caused Devadatta’s five hundred cooking-vessels to be remov-
ed and did not thereafter minister to his wants. Likewise the citizens
did not so much as offer food to him when he came to their houses.

When he had thus lost gain and honor, he determined to live by

1 Jataka 583: v. 833-854.
? Jataka 584: v. 354-382.
3 Jataka 267: ii. 341-345.
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deceit. Therefore he approached the Teacher and made the Five
Demands. But the Teacher rejected his demands, saying, “Enough,
Devadatta! Whoever so desires, let him be a forest hermit.” ‘‘Breth-
ren, whose words are the nobler, the words of the Tathagata or the
words which I myself have uttered? Very well, Reverend Sir, all their
life long monks should be forest-dwellers, beggars, wearers of rags from
a dust-heap, living at the foot of a tree, eating neither fish nor flesh.
Whosoever desires release from suffering, let him come with me.” So
saying, Devadatta departed. [142]

Some monks who had but recently retired from the world and who
possessed little intelligence, hearing his words, said, ‘“Devadatta spoke
fair; let us join him.” So they joined him. Thus Devadatta with his
five hundred monks sought to persuade all manner of people, both
hardened and believing, to accept the Five Points. And living by
soliciting food from various families, he strove to create a schism in the
Order. The Exalted One asked him, ‘“Devadatta, is it true, as men
say, that you are striving to create schism and heresy in the Order?”
“It is true,” replied Devadatta. Said the Teacher, “Devadatta, it is
a grievous thing to create a schism in the Order.” Continuing, the
Teacher admonished him at length. But Devadatta paid no attention
to the Teacher’s words. He went forth, and seeing the Venerable
Elder Ananda going his round for alms in Rajagaha, said to him,
“Brother Ananda, from this day forth I shall keep Fast and Chapter
apart from the Exalted One, apart from the Order.” The Elder told
the Exalted One. When the Teacher realized the fact, he was filled
with righteous indignation and said to himself, ‘“Devadatta is doing
that which will be of no profit to him in the Worlds of the Gods and
the world of men; that which will cause him to be tormented in the
Avici hell.” And he reflected,

Easy to do are deeds that are evil, deeds that bring harm.
But the deed that brings welfare, the deed that is good, that truly is hard to do.

Having pronounced this Stanza, he then breathed forth the follow-
ing Solemn Utterance,

Easy to do for the good is the good; the good for the evil man is hard.
Evil for the evil man is easy to do; evil for the noble is hard.!

On Fast-day, as Devadatta sat on one side with his own retinue,
he said, “Let whoever approves of these Five Points take a ticket.”

1 Udana, v. 8.



238 Book 1, Story 12. Dhammapada 17 [N.1.1481-

[143] Five hundred Licchavi princes, novices having little gratitude,
took tickets. Devadatta took these monks with him and went to
Gayasisa. When the Teacher heard that he had gone there, he sent
forth the two Chief Disciples to bring those monks back. The Chief
Disciples went there, instructed the monks by performing miracles and
wonders, caused them to drink the Deathless, and returned through
the air, bringing them with them.

Said Kokalika, “Rise, brother Devadatta; Sariputta and Mog-
gallana have carried off your monks. Do you not remember my saying
to you, ‘Brother, trust not Sariputta and Moggallana’?” Said Deva-
datta, “Sariputta and Moggallana cherish evil desires, are under the
control of evil desires.” As he spoke thus, he struck the center of his
heart with his knee, and straightway hot blood burst forth from his
mouth.

When the monks saw Venerable Sariputta, surrounded by his
retinue of monks, soaring through the air, they said, “Reverend Sir,
when Venerable Sariputta went hence, he went with but a single
companion; but now he is returning resplendent with a great retinue.”
Said the Teacher, “ Monks, it is not the first time this has happened;
when my son was reborn in the form of an animal, then also did he
return to me resplendent.” So saying, he recited the Lakkhana
Jataka:!

All goes well with the virtuous, with those whose disposition is friendly.

Behold Lakkhana returning at the head of a host of relatives;
Then look upon yonder Kila without relatives. [144]

Again said the monks, “Reverend Sir, they say that Devadatta
seats a Chief Disciple on either side of him and imitates you, saying,
‘I will preach the Law with the grace of a Buddha.””” Said the Teacher,
“Monks, this is not the first time he has so done; in a previous state
of existence also he strove to imitate me, but was not able to do so.

Viraka, have you seen a sweet-voiced bird
With neck like that of a peacock, my husband Savitthaka?

Because he tried to imitate a bird that walks both on water and on land,
Savitthaka became entangled in a sevila-plant and died.

Supplying the rest of the story, the Teacher related the Viraka
Jataka.? On succeeding days, with reference to the same subject, the
Teacher related the Kandagalaka ? and Virocana * Jatakas:

! Jataka 11: 1. 142-145. 2 Jataka 204: ii. 148-150.
? Jataka 210: il 162-164. 4 Jataka 143: i 490-498.
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This garuda bird went through the woods pecking at trees whose branches were soft
and rotten.
At last he came to an acacia-tree, whose wood is always sound, and broke his

head. [145]

Your brains have run out, your head is split open,
All your ribs are broken; to-day you are a pretty sight!

Again one day, hearing the remark, ‘“Devadatta was ungrateful,”
the Teacher related the Java Sakuna Jataka:!
We did you what service we could.

King of beasts, we render homage to you.
May we obtain some favor from you.

Seeing that I hold you fast between my jaws, I who feed upon blood,
I whose nature is to kill, it is a great deal that you yet live.

Again with reference to Devadatta’s going about for the purpose
of slaying, he related the Kuruiiga Jataka:?

It is well known to the antelope, that you let drop the fruit of the sepanni.
Let us go to another sepanni; your tree likes me not.

Again when the discussion took this turn, “Devadatta fell away
both from gain and honor and from the high position of a monk,” the
Teacher said, ‘““Monks, this is not the first time he has so fallen away;
in a previous state of existence also he fell away.” So saying, he related
the Ubhatobhattha Jataka:?* [146] .

Your eyes are put out, your garments are lost, in your own house there is strife;
Your business is ruined in both places, both on water and on land.

In this wise did the Teacher, while he was in residence at Rajagaha,
relate many Jatakas about Devadatta. From Réajagaha he went to
Savatthi, and took up his residence at Jetavana monastery.

Devadatta’s sickness continued for nine months; at the last,
desiring to see the Teacher, he said to his own disciples, “I desire to
see the Teacher; make it possible for me to see him.” They replied,
“When you enjoyed good health, you walked at enmity with the
Teacher; we will not lead you to him.” Said Devadatta, “Do not
destroy me; I have indeed conceived hatred towards the Teacher,
but the Teacher has not cherished so much as the tip of a hair’s hatred
towards me.” And in very truth

Towards the murderer Devadatta, towards the robber Afigulimala,
. Towards Dhanapila and Rihula, to each and all he manifested an even temper.

1 Jataka 308: iii. 25-27. ? Jataka 21:i. 178-174.  * Jataka 139: i. 482-484.
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“Let me see the Exalted One,” begged Devadatta again and
again; so finally they laid him on a litter and started out with him.
When the monks heard that Devadatta was approaching, they in-
formed the Teacher of the fact, saying, “Reverend Sir, we hear that
Devadatta is coming to see you.” ‘“Monks, he will not succeed in
seeing me in this present existence.” (It is said that from the moment
monks make the Five Demands, they invariably fail to see the Buddhas
again.) [147] “Reverend Sir, he has reached such and such a place;
he has reached such and such a place.” “Let him do as he likes; he
will never succeed in seeing me again.” ‘“Reverend Sir, now he is
only a league distant, now he is only half a league distant, now he is
only a gavuta distant, now he has reached the lotus-tank.” ‘“Even if
he enters within the Jetavana, he will not succeed in seeing me.”

Those who came with Devadatta set the litter down on the bank
of the lotus-tank at the Jetavana and descended into the tank to bathe.
Devadatta arose from his litter and sat down, resting both feet on the
ground, whereupon his feet sank into the earth. By degrees he
sank into the earth, first to the ankles, then to the knees, then to the
hips, then to the breast, then to the neck. Finally, when his jaw-bone
rested on the ground, he pronounced the following Stanza,

With these bones, with these vital airs, I seek refuge in the Buddha,
Preéminent among men, god of gods, charioteer of untamed humanity,
All-seeing, endowed with the auspicious marks of a hundred virtues.

There is a tradition that when the Tathégata saw that matters had
gone thus far, he made a monk of Devadatta. And this he did because
he became aware of the following, “If he shall remain a layman and not
be received into the Order as a monk, inasmuch as he has been guilty
of grievous crimes, it will be impossible for him to look forwards with
confidence to future existence; but if he shall become a monk, no mat-
ter how grievous the crimes he has committed, it will be possible for
him to look forwards with confidence to future existence.” [148]
(At the end of a hundred thousand cycles of time he will become a
Private Buddha named Atthissara.)

When Devadatta had sunk into the earth, he was reborn in the
Avici hell. “Since he sinned against an unchanging Buddha, let him
endure torture unchanging;” and such was the torture he suffered.
When he had entered the Avici hell, which is a hundred leagues in
extent, his body became a hundred leagues in height. His head, as
far as the outer ear, entered an iron skull; his feet, as far as the ankles,
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entered earth of iron. An iron stake as thick as the trunk of a palmyra-
tree proceeded forth from the west wall of the iron shell, pierced the
small of his back, came forth from his breast, and penetrated the east
wall. Another iron stake proceeded forth from the south wall, pierced
his right side, came forth from his left side, and penetrated the north
wall. Another iron stake proceeded forth from the top of the iron
skull, pierced his skull, came forth from his lower parts, and penetrated
earth of iron. In this position, immovable, he suffers this mode of
torture.

The monks began a discussion, saying, ‘“All this distance came
Devadatta, but failed to see the Teacher, and was swallowed up by
the earth.” Said the Teacher, “Monks, this was not the first time
Devadatta sinned against me and was swallowed up by the earth;
in a previous state of existence also he was swallowed up by the earth.”
And by way of illustrating the point, he told the story of an incident
in his own previous existence as king of the elephants. He directed
aright a man who had lost his way, allowed him to mount his own
back, and carried him to a place of safety, only to have the man return
to him three successive times and saw off first the tips of his tusks,
then the middle, and then the roots. As the man passed out of sight
of the Great Creature, he was swallowed up by the earth. [149]

The Teacher then completed the Silava Naga Jataka:!

If one should give the whole earth to an ungrateful man,
A man who is ever looking for an opportunity, it would not satisfy him.

The discussion reverting to the same subject again and again, in
order to illustrate the swallowing up of Devadatta by the earth in his
existence as Kalaburdja for an offense against himself in his existence
as Khantivadi, he related the Khantivadi Jataka.? Again, in order
to illustrate the swallowing up of Devadatta by the earth in his
existence as Mahapatiparaja for an offense against himself in his
existence as Culla Dhammapala, he related the Culla Dhammapala
Jataka?

Now when Devadatta was swallowed up by the earth, the populace
was pleased and delighted, and raising flags and banners and plantain-
trees and setting up brimming jars, held high festival, saying, “His
death is indeed our great gain.”” When the monks reported this
incident to the Exalted One, the Exalted One said, “Monks, this is
not the first time the populace has rejoiced at Devadatta’s death;

! Jataka 72: i. 319-822.  ? Jataka 318: iil. 39-43.  ? Jataka 858: iii. 177-182.
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in times past also the populace rejoiced thereat.” And when he had
thus spoken, to illustrate the rejoicing of the populace at the death
of King Pifigala of Benares, a man who was hated by all the people
for his harshness and cruelty, he related the Pifigala Jataka:!

All the people suffered harm at the hands of Pifigala; so soon as he was dead they
recovered confidence. .
Was he of the yellow eyes dear to you? Why do you weep, porter? [150]

He of the yellow eyes was not dear to me; I fear to think of his return.
Now that he has gone hence, he may harm the king of death, and the king of death
thus harmed may send him back again.

Finally the monks asked the Teacher, “Now, Reverend Sir, tell us
where Devadatta was reborn.” ‘Monks, he was reborn in the Avici
hell.” “Reverend Sir, during his life here on earth he suffered, and
when he went hence he was reborn in a place of suffering.” “Yes,
monks, they that abide in Heedlessness, be they monks or laymen,
suffer in both places.” So saying, he pronounced the following Stanza,

17. Here he suffers, after death he suffers; the evildoer suffers in both places.
He suffers to think, “I have done evil;” yet more does he suffer, gone to a place of
suffering,

I. 13. LADY SUMANA*

Here he rejoices. This religious instruction was given by the
Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with reference to Lady
Sumana. [151]

For every day two thousand monks take their meal in the house
of Anathapindika at Savatthi, and a like number in the house of the
eminent female lay disciple Visakha. Whoever desires to give alms
at Savatthi, first seeks the good offices of these two lay disciples. Do
you ask the reason for this? Suppose you are asked the question,
‘“Has Anathapindika or Visakha given alms equal in amount to those
which you have given?”’ and you answer, “They have not,” you may
dispense a hundred thousand pieces of money in alms, and in spite of
this the monks will murmur dissatisfaction, saying, ‘“What kind of
alms are these?”” The explanation is that both of these lay disciples
understand thoroughly the tastes of the Congregation of Monks and

1 Jataka 240: ii. 239-242.

Ni ’15le. lt.?: story of Kavi in Manu, ii. 150 (Lanman’s Sanskrit Reader, 61'%). Text:
1. —10%. .
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know exactly what is the proper thing to do; therefore all who desire
to give alms take them with them when they go. And thus it happens
that they are unable to minister to the monks in person in their own
houses.

Under these circumstances Visikhi, considering within herself,
“Who shall stand in my place and minister to the Congregation of
Monks?”’ seeing the daughter of her son, appointed her to represent
her; and thenceforth Visiakhd’s granddaughter ministered to the
Congregation of Monks in Visiakha’s residence. Anathapindika
appointed his oldest daughter Maha Subhadda; the latter showed the
monks the customary attentions, hearkened to the Law, and as a result
obtained the Fruit of Conversion; afterwards she married and went
to live with her husband’s family. Then he appointed Culla Subhadda,
who followed her older sister’s example, obtaining the Fruit of Con-
version, and afterwards marrying and going to live with the family
of her husband. Finally he appointed his youngest daughter Sumana.
Sumani obtained the Fruit of the Second Path, but remained un-
married. [152] Overwhelmed with disappointment at her failure to
obtain a husband, she refused to eat, and desiring to see her father,
sent for him.

Aniathapindika was in the refectory when he received his daughter’s
message, but immediately went to her and said, “What is it, dear
daughter Sumana?” Sumand said to him, “What say you, dear
youngest brother?” “You talk incoherently, dear daughter.” “I am
not talking incoherently, youngest brother.”” ‘“Are you afraid, dear
daughter?” “I am not afraid, youngest brother.” She said no
more, but died immediately.

Although the treasurer had obtained the Fruit of Conversion, he
was unable to bear the grief that arose within him. Accordingly, when
he had performed the funeral rites over his daughter’s body, he went
weeping to the Teacher. Said the Teacher, ‘“Householder, how is it
that you come to me sad and sorrowful, with tears in your eyes,
weeping?” ‘“Reverend Sir, my daughter Sumani is dead.” “Well,
why do you weep? Is not death certain for all?”” “I know that,
Reverend Sir. But my daughter was so modest and so conscientious.
What grieves me so much is the thought that when she died, she was

_unable to recover her right mind, but died raving incoherently.”

“But what did your youngest daughter say, great treasurer?”
“Reverend Sir, I addressed her as ‘dear Sumana,” and she replied,
‘What say you, dear youngest brother?” Then I said to her, ‘ You talk
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incoherently, dear daughter.” ‘I am not talking incoherently, youngest
brother.’ ‘Are you afraid, dear daughter?’ ‘I am not afraid, youngest
brother.” She said no more, but died immediately.”

Said the Exalted One to Anathapindika, ‘“Great treasurer, your
daughter did not talk incoherently.” ‘“But why did she speak thus?”’
“Solely because you were her youngest brother. [153] Householder,
your daughter was old in the Paths and the Fruits, for while you have
attained but the Fruit of Conversion, your daughter had attained
the Fruit of the Second Path. Thus it was, because she was old in the
Paths and the Fruits, that she spoke thus.” “Was that the reason,
Reverend Sir?”” “That was the reason, householder.”

“Where has she now been reborn, Reverend Sir?” ““In the World
of the Tusita gods, householder.” ‘“Reverend Sir, while my daughter
remained here among her kinsfolk, she went about rejoicing, and when
she went hence, she was reborn in the World of Joy.” Then the
Teacher said to him, “It is even so, householder. They that are
heedful, be they lay folk or religious, rejoice both in this world and in
the world beyond.” So saying, he pronounced the following Stanza,

18. Here he rejoices, after death he rejoices: he that has done good works rejoices in
both places.
He rejoices to think, “I have done good works;” yet more does he rejoice, gone
to a world of bliss.

I. 14. TWO BRETHREN!

Though he utter much that is sensible. 'This religious instruction was
given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with
reference to two fellow-monks. [154]

For at Savatthi lived two young men of station who were insepa-
rable friends. On a certain occasion they went to the monastery, heard
the Teacher preach the Law, renounced the pleasures of the world,
yielded the breast to the Religion of the Buddha, and became monks.
When they had kept residence for five years with preceptors and
teachers, they approached the Teacher and asked about the Duties
in his Religion. After listening to a detailed description of the Duty
of Meditation and of the Duty of Study, one of them said, ‘“Reverend
Sir, since I became a monk in old age, I shall not be able to fulfill the
Duty of Study, but I can fulfill the Duty of Meditation.” So he had

! Text: N i. 154-159.
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the Teacher instruct him in the Duty of Meditation as far as Arahat-
ship, and after striving and struggling attained Arahatship, together
with the Supernatural Faculties. But the other said, “I will fulfill the
Duty of Study,” acquired by degrees the Tipitaka, the Word of the
Buddha, and wherever he went, preached the Law and intoned it. He
went from place to place reciting the Law to five hundred monks, and
was preceptor of eighteen large communities of monks.

Now a company of monks, having obtained a Formula of Medita-
tion from the Teacher, went to the place of residence of the older
monk, and by faithful observance of his admonitions attained Arahat-
ship. Thereupon they paid obeisance to the Elder and said, “We
desire to see the Teacher.” [155] Said the Elder, ‘“Go, brethren, greet
in my name the Teacher, and likewise greet the eighty Chief Elders,
and greet my fellow-elder, saying, ‘Our Teacher greets you.’” So
those monks went to the monastery and greeted the Teacher and the
Elders, saying, ‘“Reverend Sir, our teacher greets you.” When they
greeted their teacher’s fellow-elder, he replied, “Who is he?”” Said the
monks, “He is your fellow-monk, Reverend Sir.”

Said the younger monk, “But what have you learned from him?
Of the Digha Nikdya and the other Nikayas, have you learned a single
Nikaya? Of the Three Pitakas, have you learned a single Pitaka?”
And he thought to himself, ““This monk does not know a single Stanza
containing four verses. As soon as he became a monk, he took rags
from a dust-heap, entered the forest, and gathered a great many pupils
about him. When he returns, it behooves me to ask him some ques-
tions.” Now somewhat later the older monk came to see the Teacher,
and leaving his bowl and robe with his fellow-elder, went and greeted
the Teacher and the eighty Chief Elders, afterwards returning to the
place of residence of his fellow-elder. The younger monk showed him
the customary attentions, provided him with a seat of the same size
as his own, and then sat down, thinking to himself, “I will ask him a
question.”

At that moment the Teacher thought to himself, “Should this
monk annoy this my son, he is likely to be reborn in Hell.” So out of
compassion for him, pretending to be going the rounds of the monastery,
he went to the place where the two monks were sitting and sat down
on the Seat of the Buddha already prepared. (For wherever the
monks sit down, they first prepare the Seat of the Buddha, and not
until they have so done do they themselves sit down. [156] Therefore
the Teacher sat down on a seat already prepared for him.) And when
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he had sat down, he asked the monk who had taken upon himself the
Duty of Study a question on the First Trance. When the younger
monk had answered this question correctly, the Teacher, beginning
with the Second Trance, asked him questions about the Eight Attain-
ments and about Form and the Formless World, all of which he
answered correctly. Then the Teacher asked him a question about
the Path of Conversion, and he was unable to answer it. Thereupon
the Teacher asked the monk who was an Arahat, and the Iatter im-
mediately gave the correct answer.

“Well done, well done, monk!” said the Teacher, greatly pleased.
The Teacher then asked questions about the remaining Paths in order.
The monk who had taken upon himself the Duty of Study was unable
to answer a single question, while the monk who had attained unto
Arahatship answered every question he asked. On each of four occa-
sions the Teacher bestowed applause on him. Hearing this, all the
deities, from the gods of earth to the gods of the World of Brahma,
including Nagas and Garudas, shouted their applause.

Hearing this applause, the pupils and fellow-residents of the
younger monk were offended at the Teacher and said, “Why did the
Teacher do this? He bestowed applause on each of four occasions on the
old monk who knows nothing at all. But to our own teacher, who
knows all the Sacred Word by heart and is at the head of five hundred
monks, he gave no praise at all.”” The Teacher asked them, “Monks,
what is it you are talking about?”” When they told him, he said,
“Monks, your own teacher is in my Religion like a man who tends
cows for hire. But my son is like a master who enjoys the five products
of the cow at his own good pleasure.” So saying, he pronounced the
following Stanzas, [157]

19. Though he utter much that is sensible, if the heedless man be not a doer of the word,
He is like a cowherd counting the cows of others, and has no part in the Religious
Life.

20. Though he utter little that is sensible, if a man live according to the Law,
If he forsake lust and hatred and delusion, if he have right knowledge, if his
heart is truly free,
If he cling to naught in this world or in that which is to come, such a man has a
share in the Religious Life.



BOOK II. HEEDFULNESS, APPAMADA VAGGA

II. 1. STORY-CYCLE OF KING UDENA OR UDAYANA!

Heedfulness 13 the Way to the Deathless. This religious instruction
was given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Ghosita mon-
astery near Kosambi, and it was with reference to the loss by death of
the five hundred women led by Samavati and of Magandiya and her
five hundred kinswomen. From beginning to end the story is as fol-
lows: [161] ’

Part 1. Birth and youthful career of Udena

Once upon a time King Allakappa ruled over the kingdom of
Allakappa and King Vethadipaka ruled over the kingdom of Vetha-
dipaka. They had been intimate friends since their boyhood-days and
had received their education in the house of the same teacher. On.
the death of their fathers they raised the royal parasol and became
rulers of kingdoms, each of which was ten leagues in extent. '

As they met from time to time, and stood and sat and lay down to
sleep together, and watched the multitudes being born into the world
and dying again, they came to the conclusion, ‘“When a man goes to
the world beyond he can take nothing with him: [162] he must leave
everything behind him when he goes thither; even his own body does
not follow him; of what use to us is the life of the householder? Let
us retire from the world.” .

Accordingly they resigned their kingdoms to son and wife, retired
from the world, adopted the life of ascetics, and took up their residence
in the Himalaya country. And they took counsel together, saying,
“Although we have renounced our kingdoms and retired from the
world, we shall encounter no difficulty in gaining a living; but if we
reside together in the same place, our life will be quite unlike the life
of ascetics; therefore let us live apart. You live on this mountain;
I will live on that. Every fortnight, on fast-day, we will meet to-
gether.” Then this thought occurred to them, “Under this arrange-

1 For a discussion of the parallels to the Story-Cycle of Udena, see Introduction,
§ 11. See also Rogers, Buddhaghosha’s Parables, v, pp. 32-60. Text: N i. 161-231.
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ment neither of us will be in regular communication with the other;
but in order that each of us may know whether the other is living or
not, you light a fire on your mountain, and I will light a fire on mine.”
And this they did.

After a time the ascetic Vethadipaka died and was reborn as a
prince of deities of mighty power. A fortnight later Allakappa saw
no fire on the mountain and knew that his comrade was dead. As
soon as ever Vethadipaka was reborn, he surveyed his own heavenly
glory, considered the deeds of his former existence, reviewed the
austerities he had performed from the day when he retired from the
world, and said to himself, “I will go see my comrade.” Accordingly
he laid aside his form as a deity, disguised himself as a wayfarer, went
to Allakappa, paid obeisance to him, and stood respectfully on one
side.

Allakappa said to him, “Whence have you come?” [163] “I am
a wayfarer, Reverend Sir; I have come a long distance. But, Reverend
Sir, does your honor reside entirely alone in this place? Is there no
one else here?”” “I have a single comrade.” ‘“Where is he?” ‘“He
resides on that mountain; but as he failed to light a fire on fast-day,
I know he must be dead.” “Is that so, Reverend Sir?”> ““That is so,
brother.” “I am he, Reverend Sir.” ‘“Where were you reborn?”
““Reverend Sir, I was reborn in the World of the Gods as a prince of
deities of mighty power. I have returned to see your honor. Does
your honorable self reside in this place undisturbed, or are you subject
to some annoyance?”’ ‘Yes, brother, I am bothered to death by the
elephants.” “Reverend Sir, what do the elephants do to trouble you?”
“They drop dung on the ground I have swept clean, and they stamp
with their feet and kick up the dust. What with removing the dung
and smoothing the ground, I am all worn out.” ‘“Well, would you
like to keep them away?” “Yes, brother.” ‘“Well then, I will provide
you with means whereby you can keep them away.”

Accordingly Vethadipaka gave Allakappa a lute to charm elephants
with and likewise taught him spells for charming elephants. Now as he
presented the lute to him, he showed him three strings and taught him
three spells. “Strike this string,” said he, “and utter this spell, and
the elephants will turn and run away without so much as daring even
to look at you; strike this string and utter this spell, and they will
turn and run away, eyeing you at every step; strike this string and
utter this spell, and the leader of the herd will come up and offer you
his back. Now do as you like.” With these words [164] he departed.
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Thereafter the ascetic lived in peace, driving the elephants away by
uttering the proper spell and striking the proper string.

At this time Parantapa was king of Kosambi. One day he was
sitting out in the open air basking himself in the rays of the newly risen
sun, and beside him sat his queen, great with child. The queen was
wearing the king’s cloak, a crimson blanket worth a hundred thousand
pieces of money; and as she sat there conversing with the king she
removed from the king’s finger the royal signet, worth a hundred
thousand pieces of money, and slipped it on her own.

Just at that moment a monster bird with a bill as big as an ele-
phant’s trunk came soaring through the air. Seeing the queen and
mistaking her for a piece of meat, he spread his wings and swooped
down. When the king heard the bird swoop down, he sprang to his
feet and entered the royal palace. But the queen, because she was
great with child and because she was of a timid nature, was unable
to make haste. The bird pounced upon her, caught her up in the cage
of his talons, and soared away with her into the air. (These birds are
said to possess the strength of five elephants; they are therefore able
to convey their victims through the air, settle wherever they wish,
and devour their flesh.)

As the queen was being carried away by the bird, terrified though
she was with the fear of death, she preserved her presence of mind and
thought to herself, ‘“Animals stand in great fear of the human voice.
Therefore if I cry out, this bird will drop me the instant he hears the
sound of my voice. But in that case I should accomplish only my own
destruction and that of my unborn child. If, however, I wait until he
settles somewhere and begins to eat, then I can make a noise and
frighten him away.” Through her own wisdom, therefore, she kept
patience and endured.

Now there stood at that time in the Himalaya country a banyan-
tree which, although of brief growth, had attained great size [165]
and was like a pavilion in form; and to this tree that bird was accus-
tomed to convey the carcasses of wild animals and eat them. To this
very tree, therefore, the bird conveyed the queen, lodged her in a
fork of the tree, and watched the path leading to the tree. (It is the
nature of these birds, we are told, to watch the path leading to their
tree.) At that moment the queen, thinking to herself, ‘“Now is the
time to frighten him away,” raised both her hands, clapped them
together and shouted, and frightened the bird away.

At sunset the pains of travail came upon her, and at the same time
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from all the four quarters of heaven arose a great storm. The delicate
queen, half dead with suffering, with no one beside her to say to her,
“Fear not, lady,” slept not at all throughout the night. As the night
grew bright, the clouds scattered, the dawn came, and her child was
born at one and the same moment. Because the child was born at
the time (ufu) of a storm, at the time when she was upon a mountain,
and at the time when the sun rose, she named her son Udena.

Not far from that tree was the place of residence of the ascetic
Allakappa. Now on rainy days it was the custom of the ascetic not
to go into the forest for fruits and berries, for fear of the cold. Instead
he used to go to the foot of the tree and gather up the bones from which
the birds had picked the flesh; then he would pound the bones, make
broth of them, and drink the broth. On that very day, therefore, he
went there to get bones. As he was picking up bones at the foot of
the tree, [166] he heard the voice of a child in the branches above.

Looking up, he saw the queen. “Who are you?” said he. “I am
a woman.” ‘“How did you get there?”” ‘A monster bird brought me
here.” “Come down,” said he. “Your honor, I am afraid to come
down on account of difference of caste.” ‘“Of what caste are you?”
“Of the Warrior caste.” “I am also of the Warrior caste.” “Well
then, give me the password of the Warrior caste.” He did so. “Well
then, climb up and set down my boy.” Finding a way to climb the
tree on one side, he climbed up and took the boy in his arms; obeying
the queen’s behest not to touch her with his hand, he set the boy down;
then the queen herself came down. )

The ascetic conducted the queen along the path to his hermitage
and cared for her tenderly without in any way violating his vow of
chastity. He brought honey free from flies and gave it to her; he
brought rice grown in his own field and prepared broth and gave it
to her. Thus did he minister to her needs.

After a time she thought to herself, “For my part I know neither
the way to come nor the way to go, nor can I repose absolute con-
fidence even in this ascetic. Now if he were to leave us and go else-
where, we should both perish right here. I must by some means
seduce him to violate his vow of chastity, so that he will not abandon
us. Accordingly she displayed herself before him with under and upper
garments in disarray, and thus seduced him to violate his vow of
chastity; thenceforth the two lived together.

One day, as the ascetic was observing a conjunction of a constella-
tion with one of the lunar mansions, he saw the occultation of Paran-
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tapa’s star. “My lady,” said he, “Parantapa, king of Kosambi, is
dead.” [167] ‘“‘Noble sir, why do you speak thus? Why do you bear
ill-will against him?” “I bear him no ill-will, my lady. I say this
because I have just seen the occultation of his star.” She burst into
tears. “Why do you weep?” he asked. Then she told him that
Parantapa was her own husband. The ascetic replied, “Weep not,
my lady; whoever is horn is certain to die.”” ‘I know that, noble sir.”
“Then why do you weep?”’ ‘I weep, noble sir, because it pains me to
think, ‘To my son belongs the sovereignty by right of succession; had
he been there, he would have raised the white parasol; now he has
become one of the common herd.””” ‘“Never mind, my lady; be not
disturbed. If you desire that he shall receive the sovereignty, I will
devise some means by which he shall receive it.” Accordingly the
ascetic gave the boy the lute to charm elephants with and likewise
taught him the spells for charming elephants.

Now at that time many thousands of elephants came and sat at
the foot of the banyan-tree. So the ascetic said to the boy, “Climb
the tree before the elephants come, and when they come, utter this
spell and strike this string, and they will all turn and run away, with-
out even so much as daring to look at you; then descend and come to
me.” The boy did as he was told, and then went and told the ascetic.
On the second day the ascetic said to him, “To-day utter this spell
and strike this string, if you please, and they will turn and run away,
eyeing you at every step.” On that day also the boy did as he was
told, and then went [168] and told the ascetic.

Then the ascetic addressed the mother, saying, “My lady, give
your son his message and he will go hence and become king.” So she
addressed her son, saying, “You must say, ‘I am the son of King
Parantapa of Kosambi; a monster bird carried me off.” Then you
must utter the names of the commander-in-chief and the other generals.
If they still refuse to believe you, you must show them this blanket
which was your father’s cloak and this signet-ring which he wore on his
finger.” With these words she dismissed him.

The boy said to the ascetic, “Now what shall I do?”” The ascetic
replied, ““Seat yourself on the lowest branch of the tree, utter this spell
and strike this string, and the leader of the elephants will approach and
offer you his back. Seat yourself on his back, go to your kingdom,
and take the sovereignty.”” The boy did reverence to his parents,
and following the instructions of the ascetic, seated himself on the
back of the elephant and whispered in his ear, “I am the son of King
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Parantapa of Kosambi. Get me and give me the sovereignty which I
have inherited from my father.” When the elephant heard that, he
trumpeted, “Let many thousands of elephants assemble;” and many
thousands of elephants assembled. Again a second time he trumpeted,
“Let the old, weak elephants retire;” and the old, weak elephants
retired. The third time he trumpeted, “Let those that are very young
retire;” and they also retired.

So the boy went forth, surrounded by many thousands of warrior-
elephants, and reaching a village on the frontier, proclaimed, “I am
the son of the king; [169] let those who desire worldly prosperity
come with me.” Levying forces as he proceeded, he invested the city
and sent the following message to the citizens, “Give me battle or the
kingdom.” The citizens answered, ‘“We will give neither. Our queen
was carried off by a monster bird when she was great with child, and
we know not whether she is alive or dead. So long as we hear no news
of her, we will give neither battle nor the kingdom.” (At that time,
we are told, the kingdom was handed down from father to son.) There-
upon the boy said, “I am her son.” So saying, he uttered the names
of the commander-in-chief and the other generals, and when they still
refused to believe him, showed the blanket and the ring. They recog-
nized the blanket and the ring, opened the gates, and sprinkled him
king.

Part 2. Birth and youthful career of Ghosaka
Story of the Past: Kotiihalaka casts away his son

Once upon a time there was a famine in the kingdom of Ajita, and
a man named Kotiihalaka, unable to get a living, took his young son
Kapi and his wife Kaili, and thinking, “I will go to Kosambi and get a
living there,” set out with provisions for the journey. (There are
also those who say that he left his home because the people were dying
of intestinal disease.) As they proceeded on their journey, their
provisions gave out, and finally they were so overcome with hunger
that they were not able to carry the boy. Thereupon the husband
said to his wife, ‘“Wife, if we live, we shall have another son. Let us
cast this child away and continue our journey alone.” .

There is a proverb, ‘“A mother’s heart is tender,” and so it was
with this woman. She replied, “I could never cast away a living
child.” “Well, what shall we do?”” “Carry him by turns.”” When
the mother’s turn came, she would lift the child like a wreath of flowers,
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clasp him to her breast, [170] or carry him on her hip, finally giving
him back to his father. When the father took the child, no matter
where he held him he suffered more intense pain than ever from hunger.
Again and again he said to his wife, “ Wife, if we live, we shall have
another son. Let us cast this child away.” But this the mother
steadfastly refused to do.

Finally the child became so tired from being passed back and forth
that he fell asleep in the arms of his father. When the father observed
that he was asleep, allowing the mother to precede him, he went and
laid the child on a couch of leaves under a bush, immediately resuming
his journey. The mother turned, looked back, and not seeing the
child, asked, ‘“Husband, where is my son?” “I laid him down under
a certain bush.” “Husband, do not kill me. Without my son I
cannot live. Bring my son back to me.” And she smote upon her
breast and wept. So the husband retraced his steps, recovered the
child, and brought him back to her. (In consequence of having cast
away his child on this one occasion, Kotiihalaka was himself cast away
seven times in a later existence. Let no one regard an evil deed lightly,
saying, ‘It is only a small matter.”)

Continuing their journey, they came to the house of a certain
herdsman. On that day, as it happened, one of the herdsman’s cows
had calved, and the herdsman was about to hold the customary
festival in honor of the event. Now a certain Private Buddha was
accustomed to take his meals in the house of the hersdman. The
herdsman, after providing the Private Buddha with food, celebrated
the cow-festival with an abundant supply of rice-porridge. When the
herdsman saw the visitors, he asked them, “ Whence have you come?”
They told him the whole story, whereupon the tender-hearted youth
took pity on them and saw to it that they were given rice-porridge
with a plentiful supply of ghee. The wife said to the husband, ‘“Hus-
band, if only you can live, I can live. For a long time you have not
had sufficient food. Now eat to your heart’s content.” So saying,
she set the ghee and curds before him, eating only a little of the ghee
herself. The husband ate heartily; but so intense was the hunger
from which he had suffered during the preceding seven or eight days
that he was unable to satisfy it.

When the herdsman had seen to it that they were provided with
rice-porridge, [171] he began himself to eat. Now under the herds-
man’s stool lay a bitch he had raised, and as the herdsman sat there
eating, he fed her with morsels of rice-porridge. Kotiihalaka watched
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him feed her and thought to himself, “Fortunate indeed is that bitch
to get such food to eat!” Kotihalaka was unable to digest the rice-
porridge he had eaten, died during the night, and received a new
existence in the womb of that very bitch.

His wife performed the funeral ceremonies over his body, and
remaining in that very house, worked for hire. Receiving a pint-pot
of rice, she cooked it and placed it in the bowl of the Private Buddha,
saying, ‘“May these grains of rice bring a reward to your servant.”
And she thought to herself, “It would be well for me to remain right
here. The Private Buddha comes here regularly; and whether there
be alms or not, I shall have the privilege of paying obeisance to him
each day and of ministering to him. By so doing I shall obtain peace
of mind and earn much merit.” And she remained right there working .
for hire.

After six or seven months the bitch gave birth to a single pup.
The herdsman reserved the milk of one cow for the pup, and in no
long time he grew to be a fine big dog. When the Private Buddha ate
his meal, he invariably gave him a portion of his rice; and because of
this the dog became deeply attached to the Private Buddha.

Now the herdsman was accustomed to go regularly twice each day
to wait upon the Private Buddha, and the dog always went with him.
On the way was a lair of wild beasts, and the herdsman used to frighten
the wild beasts away by striking bushes and ground with a stick and
calling out three times, “Su! su!” One day he said to the Private
Buddha, “Reverend Sir, in case at any time I should be unable to
come, I will send this dog for you. Therefore if I send him, please
understand that I wish you to come.”

A few days later the herdsman found it inconvenient to go in
person. He therefore sent the dog in his place, saying, “Boy, go bring
his reverence back.” At the mere word of the herdsman the dog
started off. Where he had seen his master stop and strike bushes and
ground, the dog also stopped and barked three times; and when he
was sure that his barking had frightened away the wild beasts, he
went on. [172] Early in the morning, having attended to nature’s
needs, he entered the hut of leaves and grass, went to the place where
the Private Buddha sat, barked three times by way of announcing
his arrival, and then lay down at one side. By this the Private Buddha
knew that it was time for him to go, and therefore started out. The
dog ran before him, barking constantly. From time to time the
Private Buddha tested the dog by taking the wrong path; but every
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time he did so the dog, by standing across the path and barking,
intimated to him to take the other path.

One day the Private Buddha took the wrong path, and when the
dog tried to stop him, without turning back, he pushed away the dog
with his foot and went on. The dog, perceiving that he did not intend
to turn back, took the hem of his undergarment in his teeth and
dragged him along until he brought him to the right path. Such was
the strength of the affection of the dog for the Private Buddha.

Later on the Private Buddha'’s robe wore out. When the herdsman
provided him with materials for a new set of robes, the Private Buddha
said to him, “Brother, it is difficult for a person all alone to make a
robe. I will go to a convenient place and have it made forme.” “Make
it right here, Reverend Sir.”” “No, brother, I cannot.” ‘“Well then,
Reverend Sir, do not take up your residence far from here.” The
dog stood listening to every word they said. The Private Buddha
said, “Wait a moment, brother.”” Thereupon, leaving the herds-
man behind, he flew up into the air and departed in the direction of
Gandhamadana.

When the dog saw him flying through the air, [173] he began to
bark and howl, and he kept this up until the Private Buddha gradually
faded from view, whereupon his heart broke. (Animals, they say, are
straightforward and not given to deceit; men, however, think one
thing in their heart, but say another with their lips. Therefore said
the Exalted One to a monk, “The ways of men are past finding out,
but the ways of the beasts are easy to discover.””) So when the dog
died, he was reborn, because of his straightforwardness and lack of
deceit, in the World of the Thirty-three with a retinue of a thousand
celestial nymphs, and there he enjoyed glory and bliss unspeakable.
When he but whispered, his voice carried a distance of sixteen leagues;
when he spoke in an ordinary tone, he could be heard all over the city
of the gods, a city ten thousand leagues in extent. (Do you ask, ‘“Of
what was this the consequence?”” It was because he barked and
howled for love of the Private Buddha.)

Remaining in the World of the Thirty-three for no long time, he
passed from that state of existence. (Deities pass from the World of
the Gods through four causes: exhaustion of life, exhaustion of merit,
exhaustion of food, and anger. He that has earned much merit is
reborn in the World of the Gods, remains there during the term
allotted to him, and is then reborn higher and higher. Thus he passes
through “exhaustion of life.” He that has earned little merit soon
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exhausts that merit, just as three or four pint-pots of rice tossed into
a royal storehouse disappear; and he therefore soon dies. Thus he
passes through “exhaustion of merit.”” Still a third, while enjoying
the pleasures of sense, fails through confusion of memory to partake
of food, and the strength of his body being thereby impaired, dies.
Thus he passes through “exhaustion of food.” A fourth, jealous of
the glory of another, [174] becomes angry and dies. Thus he passes
through ““anger.”)

Story of the Present: Ghosaka is cast away seven times

Ghosaka, while enjoying the pleasures of sense, became forgetful,
passed, through exhaustion of food, from the World of the Thirty-three,
and was conceived in the womb of a courtezan of Kosambi. On the
day when the courtezan gave birth to the child, she asked her slave-
woman, “What is it?”’ ‘A son, my lady.” “Very well, put this boy
into an old winnowing basket and cast him away on the dust-heap.”
Thus she caused him to be cast away. (Courtezans will bestow care on
a daughter, but not on a son, for it is through a daughter that their
line of business is maintained.) Crows and dogs surrounded the child
and huddled about him; but in consequence of his barking and howling
for love of the Private Buddha, not one dared to approach him.

At that moment a man came out and saw the crows and dogs all
huddled together. “What does this mean?” thought he to himself,
going nearer. When he saw the boy, he immediately took a fancy to
him, and saying to himself, “I have gained a son,” he picked the boy
up and took him home with him.

Now the treasurer of Kosambi happened at that time to go to the
royal palace. Seeing the house-priest returning from the royal resi-
dence, he asked him, “Teacher, have you observed a conjunction of a
constellation with one of the lunar mansions to-day?”’ ‘Yes, great
treasurer. What else have we to do?” ‘““What will happen to the
country?” “Only this: a boy has been born in this city to-day who will
one day become the principal treasurer.” As the treasurer’s wife was
at that time great with child, he immediately sent a messenger to his
house, saying, “Go find out whether or not she has given birth to a
child.”

He received the answer that she had not yet given birth to a child.
Therefore, as soon as he had seen the king, he went home quickly,
summoned a slave-woman named Kali, gave her a thousand pieces of
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money, [175] and said, “Go scour this city, find the boy that was
born to-day, and bring him hither to me.”” While she was scouring
the city, she came to the house where the child was and asked the
mistress of the house, “ When was this boy born?”” “To-day.” “Give
him to me,” said she, first offering a penny and gradually increasing
the amount until finally, by offering a thousand pieces of money, she
obtained him. Then she took him with her and presented him to the
treasurer.

The treasurer gave him a home in his house, thinking to himself,
“If a daughter is born to me, I will marry her to this boy and make him
treasurer; but if a son is born to me, I will kill him.” After a few
days his wife gave birth to a son. Thereupon the treasurer thought
to himself, “If only this foundling did not exist, my own son would
obtain the post of treasurer. I had best kill him immediately.” So
he said to Kall, “Carry this child to the cattle-pen, and when it is
time for the cattle to come out, lay him across the doorway, and the
cattle will trample him to death. Observe whether or not they trample
him to death, and then come back and tell me.”

She carried the child to the cattle-pen, and as soon as the door
was opened, laid him across the doorway. Now at other times the
leader of the herd, the bull, came out last of all; but on this particular
day he came out first, inclosed the boy with his four feet, and stood
stock still. Several hundred cows came out on either side of the bull,
rubbing against his flanks as they passed. The herdsman thought to
himself, “Hitherto this bull has always gone out last of all, but to-day
he went out first and stood stock still in the doorway of the pen. What
can this mean?” Going near, he saw the boy lying under the bull.
Immediately taking a fancy to him, he said to himself, “I have gained
a son,” and picking him up, he carried him home.

Kali went back to the treasurer and in answer to his question told
him what had happened. Said the treasurer, “Go to the herdsman,
give him these thousand pieces of money, and bring the child back to
me again.” So she brought the child back again and gave him to the
treasurer. [176] Then he said to her, “Good Kall, five hundred carts
start from this city at dawn on a trading expedition. Take this child
and lay him in the track of the wheels. Either the oxen will trample
him under their feet or the wheels will crush him to death. Observe
what happens to him, and then return to me.”

She took the child and laid him down in the track of the wheels.
The leader of the caravan came first; but when his oxen reached the
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place where the child lay, they threw off the yoke. Again and again
the leader replaced the yoke and tried to drive the oxen forwards;
but as often as he did so, they threw off the yoke and refused to move.
He was still struggling with them when the sun rose. ‘“Why have the
oxen acted thus?”’ thought he. He looked at the road and saw the
boy. “Oh, what a grievous wrong I have done!” thought he. His
heart was filled with joy at the thought, “I have gained a son,” and
picking up the boy, he carried him off.

Kali went back to the treasurer and in answer to his question told
him what had happened. Said the treasurer, “Go to the caravan-
leader, give him a thousand pieces of money, and bring the child back
to me again.”” When she had so done, he said to her, “Now carry him
to the burning-ground and lay him in the bushes. There he will
either be eaten by dogs or attacked by demons, and he will die. As
soon as you know whether or not he is dead, return to me.”

She took the child, laid him in the bushes, and stood at one side.
But neither dog nor crow nor demon dared to approach him. (Pray,
if he had neither mother nor father nor brother nor other kinsman to
protect him, what was it that did protect him? All that protected him
was his howling for love of the Private Buddha in his former existence
as a dog.) ‘

Just then a goatherd passed on one side of the burning-ground,
leading several thousand goats to pasture. ‘A certain she-goat made
her way into the bushes eating leaves and grass, and seeing the boy,
knelt down and gave him suck. The goatherd called, “He! he!” but
she did not come out. Thereupon he said to himself, “I will beat her
with my stick and bring her out.” So saying, he made his way into the
bushes. [177] And there he saw the she-goat on her knees, giving suck
to the boy. He immediately took a fancy to the boy, and saying to
himself, “I have gained a son,” picked him up and carried him off. #

Kali went back to the treasurer and in answer to his question told
him what had happened. Said the treasurer, “Go to the goatherd,
give him a thousand pieces of money, and bring the child back to
me again.”” When she had so done, he said to her, “Good Kali, take
this child with you, climb the mountain that is known as Robbers’
Cliff, and throw him down the precipice. He will strike against the
sides of the ravine and be dashed to pieces when he reaches the bottom.
As soon as you know whether or not he is dead, return to me.”

She carried the child to Robbers’ Cliff, and standing at the top of
the mountain, threw him down. Now there grew along the mountain
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near that abyss a dense bamboo thicket, and the top of the mountain
was covered with a thick growth of gufja shrub. As the boy fell, he
dropped into this bamboo thicket as into a coverlet of goat’s hair.
Now that very day the leader of the reed-makers had received a gift
of bamboo and accompanied by his son, he had gone to chop that
thicket down. As he began his work, the bamboo shook and the
boy cried out. “That sounds like the voice of a boy,” thought he.
Climbing up on one side, he saw the boy. His heart was filled with
joy at the thought, “I have gained a son,” and picking up the boy, he
carried him off.

Kali went back to the treasurer and in answer to his question told
him what had happened. Said the treasurer, “Go to the reed-maker,
give him a thousand pieces of money, and bring the child back to me
again.”” She did so. But in spite of the treasurer’s attempts on his
life, the child lived and thrived and grew to manhood. Ghosaka was
his name. He was like a thorn in the eye of the treasurer, who could
not look him straight in the face.

Thinking of a way to kill him, the treasurer went to a friend of his
who was a potter and asked him, “When are you going to fire your
bake-house?” ““To-morrow.” [178] “Well then, take these thousand
pieces of money and do a job for me.” ‘“What is it, master?” “I
have a single base-born son. I will send him to you. Take him into
an inner room, chop him to pieces with a sharp axe, throw him into
a chatty, and bake him in the bake-house. Here are a thousand pieces
of money, to seal the bargain, as it were. But in addition I will reward
you suitably later.” ‘“Very well,” said the potter, consenting to the
bargain. '

On the following day the treasurer summoned Ghosaka and sent
him to the potter, saying, “Yesterday I left an order with the potter
to do a certain piece of work for me. Go say to him, ‘Finish the job
my father gave you yesterday.”” “Very well,” said Ghosaka, and
set out.

As Ghosaka was on his way to the potter’s, the treasurer’s other
son, who was playing marbles with some boys, saw him. And calling
to him, he asked, “ Where are you going?”’ “I am carrying a message
to the potter for father.” “Let me go there. These boys have won a
big stake from me. You win it back and give it to me.” “I am afraid
of father.” “Do not fear, brother; I will carry that message. I have
lost a big stake. You play until I return again, and win the stake
back for me.”
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(We are told that Ghosaka was skillful at shooting marbles, and
that for this reason his foster-brother was so insistent.)

So Ghosaka consented to let his foster-brother go in his place,
saying, “Well then, go to the potter and say to him, ‘Finish the job
my father gave you yesterday.””” Thus it happened that the treasurer’s
own son carried the message to the potter. The potter killed him
according to the letter of the directions he had received from the
treasurer and threw his body into the bake-house. Ghosaka played
marbles all day and went home in the evening. [179] “You have
returned home, son?”’ queried the treasurer. Ghosaka then told him
the reason why he had himself returned home and let his younger
brother go to the potter.
~ “Woe is me!” cried the treasurer with a loud voice. He looked as

though the blood had been drawn from his veins. He rushed to the
potter, wringing his hands and wailing, “Oh, potter, do not kill me!
do not kill me!” The potter saw him approaching in this wise and
said to him, ‘“Master, make no noise; the job is done.” Thus was
the treasurer overwhelmed with sorrow as with a mountain. Thus did
he suffer great grief, even as do all who offend against those that are
without offense. Therefore said the Exalted One,

137. Whosoever visits punishment on those that deserve not punishment,
Whosoever offends against those that are without offense,
Such an one will right quickly come to one of ten states:

138. He will incur cruel suffering, or infirmity, or injury of the body,
Or severe sickness, or loss of mind,

139. Or misfortune proceeding from the king, or a heavy accusation,
Or death of relatives, or loss of treasures,

140. Or else the fire of lightning will consume his houses;
Upon dissolution of the body such a fool will go to Hell. [180]

Now under these circumstances the treasurer was unable to look
Ghosaka straight in the face. “How can I manage to kill him?”
thought he. Finally he thought of a way. “I will send him to the
superintendent of my hundred villages and order him to kill him,”
said he to himself. Accordingly he wrote the following letter to the
superintendent, “This is my base-born son. Kill him and throw him
into the cesspool. Let this be done, and I shall know how to reward
my uncle properly.” Then he said to his foster-son, “Dear Ghosaka,
there is a superintendent over our hundred villages. Take this letter
and give it to him.” So saying, he fastened the letter to the hem of
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his garment. (Now Ghosaka did not know how to read and write, for
ever since he was a boy the treasurer had striven, although without
success, to kill him. Why, therefore, should he have taught him to
read and write?) As Ghosaka set out with his own death-warrant
fastened to the hem of his garment, he said to his father, ‘“Father,
I have no provisions for the journey.” ‘“You have no need of pro-
visions for the journey. On the way, in such and such a village, lives
a friend of mine who is a treasurer. Obtain your breakfast at his
house, and then continue your journey.” *“Very well,”” said Ghosaka,
and bowing to his father, set out on his journey.

When he arrived at the village, he inquired where the treasurer’s
house was, went there, and saw the treasurer’s wife. ‘“Whence have
you come?”’ she inquired. ““From the city,” he replied. ‘“Whose son
are you?” “I am the son of your friend the treasurer, my lady.”
“Then you are Ghosaka.” ‘“Yes, my lady.” She fell in love with him
at first sight. Now the treasurer had a daughter about fifteen or
sixteen years of age, and she was exceedingly beautiful and fair to
look upon. In order to keep her safe and sound, her parents lodged her
on the topmost floor of a seven-storied palace in an apartment of royal
splendor, giving her a single slave-girl to run errands. [181] At that
moment the treasurer’s daughter sent this slave-girl to a shop. The
treasurer’s wife, seeing her, asked, “Where are you going?”’ “On an
errand for your daughter, my lady.” “Just come here a moment.
Never mind the errand. Spread a seat for my son, bathe his feet, anoint
them with oil, and then spread a couch for him. After you have done
this, you may do your errand.” The slave-girl did as she was told.

When she returned, the treasurer’s daughter scolded her for her
long absence. The slave-girl replied, “Be not angry with me. The
treasurer’s son Ghosaka has arrived, and I had to do this and that
for him, besides going on an errand for you, before I returned.” When
the treasurer’s daughter heard the name ‘“treasurer’s son Ghosaka,”
love suffused her body, cleaving her skin and penetrating the marrow
of her bones.

(For she had been his wife in his former existence as Kotiihalaka
and had given a pint-pot of rice to the Private Buddha. And through
his supernatural power she had been reborn in the household of the
treasurer. No wonder her old passion for him returned and over-
whelmed her! Therefore said the Exalted One,

Through previous association or present advantage,
That love springs up like a lily in the water.)
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The treasurer’s daughter said to the slave-girl, “Girl, where is he?’”
“He is lying asleep on the couch.” ‘“Has he anything in his hand?’’
“There is a letter fastened to his garment.” ‘“What can be in this
letter?”” she thought. So while Ghosaka was asleep, and her mother
and father were otherwise engaged, she came down without attracting
their attention, detached the letter from his garment, took it with her,
went into her room, closed the door, opened the window, and through
her knowledge of writing read the letter. “Oh!’ she exclaimed, “the
simpleton is going about with his own death-warrant fastened to
his garment. [182] Had I not seen it, he would surely have been
killed.”

So she tore up this letter and wrote another in the name of the
treasurer as follows, “This is my son Ghosaka. Procure presents for
him from my hundred villages. Prepare a festival in honor of his
marriage with the daughter of this district-treasurer. Build him a
two-storied house in the center of the village wherein he resides.
Surround his house with a wall and with a guard of men, and so provide
him with ample protection. Then send me a message, saying, ‘I have
done thus and so,’” and I shall know how to reward my uncle properly.”
Having written the letter, she folded it up and fastened it to the hem |
of his garment.

After sleeping all day, Ghosaka arose, ate his meal, and went on
his way. Early on the morning of the following day he arrived at
that village and saw the superintendent performing his village duties.
When the superintendent saw him, he asked him, “What is it, dear
Ghosaka?” ‘““My father has sent you a letter.”” ‘“What is it about,
dear Ghosaka? Bring it to me.” He took the letter and read it,
and then said with an exclamation of delight, “See, men, how my
master loves me. He has sent me a message, saying, ‘Prepare a festival
in honor of my oldest son.” Bring wood and other building materials
immediately.” Having thus given orders to the householders, he
caused a house of the kind described in the letter to be erected in the
center of the village, had presents brought from the hundred villages,
conducted the daughter of the district-treasurer thither, celebrated
the marriage festival, and then sent word to the treasurer, saying, “I
have done thus and so.”

When the treasurer received the message, he said, “What I would
do, that I do not; what I would not do, that I do.” Disappointment
over the failure of his latest plan, together with sorrow over the death
of his own son, set him on fire within and produced diarrhea.
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The treasurer’s daughter gave orders, saying, “Should anyone
come here from the treasurer, tell me before you tell the treasurer’s
son.” [183] The treasurer said to himself, ““At any rate I will not
make this rascally son of mine heir to my property.” With this thought
in mind he said to a certain official, “Uncle, I wish to see my son. Send
a servant and summon my son.” “Very well,” replied the official,
and giving a certain man the letter, sent him away.

When the treasurer’s daughter heard that the servant had arrived
and was standing at the door, she sent for him and asked him, “What
is it, my man?” “The treasurer is sick and wishes to see his son, and
has therefore sent for him, my lady.” ‘“My man, is he strong or
weak?” “He is still strong, my lady, and able to take nourishment.”
Without letting the treasurer’s son know, she ordered that the man
should be given lodging and expenses and said to him, “You may go
when I send you. Remain here for the present.”

Again the treasurer addressed the official, ‘“Uncle, did you not send
a messenger to my son?”’ “I did, master, but the man who went has
not yet returned.” ‘““Well then, try again and send another.” So
the official sent another man, and the treasurer’s daughter treated
him just as she had the first. The treasurer’s condition grew worse;
one chamber-pot went in and another came out. Again the treasurer
asked the official, “Uncle, did you not send a messenger to my son?”
“I did, master, but the man who went has not yet returned.” “Well
then, try again and send another.” So the official sent another man.
When the third messenger arrived, the treasurer’s daughter asked
him the news. ‘“The treasurer is a very sick man, my lady. He refuses
to eat and is confined to his bed. One chamber-pot comes out and
another goes in.”

“Now it is time to go,” thought the treasurer’s daughter. So she
said to the treasurer’s son, “I learn that your father is sick.” ‘“Wife,
what say you?” ‘It may be only a slight ailment, husband.” ‘“What
is to be done now?”’. [184] “Let us take presents from his hundred
villages and go see him.” “Very well,” said he. Having caused
presents to be brought, he started out, conveying the presents in a
cart. Then she said to him, “Your father is very weak. If we take
all these presents, we shall be delayed on the way; send them back.”
Having sent all the presents back to their own house, she said to the
treasurer’s son, ‘“Husband, please stand at your father’s feet; I will
stand beside his pillow.” And as they entered the house, she gave
orders to her own men, “Stand on guard both in the front of the house
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and in the rear.” And when they had entered, the treasurer’s son
took his stand at his father’s feet and his wife beside his pillow.

At that moment the treasurer was lying on his back and the official
was rubbing his feet. The latter said to him, ‘“Master, your son has
arrived.” “Where is he?” “Here he is, standing at your feet.”
When the treasurer saw his son, he sent for the receiver of his revenues
and asked him, “How much wealth is there in my house?”” ‘ Master,
of money alone there are four hundred millions; as for objects for
employment and enjoyment, such as villages and fields and men and
animals and wagons and carriages, such and such is the total.” It
was the treasurer’s intention to say, ‘““All of this wealth I do not give
to my son Ghosaka.” But instead of this he said, “I do give.”

When the treasurer’s daughter heard this, she thought to herself,
“However, if this man should speak again, he might say something
very different.”” Accordingly, pretending to be overcome with grief,
she disheveled her hair, burst into tears, and said, ‘“Dear father, do
you really mean this? In spite of these words of yours, which we hear,
we are indeed unfortunate.” So saying, she fell on him, struck the
middle of his breast with the crown of her head, and in order that he
might not be able to speak again, rubbed the middle of his breast with
the crown of her head, displaying at the same time signs of profound
grief. At that very moment the treasurer died. [185]

They went and informed King Udena of his death. A The king
had the funeral ceremonies performed over his body and asked,
“Has he any son or daughter?”” ‘Your majesty, he has a son named
Ghosaka; and, your majesty, he bestowed all his property on him be-
fore he died.” Some time afterwards, the king sent for the treasurer’s
son. Now that day it rained, and there were pools of water here and
there in the palace court. The treasurer’s son set out to see the king.
The king opened his window and watched him as he approached,
noticing that as he crossed the palace court he leaped over the pools
of water that stood in the court. When he reached the palace and
paid obeisance to the king and stood before him, the king asked him,
“Your name is Ghosaka?”’ “Yes, your majesty.” The king com-
forted him, saying, “Do not grieve at the thought that your father
is dead. I will give you alone your father’s post as treasurer.” Then
he dismissed him, saying, “Now, dear Ghosaka, you may go,” and
stood and watched him as he left the palace.

Now whereas Ghosaka leaped over the water in approaching the
palace, he walked through it on his return. The king sent orders for
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him to return from where he was and asked him, “Dear Ghosaka,
is it a fact that whereas, in coming to me, you leaped over the water,
on your return you walk through it?” “It is even so, your majesty.
Then I was a boy and was fond of play, but now I have been promised
a post of honor by your majesty. Therefore I must now lay aside my
former ways and deport myself with modesty and dignity.”” On hear-
ing this, the king thought to himself, “There is a wise man. I will give
him the post immediately.”” Accordingly he gave him the wealth
formerly possessed by his father and the post of treasurer, together
with all the hundred villages. Then Ghosaka mounted his chariot and
drove sunwise round the city. Every place he looked at quaked and
trembled.

The treasurer’s daughter sat talking with the slave-woman Kall.
[186] “Mother Kali,” said she, “it was through me that your son
obtained all this worldly glory.” ‘“How is that, my lady?” ‘Why,
this youth came to our house with his own death-warrant fastened to
the hem of his garment. I tore up that letter and wrote another,
ordering the celebration of a festival in honor of my marriage to him.
In this way did I protect him all that time.” ‘“My lady, this is all
you know about it. But as a matter of fact, from the time your
husband was a little boy, the treasurer constantly sought to kill him,
and though his attempts were unsuccessful, a large sum of money was
spent solely for the purpose of accomplishing his death.” “Kali, the
treasurer was indeed guilty of abominable crimes!”

Having performed his ceremonial circuit of the city, Ghosaka
entered his house. Now when his wife saw him, she thought to herself,
“It was through me that he obtained all this worldly glory,” and
laughed. The treasurer’s son asked her, “Why do you laugh?”’ “For
a certain reason.” ‘‘Tell me the reason.” She refused to do so. He
drew his sword and said, “If you do not tell me, I will cut you in twain.”
Then she said, “I laughed to think that it was through me that you
obtained all this worldly glory.” “If what I possess was handed over
to me by my father, where do you come in?”> (We are told that during
all that time Ghosaka knew nothing about the designs against his life,
and that that was why he refused to believe what she said.) So she
told him the whole story, saying, “When your father sent you forth
bearing your own death-warrant, I did this and that and protected
you.”

“What you say is not true,” replied Ghosaka, refusing to believe
her. “I will ask Mother Kali.”” So he asked the slave-woman, “XKali,
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is what she says true?”’ ‘“Yes, my lord. From the time you were a
little boy your father sought constantly to kill you, and though his
attempts were unsuccessful, a large sum of money was spent for the
purpose of accomplishing your death. On seven occasions you had a
narrow escape from death. Now, coming from the village of which
he was headman, [187] you have obtained the post of treasurer,
together with all the hundred villages.” ‘

When Ghosaka heard this, he thought to himself, “How great was
my presumption! But since I have escaped from so terrible a death, I
must no longer live the life of Heedlessness. Henceforth, therefore, I
will live the life of Heedfulness.” Accordingly he established alms for
the blind and the poor, and employing his friend the householder as
steward of his alms, he dispensed a thousand pieces of money daily.

Part 3. Birth and youthful career of Simavati

Now at this time there lived in the city of Bhaddavatl a treasurer
named Bhaddavatiya, and he was a friend of the treasurer Ghosaka,
although Ghosaka had never seen him. For the treasurer Ghosaka
heard, from traders who camne from the city of Bhaddavati, of the
wealth and age of the treasurer Bhaddavatiya, and desiring to be
friends with him, sent him a present. Likewise the treasurer Bhad-
davatiya heard, from traders who came from the city of Kosambi, of
the wealth and age of the treasurer Ghosaka, and desiring to be friends
with him, sent him a present. Thus, although neither had seen the
other, they dwelt as friends.

After a time intestinal disease broke out in the house of the treasurer
Bhaddavatiya. When this disease breaks out, the first to die are
flies; afterwards, in regular order, insects, mice, domestic fowls, swine,
cattle, slaves both female and male, and last of all the members of the
household. Only those that break down the wall and flee, save their
lives. Now at that time the treasurer Bhaddavatiya and his wife
and daughter fled in this manner, and intending to seek the treasurer
Ghosaka, [188] set out on the road to Kosambi. While they were
still on their way, their provisions for the journey gave out, and their
bodies became exhausted from exposure to wind and sun, and from
hunger and thirst. Reaching Kosambi with difficulty, they bathed in
a pool of water in a pleasant place and then entered a certain rest-
house at the gate of the city.

Then the treasurer said to his wife, ‘“Wife, those who travel in



-N.1.1891s] Story-cycle of King Udena 267

this way are not courteous even to a mother who has borne a child.
Now I have a friend who, they say, dispenses a thousand pieces of
money daily in alms to the blind, the poor, and other unfortunate
persons. We will send our daughter there, have her bring us food,
remain right here for a day or two and refresh our bodies, and then we
will go and see my friend.” “Very well, husband,” she replied, and
they took up their residence right there in the rest-house.

On the following day, when meal-time was announced and the
blind, the poor, and other unfortunate persons went to obtain food,
the mother and father sent forth their daughter, saying, “Daughter,
go bring us food.” So the daughter of a wealthy house, pride overcome
with misfortune, hid her shame, took a bowl, and went with poor folk
to procure food. “How many portions will you have?”’ she was asked.
“Three,” she replied. So they gave her three portions. She carried the
food back to her parents, and the three sat down to eat together. The
mother and daughter said to the treasurer, ‘“Master, misfortune comes
even to prominent families. Eat without regarding us and do not
worry.” After a good deal of urging, they prevailed upon him to eat.
But after he had eaten, he was unable to digest his food, and when the
sun rose, he died. The mother and daughter wept and wailed and
lamented.

On the following day the young girl went the second time to procure
food. ‘“How many portions will you have?”’ [189] “Two.” She
carried the food back to her mother, and after a good deal of urging,
prevailed upon her to eat. The mother yielded to her pleading and
consented to eat, but died on that very day. The young girl, left alone
to herself, wept and wailed and lamented over the misfortune that had
come upon her. On the following day, suffering the pangs of hunger
keenly, she went weeping in the company of beggars to procure food.
“How many portions will you have, daughter?”” “One,” was her reply. .

A householder named Mitta, remembering that she had received
food for three days, said to her, “Perish, vile woman. To-day, at
last, you have come to know the capacity of your belly.” This
daughter of a respectable family, modest and timid, felt as though she
had received a sword-thrust in her bosom, or as though salt water had
been sprinkled on a sore. She immediately replied, “What do you
mean, sir?”” “Day before yesterday you took three portions, yesterday
two, to-day you take but one. To-day, then, you know the capacity
-of your belly.” “Sir, do not think that I took these for myself.”
““Why then did you take them?”” “Sir, day before yesterday we were
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three, yesterday we were two, to-day I am left alone.” ‘“How is that?”
he inquired.

She then told him the whole story from the beginning. As he
listened to her story, he was unable to control his tears, but was over-
come by the power of the grief that arose within him. Finally he said
to her, “My dear girl, if this is the case, do not worry. Hitherto you
have been the daughter of the treasurer Bhaddavatiya, but from this
day forth you shall be my very own daughter.” And he kissed her on
the head, conducted her to his own house, and adopted her as his own
oldest daughter.

One day she heard loud and piercing screams in the refectory,
whereupon she said to her foster-father, “Father, why do you not
keep these people quiet when you dispense alms?”’ ‘It is impossible to
do it, dear daughter.” “Father, it is quite possible.” ‘“How would
you do it, dear daughter?”” ‘“Father, [190] put a fence around the
refectory and hang two gates through which the people may pass in and
out, allowing only sufficient space for one person to pass through at a
time. Then direct the people to pass in through one gate and out
through the other. If you do this, they will receive their alms peace-
ably and quietly.” When the householder had heard her plan he
remarked, “A happy device, dear daughter,” and did as she suggested.
Now up to that time her name had been Sama, but through her con-
struction of a fence (vat?) she received the name Samavatl. From that
time on there was no more tumult in the refectory.

Now the treasurer Ghosaka had long been accustomed to hear this
noise in the refectory and rather liked to hear it; for it always made him
think, “That is the noise in my refectory.” But after hearing no noise
at all for two or three days, he asked the householder Mitta, who came
one day to wait upon him, “Are alms being give to the blind, the poor,
and other unfortunate persons?”” “Yes, sir.” “How then does it
happen that for two or three days past I have not heard a sound?”
“I have arranged matters so that the people now receive alms without
making any noise.” ‘“Why didn’t you do so before?” I didn’t
know how, sir.” “How did you happen to find a way just now?”
“My daughter told me how to do it, sir.” “Have you a daughter
whom I have never seen?”” Then the householder told him the whole
story of the treasurer Bhaddavatiya, beginning with the outbreak of
the plague and ending with his adoption of the young girl as his own
oldest daughter.

Then said the treasurer to him, “If this is the case, why did you
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not tell me? My friend’s daughter is my own daughter.” So he sent
for her and asked her, “Dear girl, are you the daughter of the treas-
urer?” “Yes, sir, I am.” ‘“Well then, do not worry; you are my own
daughter.” Then he kissed her on the head, gave her five hundred
women for her retinue, and adopted her as his own oldest daughter.

One day a festival was proclaimed in this city. Now at this festival
daughters of respectable families, who do not ordinarily go out, go on
foot with their own retinue [191] and bathe in the river. Accordingly
on that day Samavati also, accompanied by her five hundred women,
went right through the palace court to bathe in the river. King Udena
stood at his window and saw her. ‘““Whose are those nautch-girls?”
he inquired. “Nobody’s nautch-girls, your majesty.” “Then whose
daughters are they?”” “Your majesty, that is the daughter of the
treasurer Bhaddavatiya, and her name is Samavatl.”” Now the king
fell in love with the girl the moment he saw her, and immediately sent
word to the treasurer Ghosaka, “Send me the maiden they say is your
daughter.” “I will not send her, your majesty.” ‘Do not act thus.
Do as I ask and send her.” “Your majesty, we householders do not
give young girls, for fear people will say they are abused and mal-
treated.” Angered by the treasurer’s reply, the king caused the
treasurer’s house to be sealed and the treasurer and his wife to be
seized and turned out of doors.

When Samavati returned after her bath and found no way of
entering the house, she asked, “What does this mean, dear father?”’
“Dear daughter, the king sent for you; and when we refused to give
you to him, he caused the house to be sealed and caused us to be turned
out of doors.” “Dear father, you made a great mistake. When one
who is a king commands, you should not say, ‘We do not give.” You
should rather say, ‘If you will take our daughter with her retinue, we
will give her to you.”” “Very well, dear daughter. If that is your
desire, I will do as you say.” Accordingly Ghosaka sent a message to
that effect to the king, and the king accepted his offer, saying, ““Very
well.” Then the king conducted Samavati with her retinue to the
royal palace, conferred the ceremonial sprinkling on her, and elevated
her to the dignity of chief consort. The other women became her
ladies-in-waiting.
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Part 4. Winning of Vasuladatti by Udena

Yet another of Udena’s queen-consorts was Vasuladatta, [192]
daughter of Canda Pajjota, king of Ujjeni. One day, as Canda
Pajjota was returning from his pleasure-garden, he surveyed his own
splendor and asked, “Is there any other soever possessed of splendor
like mine?” “‘Splendor such as it is, King Udena of Kosambi possesses
exceeding great splendor.” “Very well, let us take him captive.”
“It is impossible to capture him.” ‘“By employing some means or
other, let us capture him all the same.” “It is impossible, your
majesty.” “Why?” ‘He understands the art of charming elephants.
By reciting spells and playing his elephant-charming lute, he either
drives elephants away or captures them at his pleasure. No one
Ppossesses so many riding-elephants as he.”” “I suppose it is impossible
for me to capture him.” “If you are bent on doing it, have a wooden

. elephant made and turned loose near him. Let him hear of a good
mount, be it elephant or horse, and he will go a long way for it. When
he is close by, you can capture him.” ‘A stratagem indeed!” ex-
claimed the king.

So the king had a mechanical elephant made of wood, wrapped
about with strips of cloth and deftly painted, and turned it loose on
the bank of a certain lake near the country of his enemy. Within the
belly of the elephant sixty men walked back and forth; every now and
then they loaded their shovels with elephant dung and dumped it out.
A certain woodman saw the elephant, and thinking to himself, “Just
the thing for our king!” went and told the king, “Your majesty, I saw
a noble elephant, pure white even as the peak of Kelasa, just the sort
of elephant your majesty would like.”

Udena mounted his elephant and set out, taking the woodman along
as a guide and accompanied by his retinue. His approach was [193]
observed by spies, who went and informed Canda Pajjota. The latter
straightway dispatched armies on both flanks of his enemy, allowing
the space between them to remain open. Udena, unaware of his
enemy’s approach, continued to pursue the elephant. He recited his
spell and played his lute, but all to no purpose. The wooden elephant,
driven with great speed by the men concealed within its belly, made
as if it failed to hear the charm and continued its flight. The king,
unable to overtake the elephant, mounted his horse. On and on sped
the horse, galloping so rapidly that by degrees the army of the king
was left far behind and the king was quite alone. Then Canda Pajjota’s
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men, who were posted on both flanks, captured Udena and turned him
over to their king. Udena’s army, perceiving that their leader had
fallen into the hands of the enemy, built a stockade just outside of
Ujjeni and remained there.

Canda Pajjota, having thus captured Udena alive, clapped him
into prison behind closed doors and kept wassail for three days. On
the third day Udena asked his keepers, “Friends, where’s your king?”’
““Carousing, for, says he, ‘I’ve landed my enemy.’” ‘“What does your
king mean by acting like a woman? He has captured a royal adversary
and surely ought either to release him or to kill him. He has brought
humiliation upon us and is ‘carousing’— indeed!” The keepers went
and reported the incident to the king. The king came and asked,
“Is it true that you said thus and thus?” “Yes, your majesty.”
“Very well, I will release you. They say you have such and such a
charm; will you give it to me?”’ “Certainly I will give it to you; but
when you receive it, will you pay me homage?”” “I pay you homage?
I’ll not pay you homage.” “Then I'll not give it to you.” [194] “In
that case I will have you executed.” “Do so; you are lord of my
body, not of my mind.”

When the king heard Udena’s defiant answer, he thought to him-
self, “How in the world can I get the charm? I have it. I'll have my
daughter learn it from him, and then I'll learn it from her. It would
never do to let anyone else learn a charm like this.” So he said to
Udena, “Will you divulge the charm to another, if the other will pay
you homage?”” “Yes, your majesty.” ‘“Well then, we have in our
house a hunchbacked woman. She will sit behind a curtain; you
remain outside and have her repeat the charm.” “Be she hunchback
or cripple, I will teach her the charm, provided she will pay me
homage.”

Then the king went to his daughter Vasuladatta and said, “Dear
daughter, there is a certain leper who knows a priceless charm. You
sit behind a curtain, and he will remain outside and repeat it to you.
You get it from him, for it would never do to let anyone else learn it,
and then I will get it from you.” After this sort, for fear of their
making love, did Canda Pajjota feign that his daughter was a hunch-
back and Udena a leper. So Vasuladatta seated herself behind a cur-
tain, and Udena remained outside and caused her to repeat the charm.

One day Udena repeated the words of the charm over and over again
to Vasuladatta, but the latter was unable to reproduce it correctly.
Thereupon Udena cried out, ‘“Dunce of a hunchback, your lips are too
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thick and your cheeks too pudgy! I've a mind to beat your face in!
Say it this way!” Vasuladatta replied in anger, “Villain of a leper,
[195] what do you mean by those words? Do you call such as I
‘hunchback’?”’ Udena lifted the fringe of the curtain and asked,
“Who are you?” Said the maiden, “I am Vasuladatta, daughter of
the king.” ‘“When your father spoke to me, he described you as a
hunchback.” ‘“When he spoke to me, he made you out a leper.”
Both said, “He must have said it for fear of our making love.” Then
and there within the curtain they made love, and from that time on
there was no learning charms or getting lessons. The king regularly
asked his daughter, “Daughter, are you learning your lessons?”” “Yes,
father.”

Now one day Udena said to Vasuladatta, “ My dear, a husband
can do that which neither father nor mother nor brothers nor sisters
can do. If you will save my life, I will give you a retinue of five
hundred women and make you my chief consort.” “If you will carry
out your promise without fail, I will save your life.” ‘“My dear, I
will do so without fail.” “Very well, husband.” So she went to her
father, saluted him, and stood respectfully on one side. Her father
asked her, “Daughter, is your task completed?” ‘Not quite com-
pleted, father.” ‘“What do you require, daughter?”” ‘“We must have
at our disposal a door and a mount, father.” ‘“Why this request?”
“Father, this is what my teacher says: ‘In order to work the charm,
a certain medicinal herb is necessary, and this must be obtained at
night at a time indicated by the stars.” [196] Therefore whenever
we are obliged to go out, whether it be early or late, we must have a
door and a mount at our disposal.” “Very well,” said the king, giving
his consent. They secured permission to use a certain door at any
time they pleased.

Now the king was possessed of the five conveyances: a female ele-
phant named Bhaddavati, which could travel fifty leagues a day; a
slave named Kiaka, who could travel sixty leagues a day; two mares,
Celakanthi and Mufijakesi, which could travel a hundred leagues a
day; and an elephant named Nalagiri, which could travel a hundred
and twenty leagues a day.

Story of the Past: Canda Pajjota wins the five conveyances

It seems that before the appearance in the world of the present
Buddha, the king had been the servitor of a certain ruler. Now one
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day as this ruler was returning from his bath outside of the city, a
certain Private Buddha who had entered the city to receive alms came
out with his bowl clean as it had been washed, having received not a
single morsel of food by reason of the evil influence of Mara over all
the residents of the city. Indeed when the Private Buddha reached
the gate of the city, Mara approached him in disguise and asked him,
“Reverend Sir, did you receive anything?”’ “But have you made it
possible for me to receive anything?” ‘“Well then, turn back and go
in again. Now I will make it possible for you to receive alms.” “I
will not go back again.”” Had the Private Buddha returned, Mara
would once more have taken possession of the bodies of all the residents
of the city and would have subjected him to the embarrassment of
hand-clapping and rude laughter.

Now when this ruler [197] saw the Private Buddha returning with
his bowl clean as it had been washed, he asked him, “Reverend Sir,
did you receive anything?”” “I have gone my round and ain coming
out, brother.” The ruler thought to himself, “His reverence does
not answer the question I asked him, but tells me something I did not
ask about. It must be that he failed to receive anything.”” The ruler
looked at his bowl and saw that it was empty. Not knowing whether
the food in his house was ready or not, and therefore, brave though he
was, not daring to take his bowl, he said, “ Wait a moment, Reverend
Sir.” So saying, he went home quickly and asked, ““Is our food ready?”’
Receiving the answer that it was ready, he said to his servitor, “Friend,
there is no one possessed of greater speed than you. Make the greatest
possible speed, and when you reach his reverence, say to him, ‘Rev-
erend Sir, give me your bowl,” and then take his bowl and return
to me.”

At the mere word of his master the servitor set out, obtained the
bowl, and brought it back. The ruler filled the bowl with his own food
and said, “Convey this to his reverence with all speed. I make over
to you the merit of this action.” The servitor went quickly, gave the
bowl to the Private Buddha, saluted him with the Five Rests, and
said to him, “Reverend Sir, the time is short. I went and returned
with the greatest possible speed. As the fruit of this speed, may I
obtain the five conveyances able to travel fifty, sixty, a hundred, and
a hundred and twenty leagues a day respectively. As I returned and
went, my body was heated by the rays of the sun. As the fruit of
this, in the various places where I shall be reborn, may I possess
authority equal to the power of the rays of the sun. My master has
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made over to me the merit of this alms. In consequence of this [198]
may I be a partaker of the Truth you have seen.” The Private Buddha
said, “So be it,” and returned thanks in the following Stanzas,

May all you've wished and prayed for come out well;

May all your aspirations be fulfilled, even as the moon at the full.

May all you’ve wished and prayed for come out well;
May all your aspirations be fulfilled, as by the jewel Dew of nght.

This was the king’s deed in a previous state of existence. He was
now Canda Pajjota, and in consequence of this deed he came to
possess these five conveyances. End of Story offthe Past.

Now one day the king went out to amuse himself in the garden.
“Now’s the time to flee,” thought Udena. So he filled several big
leather sacks with gold and silver coins, placed the sacks on the back of
the female elephant, assisted Vasuladattd to mount, and away they
went. The harem guards saw what was happening and went and told
the king. The king sent out a force in pursuit. “Go quickly,” said
he. When Udena perceived that a force had set out in pursuit, he*
opened a sack of gold and scattered the coins along the way. His
pursuers stopped to pick up the coins and then hurried along. Then
he opened a sack of silver and scattered the coins along the way. While
his pursuers delayed because of their greed for silver, [199] Udena
reached his own stockade built without the city. When his men saw
him coming, they surrounded him and escorted him back to Kosambhi.
When he arrived there, he sprinkled Vasuladatta and raised her to the
rank of chief consort.

Part 5. Rejection of Méagandiya by the Buddha

Still another maiden who gained the dignity of chief consort of
the king was Magandiya. She, we are told, was the daughter of the
Brahman Migandiya, who lived in the Kuru country, her mother also
bore the name Magandiya, and her father’s younger brother likewise
bore the name Magandiya. She was as beautiful as a celestial nymph.
Now her father was unable to find a husband who was worthy of her;
and although scions of all the great families in the country asked for her
hand, her father sent them all away, reviling them and saying, “You
are not worthy of my daughter.”

Now one day, as the Teacher surveyed the world at early dawn,
he perceived that the Brahman Magandiya and his wife possessed the
dispositions requisite for the attainment of the Fruit of the Third
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Path. Therefore, taking his own bowl and robe, he went to a place
just outside of a certain market-town, where the Brahman was tending
the sacred fire. The Brahman surveyed the person of the Tathagata,
beholding in him the perfection of physical beauty, and thought to
himself, “There is no other man in the whole world comparable to
this man. I will give my daughter to this man to cherish and support.”
Accordingly he said to the Teacher, “Monk, I have a single daughter,
and all this time I have not seen a man worthy of her. But you are
suitable for her, and she is suitable for you. For you [200] ought to
have a wife, and she ought to have a husband. I will give her to you.
Wait right here until I come back.” The Teacher said not a word, but
remained silent.

The Brahman went home quickly and said to his wife, ‘“ Wife! wife!
I saw a man who is worthy of our daughter. Hurry! hurry! Dress
her in her beautiful garments.” So the Brahman had his daughter
dressed in her beautiful garments, and taking daughter and wife with
him, went to the Teacher. The whole city was agitated. ‘““All this
time,” said the people, “this man has said of every suitor, ‘He is not
suitable for my daughter,” and has refused to give her to anyone. But
it is reported that he has said, ‘To-day I saw a man who is suitable for
my daughter.” What manner of man can he be? Let us go see him.”
So a great throng of people went out of the city with him.

Now when the Brahman set out with his daughter, the Teacher,
instead of remaining in the place mentioned by the Brahman, moved
away from that place and took his stand in another place, leaving a
footprint. (When the Buddhas establish a footprint, it appears only
in a trodden place and not elsewhere, and only those for whom it is
established can see it. Let elephants or other wild animals tread upon
a footprint of the Buddhas to render it invisible, or let a violent storm
pour forth rain upon it, or let the roaring winds beat upon it, yet not
one of them can obliterate it.)

Now the Brahman’s wife said to the Brahman, “Where is this
man?”’ The Brahman replied, “I said to him, ‘Remain in this place.’
Where can he possibly have gone?”” He looked all about, and seeing
his footprint, said, ‘Here is his [201] footprint.”” Now the Brahman’s
wife was familiar with the three Vedas, including the verses relating
to signs. So she repeated the verses relating to signs, considering
carefully the signs borne by the footprint before her. Finally she said,
‘“Brahman, this is no footprint of one who follows the Five Lusts.”
So saying, she pronounced the following Stanza,
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The footprint of a lustful man will be squatty;

That of a wicked man, violently pressed down;

Of one infatuate, the footprint will be shuffling;

This is the sort of footprint made by one who has rolled back the Veil of Passion.

Then said the Brahman to her, ‘“Wife, you are always seeing
crocodiles in the water-vessel and thieves hiding in the house. Be
stil.” “Brahman, you may say what you like, but this is no foot-
print of one who follows the Five Lusts.”

Just then the Brahman looked around and saw the Teacher.
“There is the man!” said he. Thereupon the Brahman went to him
and said, “Monk, I give you my daughter to cherish and support.”
The Teacher, instead of saying, “I have need of your daughter,” or
“I have no need of your daughter,” said to him, “Brahman, I have
something to say to you.” ‘“Say it, monk,” replied the Brahman.
Thereupon the Teacher told him how Mara had pursued him from the
time of the Great Retirement to the time of the Session under the
Goatherd’s Banyan-tree, and how, when Mara seated himself under
the Goatherd’s Banyan-tree, overcome with sorrow at the thought,
“Now this man has escaped from my power,” Mara’s daughterscame
to assuage their father’s sorrow and endeavored to seduce him by
appearing before him in the forms of wamen both young and old.
[202] “At that time,” said the Teacher,

Having seen Craving, Pining, and Lust,

I had no desire for the pleasures of love.

What is this body, filled with urine and dung?

I should not be willing to touch it, even with my foot.

At the conclusion of the Stanza the Brahman and his wife were
established in the Fruit of the Third Path.

As for Magandiya, she said to herself, “If this man has no need of
me, it is perfectly proper for him to say so, but he declares me to be
full of urine and dung. Very well! By virtue of the fact that I possess
birth, lineage, social position, wealth, and the charm of youth, I shall
obtain a husband who is my equal, and then I shall know what ought
to be done to the monk Gotama.” And then and there she conceived
hatred towards the Teacher.

(Did the Teacher know, or did he not know, that she had conceived
hatred towards him? He knew. If he knew, why did he pronounce
the Stanza? For the sake of the other two. For the Buddhas take no
account of hatred directed against them, but preach the Law solely for
the sake of those who are worthy to attain the Paths and the Fruits.)
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Her mother and father took her and committed her to the charge
of her uncle Culla Magandiya, and then retired from the world and
attained Arahatship. Culla Magandiya thought to himself, [203]
“My daughter is not suited to be the wife of a low person, but is
suited to be the consort of a king.” Accordingly he adorned her with
all the adornments, took her with him to Kosambi, and presented her
to King Udena, saying, “This jewel of a woman is worthy to become
a consort of your majesty.”” When the king saw her, he fell deeply in
love with her, conferred the ceremonial sprinkling upon her, provided
her with a retinue of five hundred ladies-in-waiting, and raised her
to the dignity of chief consort.

Thus the king had three chief consorts with a retinue of fifteen
hundred nautch-girls.

Part 6. Death of Samavati and of M#agandiya, and the
explanation thereof

Treasurers, monks, and tree-spirit

Now at this time there were living in Kosambi three treasurers,
Ghosaka, Kukkuta, and Pavariya. As the beginning of the rainy
season drew near, these men saw five hundred ascetics who had
returned from the Himilaya country going the round of the city for
alms. With joyful hearts they provided them with seats, offered them
food, and obtaining from them a promise to reside with them, they
provided them with lodging in their own homes during the four months
of the rains. Then, having obtained from them a promise to return
and spend the following rainy season with them, they let them go.
From that time forth, after the ascetics had resided for eight months
in the Himalaya country, they kept residence during the four months
of the rains with the three treasurers.

On a later occasion, as the ascetics were on their way back from the
Himalaya country, they saw a certain great banyan-tree in a forest
retreat and went and sat down at the foot of it. The oldest ascetic
thought to himself, “The deity who resides in this tree cannot be
mundane. There must be a deva-king of great power here. [204]
How good it would be if he would give this band of ascetics water to
drink!” Immediately the tree-spirit gave them water to drink.
Then the ascetic thought of water to bathe in, and the spirit gave that
also. Then he thought of food, and the spirit gave that also.

Then this thought occurred to the ascetic, ‘“This deva-king gives
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us every single thing we think of. I wish we might see him.” Immedi-
ately the spirit burst the trunk of the tree and showed himself. There-
upon they asked him, ‘“Deva-king, you possess great power. What did
you do to get it?”” “Do not ask me, Reverend Sirs.” “Deva-king,
please tell us.” But the spirit was exceedingly modest, for the reason
that the work of merit he had performed was a very small one, and
therefore he did not wish to tell. However, after a good deal of urging,
he said, ‘“Well then, listen,” and told the following

Story of the Past: Tree-spirit’s former deed

The tree-spirit, it appears, was once a poor man who sought and
obtained work for hire from Anathapindika and through him made a
living. Now one fast-day Anathapindika asked on his return from the
monastery, “Has anyone told this laborer that to-day is fast-day?”
“He has not been told, master.” ‘Well then, cook him his supper.”
So they cooked him a measure of rice. Now the laborer had worked all
day in the forest, and when he returned in the evening, he said, “I am
hungry.” But when the rice had been prepared and given to him, all of
a sudden he refused to eat. ‘“On other days,” he thought to himself,
“there is a great uproar in this house, ‘Give me rice, give me sauce,
give me curry;’ but to-day all have lain down without making a sound,
and they have prepared food for me alone. What can this mean?”

So he asked them, ‘“Have the rest eaten?”” “They have not eaten.”
“Why?” “In this house people eat no supper on fast-days; [205] all
keep the fast. The great treasurer requires all to fast, even infants at
the breast, first causing them to rinse their mouths and to eat the four
sweet foods. A lamp of scented oil is lighted, and all, both young and
old, retire to recite the Thirty-two Constituents of the Body. But
we did not think it worth while to tell you it was fast-day, and therefore
rice was cooked for you alone. Eat it.” “If it is proper for me to
begin the fast now, I should like to do so.” ‘‘This is a matter for the
treasurer to decide.” ‘“Well then, ask him.” They went and asked
the treasurer, and he replied as follows, “If he begins the fast now and
rinses his mouth and takes upon himself the fast-day precepts, he will
earn half the merit of keeping fast-day.”” When the laborer heard
the answer, he began the fast.

Now the laborer had worked all day long and was hungry, and the
result was that the humors of his body became disordered. He bound
a girth about his body, and holding the end of the girth in his hand,
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he rolled over and over. When the treasurer learned of this, he took
the four sweet foods and with torches borne before him went to the
laborer and asked, “Friend, what is the matter?”” ‘Master, the
humors of my body are out of order.” ‘“Well then, get up and eat
this medicinal food.” ‘“You eat it, master.” ‘I am not sick. You
eatit.” ‘“Master, as for keeping the fast, [206] I was not able to keep
it all, but let me not be deprived of half.”” With these words the laborer
refused to eat. ‘““Do not act thus, friend,” said the treasurer. But the
laborer steadfastly refused to eat, and when the sun rose, he died even
as a garland of flowers withers, and was reborn in that banyan-tree.

Treasurers, monks, and tree-spirit, concluded

Therefore the tree-spirit explained the matter as follows, ‘“The
treasurer was devoted to the Buddha, devoted to the Law, devoted to
the Order; and it was through him, and in consequence of the merit
I earned by keeping half of fast-day, that I obtained this power.”
When the five hundred ascetics heard the name ‘“Buddha,” they
arose and stretched out their hands in an attitude of reverent supplica-
tion to the spirit and said, “Say ‘Buddha.”” Three times they
caused the spirit to confess his faith by repeating the formula, “I say
‘Buddha.’” Then they breathed forth the solemn utterance, “This
is an utterance difficult to obtain in this world,” and said in conclusion,
~ “Spirit, you have permitted us to hear a sound we have not heard for
many hundred thousand cycles of time.”

Then the pupils addressed their teacher as follows, “Well then,
let us go to the Teacher.” “Friends, we have three treasurers who
are generous benefactors of ours. To-morrow we will receive food in
their residence, tell them also what we have heard, and go. Give
your consent, friends.” Thereupon they gave their consent. On the
following day the treasurers caused rice-porridge to be prepared and
seats to be provided. And knowing that the ascetics would arrive on
that day, they went forth and met them, escorted them to their
residence, provided them with seats, and gave them food. When the
ascetics had finished their meal, they said, “Great treasurers, we are
going away.” ‘“‘Reverend Sirs, [207] did we not obtain from you a
promise to reside with us during the four months of the rains? Where
are you going now?”’

“The Buddha has appeared in the world, the Law has appeared,
the Order has appeared. We are therefore going to see the Teacher.”
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“But is it proper for you only to go to the Teacher?” “It is not for-
bidden to others also, friends.” ‘“Well then, Reverend Sirs, you wait,
and we also will go as soon as we have made preparations.” “If you
wait to make preparations, we shall be delayed. Therefore we will go
on ahead, and you may follow after.”” So they went on ahead, and
seeing the Supremely Enlightened One, praised him, paid obeisance
to him, and sat down respectfully on one side. Then the Teacher
preached the Law to them in orderly sequence, and at the conclusion
of his discourse all of them attained Arahatship, together with the
Supernatural Faculties. Thereupon they asked to be received into
the Order. “Come, monks!” said the Teacher. As soon as he spoke
the word, they became full-fledged monks, possessed of bowls and robes
created by magic.

Those three treasurers procured the requisites for alms, consisting
of garments, coverlets, ghee, honey, molasses, and-so forth, and con-
veying five hundred cartloads apiece, proceeded to Savatthi. On
reaching Savatthi, they paid obeisance to the Teacher, listened to a
discourse on the Law, and at the conclusion of the discourse were
established in the Fruit of Conversion. For a fortnight they resided
with the Teacher, bestowing alms, and then invited the Teacher to
come to Kosambi. As the Teacher gave his promise, [208] he said,
“The Tathagatas delight in solitude.” Said the treasurers, “Reverend
Sir, as soon as we notify you by sending you a message, it will be
proper for you to come.” With these words they returned to Kosambi.
The treasurer Ghosaka erected Ghosita monastery, the treasurer
Kukkuta erected Kukkuta monastery, and the treasurer Pavariya
erected Pavariya monastery.

When the treasurers had erected these three monasteries, they
sent word to the Teacher to come and visit them. The Teacher,
receiving their message, went there; whereupon they came forth to
meet him, escorted him to the monasteries, and waited upon him by
turns. The Teacher resided one day in each monastery and always
went to receive alms at the door of the house of the particular treasurer
in whose monastery he resided. Now these three treasurers had a
servitor named Sumana, and he was a gardener. He said to the
treasurers, “I have been a servitor of yours for a long time, and I should
like to entertain the Teacher. Let me have the Teacher all to myself
for just one day.” ‘‘Well then,” said they, “entertain him to-morrow.”
“Very well, masters,” he replied, invited the Teacher, and made
ready the usual honors.
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Conversion of Samavati by Khujjuttara

Now at that time King Udena was in the habit of giving Queen
Samavati eight pieces of money every day to buy flowers with. A
female slave of the queen named Khujjuttara went regularly every
day to the gardener Sumana and procured the flowers. When she
came on that particular day, the gardener said to her, “I have invited
the Teacher to be my guest and shall use my flowers to-day to honor
the Teacher. You just wait, join with me in attendance on the Buddha,
and listen to the Law. Then you may take with you the flowers that
remain.” [209] “Very well,” said she, consenting to remain. Sumana
waited upon the Congregation of Monks presided over by the Buddha
and took his bowl] that he might pronounce the words of thanksgiving.
The Teacher began to pronounce the words of thanksgiving. Khuj-
juttara listened to the discourse on the Law and became established
in the Fruit of Conversion.

On previous days she had been in the habit of appropriating to
her own use four pieces of money and of buying flowers with the other
four; but on that day, spending all eight to buy flowers with, she
returned with them. Samavati said to her, “My good woman, did
the king give us twice as much money to-day to buy flowers with?”’
“No, my lady.” “Then why so many flowers?”” ‘“On previous days
I kept four pieces of money for myself and brought you only so many
flowers as I could buy for four pieces of money.” ‘“Why didn’t you
take the money to-day?” “Because I heard the Supremely En-
lightened discourse on the Law and acquired understanding of the
Law.”

The queen did not revile her and say, “You wretched slave, give
me back the pieces of money you have stolen during all this time.”
Instead she said to her, “ My good woman, you have drunk the Death-
less. Give me thereof to drink also.” ‘““Well then,” replied Khuj-
juttard, “order that a bath be prepared for me.” So the queen had
her bathed with sixteen bowls of scented water and presented her with
garments of fine cloth. One of these garments she caused her to put
on as an undergarment, the other she caused to be thrown over her
shoulder; then she had a seat prepared for her. Khujjuttara there-
upon sat down, took in her hand a painted fan, and addressing the
five hundred women, preached the Law to them just as the Teacher
had preached it. Then all of them paid obeisance to Khujjuttara
[210] and said, “Friend, from this day forth do no sinful deed, but
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be to us as a mother and a teacher. Go to the Teacher andlisten to
every discourse he preaches, and then come back and repeat it to us.”
And this she did so faithfully that later on she came to know the
Tipitaka by heart. Indeed the Teacher assigned her preéminence,
saying, ‘“Preéminent among my female lay disciples who are learned in
the Scriptures and able to expound the Law is Khujjuttara.”

Now those five hundred women said to her, ‘“ Woman, we should
like to see the Teacher. Show him to us, that we may honor him with
perfumes, garlands, and so forth.” ‘“My lady, it is a serious matter
to live in a king’s house. You have obtained access to it, but it is
impossible for you to leave it.” ‘“Woman, do not destroy us. Let us
see the Teacher.” ‘“Well then, make holes in the walls of your rooms
large enough to look through. Then bring perfumes and garlands,
and when the Teacher goes to the door of the house of the three
treasurers, stand in your several places and look out and stretch forth
your hands and pay obeisance to him and honor him.” They followed
her directions, and when the Teacher went and returned, they looked
out and paid obeisance to him and honored him.

Maigandiya’s plot against Simaivati and the Buddha

Now one day Magandiya came forth fromn her own mansion and
walked along until she came to the place where those women lived.
Seeing a hole in a room, she asked, ‘“What is this?””> The women,
not knowing of the hatred she had conceived towards the Teacher,
said, [211] “The Teacher has come to this city, and we stand here
and look at the Teacher and honor him.” ‘“So the hermit Gotama
has come to this city!’ thought Magandiya. - ‘“Now I shall know
what ought to be done to him. These women also are his supporters.
I shall know what ought to be done to them also.” So she said to
the king, “Great king, Samavati and her followers are disloyal to you
and in but a few days will take your life.” The king replied, “They
will do nothing of the sort,” and refused to believe the charge. Even
when the charge was repeated, he still refused to believe. When she
made the charge the third time and he still refused to believe, she said
to him, “If you do not believe me, great king, go to the place where
they reside and judge for yourself.” The king went there, and seeing
the holes in the walls of the rooms, asked, ‘“What does this mean?”
When the matter was explained to him, he did not get angry, said not
a word, but had the holes filled up and windows made with openings
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above in all the rooms. (Windows with openings above came in at
this time, we are told.)

Unable to injure the women, Magandiya thought to herself, “At
any rate I will do to the monk Gotama what ought to be done.” So
she bribed the citizens and said to them, “When the monk Gotama
comes into the city and walks about, instigate slaves to revile him and
abuse him and drive him out of the city.” So heretics who did not
believe in the Three Jewels followed the Teacher about when he
entered the city and shouted at him, “You are a thief, [212] a simple-
ton, a fool, a camel, an ox, an ass, a denizen of hell, a beast, you have
no hope of salvation, a state of punishment is all that you can look
forward to.” Thus they reviled and abused him with the Ten Terms
of Abuse.

Venerable Ananda heard this and said to the Teacher, “Reverend
Sir, these citizens are reviling and abusing us. Let us go elsewhere.”
““Where shall we go, Ananda?”” “To some other city, Reverend Sir.”
“If men revile us there, where shall we go then, Ananda?” “To yet
another city, Reverend Sir.” “If men revile us there, where shall we
go then?” “To still another city, Reverend Sir.” “Ananda, one
should not speak thus. Where a difficulty arises, right there should
it be settled. Only under those circumstances is it permissible to go
elsewhere. But who are reviling you, Ananda?” “Reverend Sir,
everyone is reviling us, slaves and all.” “Ananda, I am like an
elephant that has entered the fray. Even as it is the duty of an ele-
phant that has entered the fray to withstand the arrows which come
from the four quarters, precisely so it is my duty to endure with
patience the words spoken by many wicked men.” So saying, he
preached the Law with reference to himself by pronouncing the follow-
ing three Stanzas'in the Naga Vagga,

320. Even as an elephant engaged in the fray withstands arrows shot from the bow,
So also must I bear abuse, for the multitude is wicked. [213]

321. Itis a tamed elephant they lead to battle; it is a tamed elephant the king mounts;
It is the tamed that is best among men, he that endures abuse patiently.

322. Of surpassing excellence are mules which are tamed, and well-bred Sindh horses,

And great elephants of the jungle; but better yet is the man who has tamed
himself.

This discourse benefited the assembled multitude. When the

Teacher had thus preached the Law, he said, “Ananda, be not dis-

turbed. These men will revile you for only seven days, and on the
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eighth day they will become silent. A difficulty encountered by the
Buddhas lasts no longer than seven days.”

When Maigandiya had failed in her attempt to drive the Teacher
out of the city by abusing him, she thought to herself, “Pray what can
I do now?” Then the thought occurred to her, “These women are
his supporters. I will destroy them.” Accordingly one day, while King
Udena was drinking strong drink and she was waiting upon him, she
sent the following message to her uncle, “Let my uncle come with
eight dead cocks and eight live cocks. Having arrived, let him stand
at the top of the stairs and announce his arrival. When he hears the
word ‘Enter,” let him not enter, but send in first the eight live cocks
and afterwards the others.” And she gave a bribe to the page, saying,
“Be sure to carry out my orders.”

Maigandiya came and announced himself to the king. When,
however, he heard the word ‘“Enter,” he said, “I will not enter the
king’s drinking-place.” [214] Magandiya then sent her page, saying,
“Boy, go to my uncle.” He went, took the eight live cocks which
Magandiya gave him, carried themr to the king, and said, “Your
majesty, the house-priest has sent you a present.” ‘“A most excel-
lent and dainty morsel!” said the king. “Now who will cook them?”
Magandiya said, ““ Great king, the five hundred women led by Samavati
have nothing to do. Send the cocks to them. Let them cook them
and carry them to you.” Accordingly the king sent them, saying to the
page, “Go give these cocks to these women. Tell them not to intrust
them to the hands of anyone else, but to kill them and cook them
themselves.” ‘“Very well, your majesty,” replied the page, and went
and delivered the message. But the women refused to do the king’s
bidding, saying, ‘“We do not take the life of any living creature.”
The page returned and so informed the king.

Magandiya said, “You see, great king? Now you shall find out
whether or not they really take the life of living creatures. Your
majesty, send word to them, ‘Cook them and send them to the monk
Gotama.”” So the king sent this message to them. But the page,
while pretending to carry the live cocks to the women, in reality went
and gave those cocks to the house-priest and carried the eight dead
cocks to the women, saying, ‘“Cook these cocks and send them to
the Teacher.” “This, to be sure, is our duty,” said the women in
reply, and going to meet him, they received the cocks. When the
page returned to the king and the latter asked him, “What was the
result, boy?”’ he gave the king the following report, “The moment I
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said to them, ‘Cook these cocks and send them to the hermit Gotama,’
they came to meet me and accepted them.” “See, great king,” said
Magandiya, “they will not do it for the like of you. But you would
not believe me when I said to you, ‘Their inclination is towards
another.”” But even when the king heard this, [215] he tolerated
their conduct and remained silent. Magandiya thought to herself,
“What shall I do now?”

Now at this time the king was accustomed to divide his time equally
among his three consorts, Samavati, Vasuladatti, and Maigandiya,
spending seven days by turns in the apartment of each. Magandiya,
knowing that he would go on the morrow or on the day after to the
apartment of Samavat], sent word to her uncle, “Send me a snake,
first washing its fangs with a poisonous drug.” He did as she told him
to and sent her a snake. Now wherever the king went, he was accus-
tomed to take with him his lute for charming elephants, and in the
shell of this lute was a hole. Maigandiya inserted the snake in the
hole and stopped the hole with a bunch of flowers; for two or three
days the snake remained within the lute.

On the day when the king was to go to Samavati’s apartment,
Magandiya asked him, ‘“To whose apartment will you go to-day, your
majesty?” ‘““To Samaivati’s apartment.” Said Magandiya, “Your
majesty, to-day I had a bad dream; you must not go there.” “I am
going all the same.” Three times she tried to dissuade him from going
and failed. Finally she said, “In that case I will go too.” In spite of
the king’s protests she went with him, saying, “ Your majesty, I do
not know what will happen to you.”

The king, wearing garments, flowers, perfumes, and ornaments
given him by Samavatl and her followers, ate heartily, and then
placed his lute by his pillow and lay down on the bed. Magandiya,
pretending to be merely walking back and forth, removed the bunch
of flowers from the opening in the lute; whereupon the snake, which
had been without food for two or three days, glided from the opening,
hissed, raised his hood, and coiled himself up on the top of the bed.
[216] When Magandiya saw the snake, she screamed with a loud voice, -
“Oh, your majesty, there is a snake!” And she straightway abused
the king, saying, ‘This stupid, unlucky king will not listen to anything
I say to him. As for these shameless scoundrels, what do they not
receive from the king? You will live happily just as soon as the king
is dead, but so long as he lives, you will have a hard time. Your
majesty, when I cried out to you, ‘To-day I had a bad dream; you
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must not go to Simivatl’s apartment,” you would not listen to what I
said.”

When the king saw the snake, he was terrified with the fear of
death, the fire of anger was kindled within him, and he said, “So this
is the sort of thing they are capable of doing! What criminals they
are! Yet I would not believe Magandiya when she told me of their
evil nature. First they made holes in the walls of their own rooms and
sat there; again, when I sent the cocks to them, they sent them back;
to-day they have let a snake loose in my bed.”

Samavatl delivered the following admonition to her five hundred
women, “Friends, we have no other refuge. Cherish precisely the
same feelings towards the king and the queen as you do towards your-
selves. Be not angry with anyone.”” The king took his horn-bow,
which required a thousand men to string, twanged the bowstring,
fitted a poisoned arrow to the string, and placing Samavati in front
[217] and all the other women in single file behind her, shot an arrow
at Samaivati’s breast. But through the supernatural power of her
love the arrow turned back, and returning by the same path it had
come, penetrated, as it were, the king’s heart.

The king thought to himself, “The arrow I shot is capable of
piercing even a rock, and there was nothing in the air to make it turn
back. But it turned and came back by the same path it went. Indeed
this senseless, lifeless arrow knows her goodness, but I, who am a human
being, know it not.”” And throwing the bow away and stretching forth
his hands in an attitude of reverent supplication, he knelt before
Samavati’s feet and pronounced the following Stanza,

T am utterly confused and bewildered; all four quarters are confused in my mind.
Protect me, Simivati, and be a refuge to me.

Samavati, hearing his words, instead of saying, “Very well, your.
majesty, seek refuge in me,” said, ““Great king, in whom I have sought
refuge, in him do you also seek refuge.”

Having thus spoken, Samavati, disciple of the Supremely En-
lightened, said,

Do not seek refuge in me! He in whom I have sought refuge,—
He is the Buddha, great king, he is the Buddha Incomparable!

Seek refuge in that Buddhs, and do you be a refuge to me. [218]

The king said, “Now I am the more afraid,” and pronounced the
following Stanza,
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Now I am the more confused; all four quarters are confused in my mind.
Protect me, Samdvat], and be a refuge to me.

But she refused him precisely as before. Finally he said, “Well
then, I seek refuge in you and in the Teacher, and I grant you a boon.”
“I accept the boon, great king,” she replied.

The king approached the Teacher, sought refuge in him, invited
him to accept his hospitality, and for seven days gave generous alms.
Then, addressing Samavati, he said, “Rise and take your choice.”
Samavati replied, ““Great king, I have no need of gold and silver, but
grant me this boon. Arrange matters so that the Teacher may come
here regularly with his five hundred monks, so that I may hear the
Law.” So the king paid obeisance to the Teacher and said, “Reverend
Sir, come here regularly with your five hundred monks. Samavati and
her attendants say they wish to hear the Law.” The Teacher replied,
“Great king, the Buddhas may not always go to one place; many
desire their presence.” ‘“Well then, direct one monk to come.” The
Teacher directed Ananda to go. So Ananda went every day to the
royal palace with five hundred monks, and those women every day
provided the Elder with food and listened to the Law.

One day, after they had listened to the Elder’s discourse on the
Law, their hearts were filled with joy, and they rendered honor to the
Elder by presenting him with five hundred yellow robes such as are
worn over the shoulders, [219] each worth five hundred pieces of
money. When the king saw that they had not a single garment left,
he asked them, “Where are your yellow robes?” ‘“We gave them to
the Reverend Elder.” “Did he take them all?” “Yes, he took them
all.” The king approached the Elder, paid obeisance to him, ques-
tioned him about the gift of the robes by the women, and learning that
the women had given the robes and that the Elder had received them,
asked, “‘Reverend Sir, there were a great many robes, were there not?
What will you do with so many?” ‘I shall keep as many as we require
for ourselves and send the rest to those whose robes are worn out, great
king.” “What will they do with their own worn-out robes?”” “They
will give them to those whose robes are in a still worse state of repair.”
“What will they do with their own worn-out robes?” “They will make
bedspreads of them.” ‘“What will they do with the old bedspreads?”
“They will make carpets of them.” ‘“What will they do with the
old carpets?” “They will make foot-towels of them.” ‘“What will
they do with the old foot-towels?”” ““They will cut them into small
pieces, mix them with mortar, and use them to plaster walls with.”
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‘“Reverend Sir, although all these are given to your reverences,
nothing is lost.” “Quite so, great king.”” The king was so pleased
that he caused five hundred more robes to be brought and placed
at the Elder’s feet.

(We are told that robes worth five hundred pieces of money [220]
were presented to the Elder and laid at his feet in lots of a thousand,
and that he received this number a hundred thousand times; that
robes worth a thousand pieces of money were presented to the Elder
and laid at his feet in lots of a thousand, and that he received this
number a thousand times; that robes worth a hundred thousand pieces
of money were presented to the Elder and laid at his feet in lots of a
thousand, and that he received this number a hundred times. It is
impossible to enumerate the number of robes he received by ones and
twos and threes and fours and fives and tens. We are told that, upon
the death of the Teacher, the Elder traveled all over the Land of the
Rose-apple, presenting to the monks in all of the monasteries bowls
and robes of his own.)

Burning of Samivati and punishment of Mégandiya

Maigandiya thought to herself, “ Whatever I do turns out otherwise
than I expect. What shall I do now?”’ Finally she decided on a plan.
On her way to the garden to amuse herself, she sent the following
message to her uncle, “Go to Samavati’s palace, open the linen-
closets and the oil-closets, soak pieces of cloth in the jars of oil, and
wrap these cloths about the pillars. Then assemble all the women
within the house, close the door, bar it from without, set fire to the
house with torches, and then descend and go your way.”

Migandiya went up into the palace, [221] opened the closets,
soaked garments in the oil-jars, and was just beginning to wrap them
about the pillars when the women led by Samavati came up to him
and said, “Why are you doing this, uncle?” “My ladies, the king
desires these pillars to be strengthened, and has therefore given orders
that they be wrapped in cloths soaked in oil. It is hard to understand
why certain things should be done in a king’s house and certain other
things should not be done. I beg of you, my ladies, not to remain
here with me.” As soon as they had departed and entered their rooms
at his suggestion, he closed the doors, barred them from without, set
fire to first one cloth and then another, and descended.

Samavati delivered the following admonition to her followers, It
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would not be an easy matter, even with the knowledge of a Buddha,
to determine exactly the number of times our bodies have thus been
burned with fire as we have passed from birth to rebirth in the round
of existences which has no conceivable beginning. Therefore be
heedful.” As the fire consumed the house, the women applied them-
selves to meditation on the element of pain, with the result that some
of them attained the Fruit of the Second Path, while others attained
the Fruit of the Third Path. Therefore it is said [Udana, vii. 10],

Now a large number of monks, returning from their alms-pilgrimage
after breakfast, drew near to where the Exalted One was, and having
drawn near, paid obeisance to the Exalted One and sat down reverently
on one side. And as they sat there on one side, those monks said this
to the Exalted One, “Here, Reverend Sir, while King Udena was in
his pleasure-garden, the quarters of his women were consumed with
fire, and five hundred women led by Samavati lost their lives. Rever-
end Sir, what will be the end, what will be the future state of these
female lay disciples?”

“Monks, some of these female lay disciples [222] obtained the
Fruit of Conversion, others obtained the Fruit of the Second Path,
others obtained the Fruit of the Third Path. Monks, none of those
female lay disciples failed to receive the fruit of their past deeds.”
And the Exalted One, clearly understanding the matter, breathed
forth at that time the following Solemn Utterance,

Bound with the bond of delusion, the world appears to be good.
The simpleton, fettered by the conditions of being, enshrouded by darkness,
Thinks it eternal. But to him who really sees, there is naught.

So saying, he preached the Law, saying, “Monks, as living beings
pass through the round of existences, they are not always heedful, and
sometimes they commit sin. Therefore as they pass through the
round of existences, they experience both pleasure and pain.”

When the king heard the cry, “Samavati’s house is on fire!” he
went there quickly, but the house was burned before he could reach
it. Having extinguished the flames, he sat down surrounded by his
retinue of courtiers, overwhelmed with profound grief, and recalled
to his mind the virtues of Samavati. “Who could have done this
deed?” thought he. Coming to the conclusion that Magandiya was
the author of the crime, he thought to himself, “If I frighten her by
my questions, she will not tell me. Therefore I will employ craft and
question her gently.” [223]
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Accordingly he said to his ministers, “Well, until this moment, no
matter what I was engaged in or occupied with, I was apprehensive and
suspicious; Samavatl was ever seeking occasion to slay me. But now
my mind will rest in peace, and I shall be able to lie down to sleep in
- security.” ‘“Who was it that did this deed, your majesty?”” ‘“Someone
who really loved me must have done it.”” Now Maiagandiya happened
to be standing near, and when she heard the king say this, she said,
““None other than I could have done this. I alone did it. I sent word
to my uncle and ordered him to do it.” ‘“Except you, there is not a
living being who really loves me. I am delighted. I grant you a
boon. Send for all of your relatives.”

So Maiagandiya sent the following message to her relatives, “The
king is pleased with me and has granted me a boon. Come immedi-
ately.” The king rendered high honor to all those who came, insomuch
that even persons who were in no way related to Magandiya, hearing
about it, gave bribes and came and said, “ We are relatives of Magan-
diya.” When the king had them all in his hands, he caused pits to be
dug waist-deep in the palace-court, set them therein, filled up the pits
with earth, spread straw on top, and set the straw on fire. When the
skin had been burned to a crisp, he caused the bodies to be plowed with
an iron plow [224] and to be broken up into pieces and fragments. As
for Magandiya, he had pieces of solid flesh ripped from various parts
of her body with a sharp knife, and setting a vessel of oil on the
brazier, he had them fried like cakes and made her eat them.

In the Hall of Truth the monks began to discuss matters, saying,
“It is not right that 'a female lay disciple endowed with such faith
should suffer such a death.” The Teacher came in and asked them,
“Monks, what is it you are sitting here now talking about?”” When
they told him, he said, “Monks, if you regard this existence alone, it
is indeed highly improper and unjust that the five hundred women
led by Samavati should suffer such a death. What they received,
however, was in every way proper, considering the sin they committed
in a previous existence.” ‘“Reverend Sir, what was the sin they com-
mitted in a previous existence? Pray tell us.” Responding to their
request, the Teacher related the following

Story of the Past: Samavati’s attempt to burn a Private Buddha

Once upon a time, when Brahmadatta reigned in Benires, there
were eight Private Buddhas who regularly took their meals in the
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royal palace, and there were five hundred women who waited upon
them. Seven of these Private Buddhas retired to the Himalaya, and
the Private Buddha who remained sat down on the bank of the river
where there was a tangle of grass, and entered into mystic meditation.

Now one day, after the Private Buddhas had departed, the king
took those women [225] and went to sport in the water. When those
women, who had sported there in the water all day, came out, they
were stung with cold. Desiring to warm themselves, they said to each
other, “Seek out some place where we can build a fire.” As they
walked back and forth, they saw the tangle of grass, and thinking
it was no more than a heap of grass, they gathered round it and set
it on fire. When the grass burned down and they saw the Private
Buddha, they cried out, “We are lost! we are lost! The king’s Private
" Buddha is burning up. If the king finds it out, he will kill everyone of
us. Let us burn him well while we are about it.” So all those women
brought firewood from all directions and piled it on the Private Buddha
until they had erected a great pyre. Then they poured oil on it, and
saying to themselves, “Now he will burn,” they departed.

Now in the beginning their act was a thoughtless one, and they were
not bound thereby. But afterwards they committed a deliberate sin
and were bound to suffer the consequences thereof. While the Private
Buddha was absorbed in mystic meditation, they might have brought
a hundred thousand cartloads of firewood and poured oil thereon, and
they could not even have caused him to feel the heat. So on the
seventh day the Private Buddha arose and went where he pleased.
Because they committed this sin, those women were boiled for many
hundreds of thousands of years in Hell, and because the fruit of that
same evil deed was not yet exhausted, their houses were burned, and
they were burned in their houses in a hundred successive states of
existence in this very manner. This is the sin they committed in a
previous state of existence.

‘When the Teacher had related this story, the monks asked him,
“But, Reverend Sir, how did Khujjuttara come to be a hunchback?
How did she become so wise? How did she obtain the Fruit of Con-
version? How [226] did she become an errand-girl?”’
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Story of the Past: Khujjuttara’s former deeds

Monks, while that same king was ruling in Benares, there was a
Private Buddha who was slightly hunchbacked. Now a certain
serving-woman, throwing a blanket over her shoulder and taking a
golden vessel in her hand, bent over so that she looked like a hunch-
back, and saying, “This is the way our Private Buddha walks,”
imitated his manner of walking. It was in consequence of this that
she came to be a hunchback.

But on the first day she provided those Private Buddhas with
seats in the royal palace, took their bowls, filled them with rice-porridge,
and presented them to them. The Private Buddhas took the bowls
of porridge, but they were so hot that they were obliged to shift them
from one hand to the other. That woman, seeing what they were
doing, presented to them eight ivory bracelets of her own, saying,
“Use these bracelets as stands for your bowls.” When they had so
done, they looked at her, whereupon she said, “Reverend Sirs, we have
no use for these bracelets. Accept them as a present from us before you
go.” The Private Buddhas took them with them to Nandamiila moun-
tain-cave, and those bracelets are preserved there unimpaired to this
day. As the result of this act of hers, she now knows the Tipitaka by
heart and possesses profound wisdom. Likewise it was through waiting
upon the Private Buddhas that she obtained the Fruit of Conversion.
These were her deeds in the interval between two Buddhas.

In the dispensation of Kassapa, the Supremely Enlightened, a
certain treasurer’s daughter of Benares took her mirror one day, as
the shades of evening drew on, and sat down to adorn herself. Now
a certain intimate friend of hers, [227] a nun freed from the Depravi-
ties, canre to see her. For nuns freed from the Depravities like to visit
the households of their supporters at eventide. But at that moment
the treasurer’s daughter happened to have no errand-girl with her.
So she said to the nun, “I greet you, Reverend Lady. Just take that
basket of ornaments and give it to me.” The nun thought to herself,
“If I do not take this basket and give it to her, she will take a dislike
to me and will be reborn in Hell; but if I do give it to her, she will be
reborn as the errand-girl of another. However, it is better to be the
errand-girl of another than to suffer torment in Hell.” So out of pity
for her she took the basket and gave it to her. In consequence of this
act she became the errand-girl of another. Stories of the Past
concluded.
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Again one day in the Hall of Truth the monks started a discussion.
“Samavati and her five hundred women were burned with fire in their
house; as for Magandiya and her kinswomen, a fire of straw was
built over their bodies, and their bodies were torn asunder with iron
plows, and Magandiya was boiled in boiling oil. Which of these are
alive and which are dead?”” The Teacher came in and asked, ‘“Monks,
what are you sitting here now talking about?”” When they told him,
he said to them, ‘“Monks, they that are heedless, though they live a
hundred years, yet are they dead. They that are heedful, be they dead
or alive, yet are they alive. Magandiya, while she yet lived, was dead
already. Samavati and her followers, though they be dead, yet are
they alive. For, monks, the heedful never die.”” So saying, he pro-
nounced the following Stanzas, [228]

2]1. Heedfulness is the Way to the Deathless; heedlessness is the way to death.
The heedful never die, but they that are heedless are, as it were, dead already.

22. Knowing this clearly, they that are advanced in heedfulness
Delight in heedfulness, and rejoice in the state of the Elect.

23. They that devote themselves to meditation, they that are persevering, they that
put forth resolute effort,
They, the wise, attain Nibbéna, the highest bliss.

II.2. THE VOICE OF A RICH MAN'!

If a man exert himself. This religious instruction was given by the
Teacher while he was in residence at Veluvana with reference to
Kumbhaghosaka. [231]

For once upon a time the plague broke out at Rajagaha in the
house of the principal treasurer of Rajagaha. When the plague breaks
out, animals, from flies to cattle, are the first to die; after them, slaves;
after them, the master and mistress of a household. So this disease
attacked last of all the treasurer and his wife. As soon as they felt
the first touch of the disease, they looked at their son, who stood near,
and with eyes filled with tears said to him, “Dear son, as we know,
when this disease breaks out, only those who break down the wall
and flee succeed in saving their lives. Therefore have no consideration
for us, but make your escape. Having thus saved your life, come
back again, and in such and such a place you will find buried in the

! Text: N i. 231-239.
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earth forty crores of treasure. Dig up the treasure and live on the
money.” [232] When the son heard his parents speak thus, he wept
aloud, bade farewell to his mother and father, and terrified with the
fear of death, broke down the wall and fled. Seeking refuge in a
certain mountain jungle, he dwelt there for twelve years, and then
returned.

Now since he was a mere boy when he went away, and when he
returned his hair and beard had grown long, no one recognized him.
A sign which his mother and father had given him enabled him to find
the place where the treasure had been buried, and going there he
discovered that the treasure had not been disturbed. But he thought
to himself, “No one knows me here, and if I dig up this treasure and
begin to spend it, they will say, ‘A treasure has been dug up by
a certain poor man,’ and will seize me and subject me to annoyance.
Suppose I were to work for hire and thus gain a living.”” So he dressed
himself in rags and went through the servants’ quarters, inquiring,
““Is there anyone who has need of a servant?”’

When the servants saw him, they said, “If you will do a certain

. piece of work for us, we will pay you for it in rice.” ‘“What kind of
work is it, friends?” “To order and direct our work. You will be
obliged to get up early in the morning and go the rounds of the workers
and give orders to them, saying, ‘Men, get up and bring out the
carts and yoke the oxen; it is time for the elephants and horses to go
to pasture. Women, you also get up and cook broth and rice.””” “Very
well,” said the rich man, accepting the task. So they gave him a house
to live in, and he did his work faithfully every day.

Now one day King Bimbisara, who could recognize anyone by the
sound of his voice, heard his voice and straightway said, “That is
the voice of some rich man.” A certain female servant who stood
near [233] thought to herself, “No matter what the king says, this
is something I ought to investigate.” Therefore she sent out a man,
saying to him, “Just go and find out who this is.”” The messenger
straightway went and looked at the man, and on his return made the

. following report, “That is a poor man who is a servant of servants.”
When the king heard his report, he said nothing; but on the second
day and on the third day, hearing his voice, said precisely the same
thing.

Every time the king made this remark the same thought occurred
to that female servant, and again and again she sent a man to investi-
gate. Every time she heard the report, “That is a poor man,” she
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thought to herself, “Every time the king hears the report, ‘That is a
poor man,’ he refuses to believe it, and keeps repeating, ‘That is the
voice of some rich man.” There must be a reason for this, and it is
my duty to find out the real facts.” Accordingly she said to the king,
“Your majesty, give me a thousand pieces of money, and I will take
my daughter and go to this man and bring this treasure to the royal
palace.” :

The king caused a thousand pieces of money to be given to her.
She took the money, caused her daughter to put on a soiled dress,
and departed with her from the royal palace. Pretending that she
was making a journey, she went to the servants’ quarters, and entering
a certain house, said to the mistress, “ Woman, we are making a journey
and should like to rest here for a day or two before we go on.” “Woman,
there are many persons living in this house, and it is out of the question
for you to remain here. But Kumbhaghosaka’s house is empty; go
there.” So she went there and said to Kumbhaghosaka, *“ Master, we
are making a journey and should like to remain here a day or two.”
He refused her request, although she repeated it again and again.
Finally she said, “Master, we will remain here to-day, just for one
day, and early in the morning will continue our journey.” So saying,
she refused to depart.

So she took up her residence there. On the following day, when it
was time for Kumbhaghosaka to go to the forest, she said to him,
““Master, give me an allowance for food [234] before you go, and I
will cook food for you.” ‘““Never mind about that,” replied Kumbha-
ghosaka; “I will cook food all by myself and eat it.”” After she had
urged him repeatedly, he gave her the allowance. As soon as she re-
ceived it, she procured from a shop cooking-vessels and the purest of
rice. Preparing the finest of boiled rice in the manner of cooking
practiced in the king’s household, and cooking with the greatest care
three portions of sauce and curry, she presented the food to Kumbha-
ghosaka on his return from the forest.

When he had eaten his meal and his senses were dull, she said to
him, ‘“Master, we are tired and will remain here for a day or two.”
“Very well,” said he, consenting to the arrangement. Likewise in
the evening and on the following day she cooked savory food for him
and gave it to him. When she perceived that his senses had become
dull, she said tohim, ‘“Master, we willremain right here for a few days.”

Thus she contrived to establish a residence in his house. One day
she took a sharp knife and cut the cords of his mattress underneath at
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the bed-frame in several places. The result was that, when he returned
and lay down on his bed, the mattress sank down. Said he, ‘“How did
this bed come to be cut in this fashion?”’ ‘‘Master, I cannot prevent
the boys from coming here and jumping on it.” ‘“Woman, it is because
of you that I have been subjected to this annoyance. Before you
came, whenever I wished to go anywhere, I closed the door and went.”
“My friend, what shall I do? I cannot stop them.” On three
successive days she cut the mattress of his bed in this way, and when
he became irritated and angry and rebuked her, she made the same
answer. 3

Finally she cut all of the cords except one or two. [235] On that
day, as soon as he lay down on the bed, the entire mattress fell to the
ground, and he was doubled up with his head between his knees.
Rising to his feet, he said, “What shall I do? Where shall I go now?
I have no longer a bed on which I can lie.”” ‘“Dear friend, what can I
do? I cannot prevent the boys of the neighborhood from entering.
Well, do not worry. Let me think where you might go at this time.”
And addressing her daughter, she said to her, “My dear daughter,
make room for your brother to lie down.” So her daughter lay down
on one side of her bed and said to Kumbhaghosaka, *“Master, come lie
here.”” The mother also said to him, “Dear friend, go lie with your
sister.” Accordingly Kumbhaghosaka lay down on the same bed with
the girl and that very night did the deed of kind with her. The young
girl burst into tears. Her mother asked her, “Dear daughter, why
are you weeping?”’ ‘“Mother, such and such happened.” “Well,
what’s to be done about it? You ought to have a husband, and he
ought to have a wife.” So she made Kumbhaghosaka her son-in-law,
and thereafter Kumbhaghosaka and her daughter lived together.

After a few days she sent a message to the king, saying, ‘“‘Cause
the following proclamation to be made, ‘Let those who dwell in the
servants’ quarters make holiday. Whoever does not make holiday
in his house shall be visited with such and such punishinent.’”” The
king did so. Kumbhaghosaka’s mother-in-law said to Kumbha-
ghosaka, “Dear son. the king commands those who dwell in the
servants’ quarters to make holiday. What shall we do?” ‘“Mother,
I can barely get along on the wages I earn. What shall I do?”” ‘““Dear
son, those who live in a house of their own can borrow money. [236]
The king's command must not be disobeyed, but a debt can be paid
off in some way or other. Go somewhere and get one or two pieces of
money.”’
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Kumbhaghosaka, much provoked, went to the spot where his
forty crores of treasure were buried, removed but a single piece of
money, and returned with it. His mother-in-law sent this piece of
money to the king and paid the expenses of the holiday with a piece
of money of her own. Again after a few days she sent the same message
to the king. Again the king gave orders, “Let them make holiday.
Those who do not shall be visited with such and such punishment.”
And again Kumbhaghosaka, under compulsion of his mother-in-law,
who repeated the same suggestion she had previously made, went to
his hidden store, removed three pieces of money, and brought and gave
them to her. She sent these three pieces also to the king. After a few
days more had passed, she sent yet another message to the king, saying,
“Now let the king send some of his men and summon this man into
his presence.”

The king’s men came and began a search for their man, inquiring,
“Which man is Kumbhaghosaka?”” When they saw Kumbhaghosaka,
they said to him, ‘“Come, sir, the king summons you.” Kumbhagho-
saka was frightened and was unwilling to go, saying, ‘““The king does
not know me,” and much else. But the king’s men overpowered
him, and seizing him by the hands and feet, dragged him off. When
his mother-in-law saw what they were doing, she reviled them, saying,
“Rascally villains, you are not fit to lay hands on my son-in-law.”
Turning to Kumbhaghosaka, she said, “Go, my dear son; be not
afraid. When I see the king, I will have him cut off the hands of those
who seized you by the hands and feet.”” So saying, she took her
daughter, and preceding the king’s men, went to the royal palace.
When she arrived at the palace, she changed her garments, adorned
herself with all her adornments, and thus arrayed took her stand on one
side.

The king’s men came, pulling and dragging Kumbhaghosaka with
them. Kumbhaghosaka paid obeisance to the king and took his stand
before him. The king said to him, “You are Kumbhaghosaka?”
“Yes, your majesty.” ‘“Why do you practice deceit in spending your
great wealth?” [237] “Where is my great wealth, your majesty?
I make a living by working for hire.” ‘““Do not act thus. Why do you
deceive us?”’ “I am not deceiving you, your majesty. I have no
wealth.” Then the king showed him those pieces of money and asked
him, ‘“Whose are these pieces of money?”” Kumbhaghosaka recognized
the coins. Thought he, “Alas, I am lost! How did these pieces of
money get into the hands of the king?” Looking about him, he saw



298 Book 2, Story 2. Dhammapada 2} [N.1.287-

those two women, adorned and bejeweled, standing at the door of the
room. Thought he, “This is a deep-laid plot. These women must
have been suborned by the king.”

Then said the king to him, “Speak, sir. Why do you act thus?”
“I have no protector, your majesty.” ‘“There does not exist a pro-
tector who is my equal.” ‘Your majesty, it would be most agreeable
to me if your majesty were my protector.” “That am I, sir. How
great is your wealth?” “Forty crores, your majesty.” ‘What shall
I send to convey your wealth hither?”” ‘“Carts, your majesty.” So
the king had several hundred carts yoked, and sent and had Kumbha-
ghosaka’s wealth brought and heaped up in the palace court. Then
he assembled the residents of Rajagaha and asked, “Is there anyone
at all in this city that possesses so much wealth as this?”> “There is
not, your majesty.” ‘What should be bestowed upon him?”’ ‘““Honor,
your majesty.” So the king bestowed high honor upon him, appointed
him to the post of treasurer, and gave him his daughter in marriage.

The king then took Kumbhaghosaka to the Teacher, paid obeisance
to the Teacher, and said to him, “Reverend Sir, behold this man. For
wisdom the like of, him does not exist. Though he possesses forty
crores of treasure, he gives no sign of being unduly elated, nor is he
puffed up in his own conceit. As though he were a poor man, [238]
he dressed himself in rags and worked for his living in the servants’
quarter. In this way I came to know of him. And coming to know of
him, I sent for him, made him admit his wealth, caused his wealth to
be carried to the palace, appointed him to the post of treasurer, and
gave him my daughter in marriage. So wise a man I never saw before.”

Hearing this, the Teacher said, “If a man lives thus, great king,
his life is a righteous life. But the deeds of thieves and other wicked
men oppress them even in this world and afford them no happiness in
the next. For if a man, when his wealth is exhausted, works for hire,
his life is a righteous life. For such a man, exerting the power of
his manhood, always mindful, pure in deeds and words and thoughts,
circumspect of conduct through wisdom, exercising self-restraint in
deeds and words and thoughts, leading a righteous life, never relaxing
mindfulness, such a man goes from strength to strength.” So saying,
he pronounced the following Stanza,

24. If a man exert himself, if he be ever mindful, if his deeds be pure, if he be circum-
spect of conduct,
If he control himself, if he live in accordance with the Law, if he be heedful, his
glory ever increases.
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II. 3. LITTLE WAYMAN!

By rousing himself, by heedfulness. This religious instruction was
given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Veluvana with
reference to Little Wayman the Elder. [239]

3 a. Birth of Little Wayman

We are told that the daughter of a rich merchant of Rajagaha,
upon reaching the age of maturity, was provided by her mother and
father with quarters on the topmost floor of a seven-storied palace
" and guarded with excessive care.? But in spite of this, maddened with
the madness of youth and lusting for a man, [240] she did the deed of
kind with her own slave. Frightened to think that others also might
find out about her misconduct, she said to him, “It is out of the
question for us to live here any longer. If my mother and father dis-
cover my misconduct, they will tear me limb from limb. Let us go
live elsewhere.”

So taking a few necessary things they could carry in the hand, they
left the house by the principal door. ‘It matters little,” said they,
““where we go, so long as we go and live where others will know nothing
about us.” So saying, the two set out together. They took up their
residence in a certain place and lived together, with the result that the
young wife conceived a child in her womb. When her unborn child
reached maturity, she took counsel with her husband, saying, “If I
give birth to my child in a place far removed from kith and kin, it
will bring suffering to both of us. There is but one place for us
to go, and that is home to my parents.” But her husband, fearing
that, if he himself went there, he would be killed, kept postponing
the day of their departure, saying, “We will go to-day; we will go
to-morrow.”

The young wife thought to herself, “This simpleton realizes the

1 Parallels: Jataka 4: i. 114-120; Divydvaddna, xxxv: 483-515; Rogers, Buddha-
ghosha’s Parables, vi, pp. 61-71; Anguttara Commentary on Etadagga Vagga, Stories
of Mahd Panthaka and Culla Panthaka. 3 a and 3 b are almost word for word the
same as the Introduction to Jataka 4. 3 c is entirely different from the Story of the
Past in the Jataka. On Divydvadina, xxxv, see Introduction, § 12, paragraph 1. See
also Thera-Gatha Commentary, ccxxxi and cexxxvi, and W. A. Clouston, Popular Tales
and Fictions, ii, 817-821, together with the note on pp. 491-493. Text: N i. 239-255.

2 Cf. the beginning of Stories viii. 8, viii. 12, and ix. 8.
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enormity of his offense, and therefore dares not go. After all, a mother
and a father are one’s best friends. Let this fellow go or not; at any
rate I intend to go.” So while her husband was out of the house, she
put the household utensils away, and informing her next-door neighbors
that she was going home to her parents, she started out on the road.
When her husband returned to the house and failed to see her, he
inquired of the neighbors where she had gone. Hearing that she had
gone home to her parents, he set out after her as fast as he could and
overtook her on the road. And right there she gave birth to her child.
‘“What is it, wife?”’ asked the husband. [241] ‘“Husband, it is a son.”
‘“What shall we do now?”” “That for whieh we intended to go home to
my parents has happened by the way. Why, therefore, should we go
there? Let us return to our own home.”

Agreeing that this was the best plan, husband and wife returned to
their own home. Since their son had been horn by the way, they gave
him the name Wayman. In no long time the young wife conceived a
second child in her womb. (All is to be related in detail precisely as
before.) Since this child also was born by the way, they gave him the
name Little Wayman, calling the older son Big Wayman. Taking their
two sons, they returned to their own place of residence.

While they were living there, Big Wayman heard other boys speak
of their uncles and grandparents. So one day he asked his mother,
“Mother, other boys speak of their grandfather and grandmother.
Haven’t we any relatives?” “Yes, my son. You have no relatives
living here, but you have a grandfather, a rich merchant, living in
Rajagaha, and we have many other relatives living there too.” “Why
don’t we go there, mother?” The mother evaded telling her son why
she did not go there. But the children repeated the question time and
again. Finally she said to her husband, [242] ““These children weary
me excessively. Will my mother and father eat us alive when they see
us? Come, why not let the children see the family of their grand-
parents?” “I should not dare meet them face to face, but I will escort
you there.” “Very well; some means must be found by which the
children can see the family of their grandparents.”

So mother and father took the children, and arriving at Rajagaha
in due course, took up their residence in the hall of a certain woman
near the gate of the city. Then the mother of the children sent word
to her mother and father that she and her children had arrived. When
her parents received this message, they said to each other, “As we
have passed through the round of existences, we have not previously
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had a son or a daughter. But these two have grievously offended
against us, and it is out of the question for them to stand in our sight.
Let these two take as much money as they need and go and live in
some pleasant place. However, let them send the children here.” So
the two took the money which was sent to them, and giving their
children into the hands of the messengers who came, sent them to their
grandparents. Thus it happened that the children were brought up
in the home of their grandparents.

Of the two children, Little Wayman was still very young. Big
Wayman, however, used to accompany his grandfather to hear the
Possessor of the Ten Forces preach the Law. And as the result of his
frequent visits to the Teacher, his heart inclined to retirement from
the world. Accordingly he said to his grandfather, “If you would give
me your permission, I should like to retire from the world.” [243]
“What say you, dear grandson? There is no one in the whole world
whose retirement from the world would give me so much pleasure
as your own. If you are able to do so, by all means retire from the
world.”

3 b. Little Wayman as a monk

Accordingly the grandfather took Big Wayman to the Teacher,
who said, ‘“Householder, you have won a boy?”’ ‘“Yes, Reverend Sir,
this is a grandson of mine who desires to become a monk under you.”
The Teacher bade a certain monk on his round for alms to receive
the boy into the Order. The Elder assigned to him as a Subject of
Meditation the first five of the Constituent Parts of the Body, and
then received him into the Order. The youth learned by heart a
considerable portion of the Word of the Buddha, kept residence during
the season of the rains, made his full profession, and by diligently
applying himself to meditation attained Arahatship.

As Big Wayman passed his time in the enjoyment of the bliss of
Mystic Meditation, in the enjoyment of the bliss of the Fruit of the
Path, he thought to himself, ““Assuredly it is in the power of Little
Wayman to experience this same bliss.” Therefore he went to the
treasurer his grandfather and said to him, “Great treasurer, if you
will give your kind permission, I should like to receive Little Wayman
into the Order.” By all means receive him into the Order, Reverend
Sir.” We are told that the treasurer was profoundly attached to the
Religion of the Buddha, and that when asked, “Of which daughter of
yours are these two children: the sons?’’ he felt ashamed to say, “Of
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my daughter who ran away,” and that for these two reasons he was
only too glad to give them permission to retire from the world.

So the Elder Big Wayman received his brother Little Wayman into
the Order [244] and established him in the Moral Precepts. But Little
Wayman, once received into the Order, proved a dullard. Indeed in
four months he was unable to learn by heart this single Stanza,

Even as the lotus, the red lotus, of fragrant perfume, appears at early morn full-blown,
with fragrance unimpaired,
Behold the Buddha, resplendent as the blazing sun in the sky.

It seems that, in the dispensation of the Supremely Enlightened
Kassapa, he possessed great wisdom, but that, after entering the
religious life, he ridiculed and made fun of a certain monk who was a
dullard, while the latter was trying to learn the Sacred Word; and
that this monk, embarrassed by the ridicule to which he was subjected,
was unable either to learn the passage by heart or even to repeat it.
As the result of that act, Little Wayman was reborn as a dullard, and
every sentence he learned put the preceding sentence out of his mind;
indeed four months passed while he was striving to learn this one
Stanza.

Thereupon Big Wayman said to his brother, “Little Wayman, it
is not in your power to master this religion. In four months you have
not been able to learn a single Stanza. How can you ever hope to reach
the goal of the Religious Life? Leave the monastery at once.” So
saying, he expelled his brother from the Order. But Little Wayman
was sincerely attached to the Religion of the Buddha, and the last
thing in the world he wished to do was to leave the Order and return
to the life of a householder.

Now at that time Jivaka Komarabhacca, taking an abundant
supply of garlands and of various kinds of perfumes, went to his own
mango-grove, rendered honor to the Teacher, listened to the Law, and
then rising from his seat and paying obeisance to the Teacher, ap-
proached Big Wayman, who was steward of the Order, [245] and
asked him, “Reverend Sir, how many monks are living with the
Teacher?”” “Five hundred.” ‘To-morrow, Reverend Sir, bring the
five hundred monks presided over by the Buddha and take a meal in
our house.” “The lay disciple Little Wayman is a dullard and has
made no progress in the Law. I accept the invitation for all except
him.”

When Little Wayman heard that, he thought to himself, “The
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Elder accepts an invitation for all these monks, but in accepting it,
deliberately leaves me out. Beyond a doubt my brother’s affection
for me is gone. Of what profit to me any longer is this religion? I
will return to the life of a householder and spend my days giving alms
and doing other works of merit.”” So on the following day, very early
in the morning, he set out with the intention of returning to the life
of a householder. Very early in the morning also the Teacher sur-
veyed the world, and seeing this incident, preceded Little Wayman
to the gate and walked back and forth on the same road Little Wayman
had taken.

As Little Wayman came along, he saw the Teacher, and approach-
ing him, paid obeisance to him. Said the Teacher, ‘“But, Little Way-
man, where are you going at this hour of the day?” ‘“Reverend Sir,
my brother has expelled me from the Order, and therefore I intend
to return to the world.” ‘“Little Wayman, it was at my hands that
you received admission to the Order. Therefore when your brother
expelled you, why did you not come to me? Come now, what have
you to do with the life of a householder? You shall remain with me.”
So saying, the Teacher stroked him on the head with his hand, the
palm of whieh was marked with the Wheel, and taking him with him,
went and seated him over against the Perfumed Chamber. And
creating by magic a perfectly clean cloth, he gave it to him, saying,
“Little Wayman, remain right here, face towards the East, rub this
cloth, and say as you do so, ‘Removal of Impurity! Removal of
Impurity!”
the Teacher, accompanied by the Congregation of Monks, went to the
house of Jivaka and sat down on the seat prepared for him.

Little Wayman sat down, facing the sun, and rubbed the cloth,
saying as he did so, ““Removal of Impurity! Removal of Impurity!”’
As he rubbed the piece of cloth, it became soiled. Thereupon he
thought, “This piece of cloth was perfectly clean before. But through
this body of mine it has lost its original character and has become
soiled. ‘Impermanent, indeed, are all existing things!””” And grasp-
ing the thought of decay and death, he developed Insight. The
Teacher, knowing that Little Wayman’s mind had attained Insight,
said, “Little Wayman, think not that only a piece of cloth has become
soiled and dyed with impurity. Indeed within you are lust, impurity,
and other defilements; remove them.” And sending forth a luminous
image of himself, the Teacher, sitting before him, present in bodily
form, as it were, pronounced the following Stanzas,

[246] Just then meal-time was announced, whereuponl
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Lust, not dirt, is properly called impurity; to lust is correctly applied the term *“im-
purity.”

Monks should rid themselves of this form of impurity and live faithful to the religion
of him who is devoid of impurity.

Hatred, not dirt, is properly called impurity; to hatred is correctly applied the term
. impurity.”

Monks should rid themselves of this form of impurity and live faithful to the religion
of him who is devoid of hatred.

Delusion, not dirt, is properly called impurity; to delusion is correctly applied the term
“impurity.” .
Monks should rid themselves of this form of impurity and live faithful to the religion
of him who is devoid of delusion. [247]

At the conclusion of the Stanzas Little Wayman attained Arahat-
ship, together with the Supernatural Faculties, and with the Super-
natural Faculties also a knowledge of the Three Pitakas.

It appears that in a previous state of existence he was a king. Once,
while making a ceremonial circuit of the city, with sweat pouring down
his forehead, he wiped his forehead with a clean cloth, whereupon the
cloth became soiled. Thought he, “By reason of this body of mine a
cloth so clean as this has lost its former character and become soiled.
‘Impermanent, indeed, are all existing things!” Thus did he acquire
the concept of Impermanence. In consequence of this, in a later
existence, Removal of Impurity became his salvation.

Jivaka Komirabhacca offered Water of Donation to the Possessor
of the Ten Forces. Said the Teacher, covering the bowl with his hand,
“Jivaka, are there no monks in the monastery?” Big Wayman
replied, “No, Reverend Sir, there are no monks in the monastery.”
Said the Teacher, “But Jivaka, there are!” ‘““Very well,” said Jivaka,
and sent a man to find out. Said he, “Go to the monastery and find
out whether or not there are any monks there.” At that moment
Little Wayman said to himself, “My brother says, ‘There are no
monks in the monastery.” I will show him that there are monks in
the monastery.” And forthwith he filled the whole mango-grove with
monks. Some of them were making robes, others were dyeing robes,
others were repeating the Sacred Texts. Thus did Little Wayman
create by supernatural power a thousand monks, each different from
every other. So when Jivaka’s messenger saw the numerous monks,
he returned and told Jivaka, “Noble sir, the entire mango-grove is
full of monks.” And right there Elder [248]

Wayman, multiplying himself a thousand-fold,
Sat in the charming mango-grove until he was sent for.
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Said the Teacher to the man, “Go to the inonasterx and say, ‘The
Teacher summons Little Wayman.”” The man went and said what he
was told to say. Thereupon the cry went up from a thousand throats,
“I am Little Wayman! I am Little Wayman!” The man returned
and said, “Reverend Sir, they all say they are Little Wayman.” Said
the Teacher, “Well then, go and take by the hand the first man that
says, ‘I am Little Wayman,” and the rest will disappear.” The man
did so. Immediately the thousand monks disappeared. The Elder
Little Wayman returned with the man who came for him.

At the end of the meal the Teacher addressed Jivaka, “Jivaka,
take Little Wayman’s bowl, and he will pronounce the words of
thanksgiving for you.” Jivaka took his bowl. The Elder Little Way-
man, like a young lion roaring a lion’s roar, pronounced the words of
thanksgiving, ranging through the whole of the Three Pitakas. The
Teacher arose from his seat, and surrounded by the Congregation of
Monks, went to the monastery. After the monks had shown the
Teacher the customary attentions, the Teacher, facing the Perfumed
Chamber, admonished the Congregation of Monks with the Admoni-
tion of the Happy One, assigned a Subject of Meditation, dismissed
the Congregation of Monks, and then, having entered the Perfumed
Chamber, the fragrant, perfumed residence in which he resided, lay
down lion-like on his right side.

Now at eventide the monks assembled from all quarters, and
drawing as it were curtains of crimson blankets, [249] sat down and
began to praise the virtues of the Teacher. “Brethren, Big Wayman,
not understanding the disposition of Little Wayman, thinking merely,
‘In four months this dullard has not been able to learn a single Stanza,’
.expelled him from the monastery. But the Supremely Enlightened,
because he is King of Ultimate Truth, within the space of a single
meal bestowed Arahatship upon him, and together with Arahatship
the Supernatural Faculties, and with the Supernatural Faculties
mastery of the Three Pitakas. Oh, great is the power of the Buddhas!”

Now the Exalted One, knowing that they were discussing this
matter in the Hall of Truth, thought to himself, It is my duty to go
to them this very moment.” Accordingly he arose from the Seat of
the Buddha, put on his gloriously dyed under and upper garments,
girded himself as with lightning, and over his shoulders, like a crimson
blanket, threw the great robe of the Happy One. And coming forth
from his richly fragrant Perfumed Chamber, and walking with the
stride of a noble elephant in rut, with the incomparable grace of a
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Buddha, he proceeded to the Hall of Truth. And mounting the
gloriously arrayed sublime Seat of the Buddha, and diffusing from his
body the six-colored rays of a Buddha, even as the sun, newly risen
on the top of Mount Yugandhara, agitates the inmost depths of the
sea, he sat down in the center of the seat.

Now the moment the Supremely Enlightened One arrived, the
Congregation of Monks ceased their talk, became silent. The Teacher
surveyed the assemblage with soft, kind heart [250] and said, ““This
assemblage delights my heart beyond measure. Not a single hand is
out of place, not a single foot is out of place; not a cough is to be heard,
not a sneeze is to be heard; all these monks, reverent with reverence
for the Buddha, subdued by the majesty of the Buddha, though I were
to sit here for an aeon and not speak, would refrain from speaking first,
would not so much as open their lips. I alone have the right to decide
when it is proper to begin to speak. Therefore will I speak first.”

Accordingly with sweet voice, a voice like that of Great Brahma,
he addressed the monks, “Monks, what is the subject of your con-
versation now, as you sit here all gathered together? What was the
subject of the discussion which you so suddenly broke off?””> When they
told him, he said, “Monks, this is not the first time Little Wayman
has proved a dullard. In a previous state of existence also he was a
dullard. This is not the first time I have been his refuge. In a previous
state of existence also I was his refuge. But in a previous state of
existence I made him master of the wealth of this world. Just now I
made him master of wealth that transcends this world.”” The monks
desired to hear all about it. Responding to their requests, he related
the following

3 c. Story of the Past: The world-renowned teacher, the young
man, and the king of Beniires

Once upon a time a certain young man who lived in the city of
Benares went to Takkasila for the purpose of acquiring the arts and
became the pupil of a world-renowned teacher. He was by all odds
the most helpful to the teacher of all the five hundred young men who
were his pupils. All of his duties, such as bathing and perfuming the
feet, he performed most faithfully. But he was such a dullard that
he was not able to learn a single thing. The teacher thought, “This
young man is most helpful to me; I will instruct him in the arts.”
But in spite of his best efforts he was unable to teach him a single
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thing. [251] When, after a long residence, the young man was unable
to learn a single Stanza, he became discouraged, and resolving to
return home, asked leave of the teacher.

The teacher thought to himself, “This young man is a devoted
servitor of mine. I should like to make a learned man of him, but this
I cannot do. However, I ought certainly to make him some return
for the assistance he has rendered me. I will compose a certain charm
for him and give it to him.” So he took him to the forest and composed
for him the charm, “You’re rubbing! you’re rubbing! Why are you
rubbing? I know too!” And this charm he taught him, causing him
to repeat it many hundred times. “Do you know it now?” asked
the teacher. “Yes,” replied the young man; “I know it now.”
Thought the teacher, “If a dullard by dint of hard labor once learns
by heart a form of words, it will never leave him.” And giving him
money to defray the expenses of his journey, he dismissed him, saying,
“Now go make your living by this charm. But in order that you may
not forget it, keep repeating it over and over.” When he arrived at
Benares, his mother said to herself, “My son has returned after
acquiring the arts,” and held high festival in his honor.

It happened just at this time that the king of Bendres made a
careful examination of his thoughts, words, and deeds for the purpose
of discovering whether he had been guilty of any fault. So far as
he could see, he had been guilty of no impropriety. But he reflected,
“A person never sees his own faults; it takes other persons to see
them. I will make a tour of the city and listen to what others say
about me. When people have eaten supper and have sat down, they
gossip and talk about all sorts of things. If I am ruling unjustly, they
will say, ‘We are utterly ruined by the punishments, taxes, and other
oppressions of our wicked king.” If, on the other hand, I am ruling
justly, [252] they will comment on my good qualities, paying memany
compliments and .saying, ‘Long life to our king!”” So at nightfall
he put on a disguise and went about the city, walking close to the
walls of their houses.

At that moment some tunnel-thieves began to dig a tunnel between
two houses in order to enter two houses by the same tunnel. The king
saw them and took his stand in the shadow of the house. Now in this
house lived the young man who had just returned from Takkasila
with the charm. When the thieves had dug the tunnel, they entered
the house and began to look over the goods in the house. Just then
the young man woke up and began to repeat his charm, “You’re rub-
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bing! you’re rubbing! Why are you rubbing? I know too!” When
the thieves heard this, they exclaimed, “This man knows what we are
up to. Now he will kill us.”” And forthwith, dropping even the
clothes they had on, they fled in terror in the first direction that was
handy. The king, seeing them fleeing and hearing the words of the
young man as he repeated his charm, continued his tour of the city
and then entered the royal residence.

When the night grew bright and the dawn came, the king sum-
moned a certain man and said to him, “My man, go into such and
such a street, and in a certain house, where a tunnel has been dug, you
will find a young man who has just returned from Takkasila after
learning the various arts. Bring him to me.”” The man went and said
to the young man, “The king summons you,” and conducted him to
the king. The king said to him, “Friend, are you the young man that
has just returned from Takkasila after learning the various arts?”
“Yes, your majesty.” “Give us this charm also.” ‘Very well, your
majesty. Sit down on the same seat with me and learn it.”” The king
sat down on the same seat with him, learned the charm, [253] and
then said to him, “Here is your fee as teacher,” and gave him a thou-
sand pieces of money. '

Just at this time the commander-in-chief of the army said to the
king’s barber, “When do you expect to shave the king’s beard?”
“To-morrow or the day after.”” The commander-in-chief of the army
gave the king’s barber a thousand pieces of money and said to him,
“I have something for you to do.” ‘What is it, master?”” “Go
through the form of shaving the king’s beard, but grind your razor very
sharp and cut his windpipe. Then you shall be commander-in-chief
of the army and I shall be king.” “Very well,” said the barber,
agreeing to the bargain.

When the day came for the barber to shave the king’s beard, he
moistened the king’s beard with scented water, sharpened his razor,
and applied it to the king’s cheek. Discovering that the razor was
slightly dull, and realizing that he must cut the king’s windpipe with
a single stroke, he stepped aside and began to sharpen his razor again.
At that moment the king remembered his charm and began to repeat
it, saying, ‘“ You’re rubbing! you’re rubbing! Why are you rubbing?
I know too! I know!” Beads of sweat stood out on the forehead of
the barber. * “The king knows all about this business,” thought he.
He flung his razor to the ground in terror and prostrated himself on
his breast before the feet of the king.
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Now kings know a thing or two; and the king of Benares immedi-
ately said to the barber, ‘“Scoundrel of a barber, you thought to your-
self, ‘The king doesn’t know about this.”” “Spare my life, your
majesty.” ‘““Very well; fear not. Tell me about it.” ““Your majesty,
the commander-in-chief of the army gave me a thousand pieces of
money, saying to me, ‘Go through the forin of shaving the king’s
beard, but cut his windpipe. Then I shall be king and you shall be
commander-in-chief of the armny.’”

The king thought to himself, “It is due to my teacher that my
life was spared.” [254] He sent for the commander-in-chief of the
army and said to him, “Well, commander-in-chief, what is there that
you have not received from me? Henceforth I can endure to look
upon you no longer. Depart from my kingdom.” With these words
he banished him from the kingdom. Then he sent for the young man
who had been his teacher and said to him, ““Teacher, it is due to you
that my life was spared.” And when he had so said, he bestowed high
honor upon him and made him commander-in-chief of his army. End
of Story of the Past.

“At that time,” said the Teacher, “the young man was Little
Wayman, and the world-renowned teacher was the Teacher himself.”
Therefore when the Teacher had finished this Story of the Past, he
said, “Monks, thus in a previous state of existence also Little Wayman
was a dullard, and at that time also I became his refuge and estab-
lished him in the possession of the wealth of this world.” Agam one
day the monks began a discussion, “The Teacher indeed became a
refuge to Little Wayman.” Thereupon the Teacher related the Story
of the Past found in the Culla-Setthi Jataka.

A man who is wise and intelligent can elevate himself to high position in the world
with but little wealth,
Even as by blowing a tiny flame one can start a great fire.

Having pronounced this Stanza, the Teacher said, “Monks, this
is not the first time I have been a refuge to Little Wayman; in a
previous state of existence also I was a refuge to him. But in
a previous state of existence I made him master of the wealth of this
world; just now I made him master of wealth that transcends the
world. At that time the young pupil was Little Wayman and the
young merchant was I myself.”” Thus did he identify the characters
in the Jataka.

Again one day in the Hall of Truth the monks began a discussion:
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“Brethren, in four months Little Wayman was unable to learn by
heart a Stanza of four verses; but because he never relaxed the powers
of his will, [255] he became established in Arahatship and has just
now become master of wealth that transcends this world.” The
Teacher came in and asked, “Monks, what is it that you are sitting
here now talking about?”” When they told him, he said, “Monks, a
monk who exerts all the powers of his will in following the Precepts
cannot fail to make himself master of wealth that transcends this
world.” So saying, he pronounced the following Stanza,

25. By rousing himself, by heedfulness, by controlling himself, by restraining himself,
A wise man may make for himself an island which the flood can never overwhelm.

II. 4. SIMPLETONS’ HOLIDAY!?

Stmpletons are given to heedlessness. This religious instruction
was given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with
reference to Simpletons’ Holiday, Balanakkhatta. [256]

For on a certain date there was a festival celebrated in Savatthi
called Simpletons’ Holiday, and on the occasion of this festival foolish,
unintelligent folk used to smear their bodies with ashes and cow-dung
and for a period of seven days go about uttering all manner of coarse
talk. At this time people showed no respect for kinsfolk or friends
or monks when they met them, but stood in the doorways and insulted
them with coarse talk. Those who could not endure the coarse talk
would pay the holiday-makers a half or a quarter or a penny, according
to their means, and the holiday-makers would take the money and
depart from their houses.

Now at this time there were in Savatthi five crores of Noble Dis-
ciples, and they sent word to the Teacher, “Reverend Sir, let the
Exalted One refrain for a period of seven days from entering the city
with the Congregation of Monks; let him instead remain at the mon-
astery.” And for a period of seven days the Noble Disciples caused
food to be prepared for the Congregation of Monks at the monastery
and sent it to them, but did not themselves leave their houses. On the
eighth day, however, when the festival was at an end, they invited
the Congregation of Monks to be their guests, escorted them into the
city, and gave abundant offerings. And having seated themselves

1 Text: N i. 256-258.
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respectfully on one side, they said to the Teacher, ‘“Reverend Sir, we
have spent the past seven days most unpleasantly. Our ears had
like to burst from hearing the coarse talk of foolish folk. [257] No
one showed any respect for anybody else, and for this reason we did
not permit you to enter the city. We ourselves did not go out of the
house.” The Teacher listened to what they said, and then replied,
““After this manner do foolish, unintelligent men conduct themselves.
But they that are intelligent preserve heedfulness as their greatest
treasure, and by so doing at last attain the attainment of the Death-
less, Great Nibbana.” So saying, he pronounced the following Stanzas,

26. Simpletons, folk of little intelligence, are given to heedlessness;
But the intelligent man preserves heedfulness as his greatest treasure.

27. Give not yourselves up to heedlessness; indulge not in lust and sensual pleasure;
For he that is heedful and practices meditation attains profound happiness.

II. 5. KASSAPA THE GREAT'!

When the wise man banishes heedlessness by heedfulness. This
religious instruction was given by the Teacher while he was in residence
at Jetavana with reference to the Elder Maha Kassapa. [258]

For on a certain day, while the Elder was in residence at Pipphali
Cave, he made his round of Rajagaha for alms, and after he had
returned from his round for alms and had eaten his breakfast, he sat
down and developed Insight, surveying with Supernatural Vision
all living beings, both heedless and heedful, in the water, on the earth,
on the mountains, and elsewhere, both coming into existence and
passing out of existence.

The Teacher, seated at Jetavana, [259] exercised Supernatural
Vision and pondered within himself, “With what is my son Kassapa
occupied to-day?” Straightway he became aware of the following,
“He is contemplating the rising and falling of living beings.” And
he said, “Knowledge of the rising and falling of living beings may not
be compassed even with the Knowledge of a Buddha. Living beings
pass from one existence to another and obtain a new conception in a
mother’s womb without the knowledge of mother or father, and
knowledge thereof may not be compassed. To know them is beyond
your range, Kassapa, for your range is very slight. It comes within

! Text: N i. 258-260.
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range of the Buddhas alone to know and to see in their totality the
rising and falling of living beings.” So saying, he sent forth a radiant
image of himself, and as it were sitting down face to face with Kas-
sapa, pronounced the following Stanza,

28. When the wise man banishes heedlessness by heedfulness,
He climbs the terrace of wisdom, and free from sorrow, looks upon the sorrowing
folk of the world.
Steadfast, as though standing on a mountain-top, he gazes upon the simpletons
standing on the ground below.

II. 6. TWO BRETHREN!

Heedful among the heedless. This religious instruction was given
by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with reference
to two brethren. [260]

It appears that these two monks obtained a Subject of Meditation
from the Teacher and retired to a forest hermitage. Early in the
morning one of them brought firewood, prepared the charcoal-dish,
and during the first watch sat and chatted with the probationers and
novices. The other, a heedful monk, engaged in meditation, thus
admonished his friend, “Brother, do not act thus. For a monk that
is heedless stand ready four states of suffering, as if they were his own
house. The favor of the Buddhas may not be won by double-dealing.”
When the lazy monk paid no attention to his adinonition, the zealous
monk said, “This monk cannot endure to be spoken to.” Having
failed to spur his comrade to greater effort, the zealous monk, abiding
in heedfulness, resumed his meditations. [261]

The slothful Elder, having warmed himself during the first watch,
entered the monastery just as his friend, having finished his walk,
entered his cell. Said the slothful monk to the zealous monk, ““Slothful
one, you entered the forest for the purpose of lying down and sleeping.
Seeing that you obtained a Subject of Meditation from the Buddhas,
ought you not rather to rise and devote yourself to the practice of
meditation?”” So saying, he entered his own place of residence, lay
down, and went to sleep. But his friend, after walking up and down
during the first watch and resting during the second watch, rose in the
last watch and devoted himself to the practice of meditation. Living
thus the life of heedfulness, in no long time he attained Arahatship,

1 Text: N i. 260-2683.
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together with the Supernatural Faculties. The other monk, however,
spent his time in utter heedlessness.

When the two monks had completed residence, they went to the
Teacher, paid obeisance to him, and sat down respectfully on one side.
The Teacher exchanged friendly greetings with them and queried,
“I trust that you have lived the life of heedfulness and that you have
devoted yourselves earnestly to the practice of meditation. I trust
that you have reached the goal of the Religious Life.”” The heedless
monk replied, “Reverend Sir, how can this monk be said to be heedful?
From the time he left you he has done nothing but lie and sleep.”
“But you, monk?” “I, Reverend Sir, betimes in the morning
brought firewood and prepared the charcoal-dish, and during the first
watch I sat and warmed myself, but I did not spend my time sleeping.”
Then said the Teacher to the slothful monk, “ You who have spent your
time in heedlessness say, ‘I am heedful.” You mistake heedlessness
for heedfulness. [262] Compared with my son, you are like a decrepit
hack; but he, compared with you, is like a racer.” So saying, he
pronounced the following Stanza,

29. Heedful among the heedless, watchful among the sleeping,
Even as a racer outstrips a hack, even so goes a wise man.

II. 7. HOW MAGHA BECAME SAKKA'!

By heedfulness Maghava attained leadership of the gods. This
religious instruction was given by the Teacher while in residence at a
summer-house near Vesali with reference to Sakka king of gods. [263]

7 a. Story of the Present: Mahili’s question

For a Licchavi prince named Mahali, who lived at Vesili, hearing
the Teacher recite the Suttanta entitled Sakka’s Question, thought
to himself, “The Supremely Enlightened has described the great
glory of Sakka. Has the Teacher seen Sakka? or has he not seen
Sakka? Is the Teacher acquainted with Sakka? or is he not ac-
quainted with Sakka? I will ask him.” So the Licchavi prince
Mahali drew near to where the Exalted One was, and having drawn
near, saluted the Exalted One and sat down on one side. And having

! 7 a is almost word for word the same as Samyutta, xi. 2. 3: i. 280-281. 7bisa
free version of Jataka 81: i. 198-206. Text: N i. 263-281.



314 " Book 2, Story 7. Dhammapada 30 [N.1.26814

sat down on one side, the Licchavi prince Mahali spoke thus to the
Exalted One, “Reverend Sir, has the Exalted One seen Sakka king of
gods?” [264] “Yes, Mahali, I have indeed seen Sakka king of gods.”
“Reverend Sir, it must certainly have been a counterfeit of Sakka;
for, Reverend Sir, it is a difficult matter to see Sakka king of gods.”
“Nevertheless, Mahali, I know Sakka; I know what qualities made
him Sakka; I know by the cultivation of what qualities Sakka at-
tained Sakkaship.

“Mabhali, in a previous state of existence Sakka king of gods was-
a human being, a prince named Magha; therefore is he called Maghava.
Mabhali, in a previous state of existence Sakka king of gods was a
human being who in a previous state of existence gave gifts (pure
danam addst); therefore is he called Purindada. Mahali, in a previous
state of existence Sakka king of gods was a human being, who gave
alms assiduously (sakkaccam:); therefore is he called Sakka. Mahali,
in a previous state of existence Sakka king of gods was a human being
who gave a dwelling-place (dvasathain); therefore is he called Vasava.
Mabhali in a previous state of existenceSakka king of gods was a human
being who could think of as many as a thousand things (sahassam
atthai) in an instant; therefore is he called Sahassakkha. Mahali,
Sakka king of gods has an Asura maiden named Sujata to wife; there-
fore is he called Sujampati. Mahali, Sakka king of gods bears sway as
lord and master over the Gods of the Thirty-three; therefore is he
called King of Gods. Mahali, Sakka king of gods in a previous state
of existence as a human being took upon himself and fulfilled seven
vows. Because he took upon himself and fulfilled these seven vows,
Sakka [265] attained Sakkaship.

“Now what were the seven? ‘So long as I live, may I be the sup-
port of my mother and father. So long as I live, may I honor my
elders. So long as I live, may I speak gentle words. So long as I live,
may I never give way to backbiting. So long as I Live, may I live the
life of a householder with heart free from taint of avarice, generous in
renunciation of what is mine, with open hand, delighting in liberality,
attentive to petitions, delighting in the distribution of alms. So
long as I live, may I speak the truth. So long as I live, may
I be free from anger. Should anger spring up within me, may I
quickly suppress it.” Mabhali, Sakka king of gods in a previous state
of existence took upon himself and fulfilled seven vows. Because he
took upon himself and fulfilled these seven vows, Sakka attained
Sakkaship.”
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If a man support his mother and father, if he honor his elders in the household,
If he be gentle and friendly in conversation, if he avoid backbiting,

If he steadfastly put away avarice, if he be truthful, if he suppress anger,
Such a man the Gods of the Thirty-three call 8 good man.

When the Teacher said, “This, Mahali, was what Sakka did in
his previous existence as Prince Magha,” Mahali, desiring to hear the
whole story of his conduct, asked the Teacher, “Reverend Sir, how
did Prince Magha conduct himself?”’ ‘“Well then,” said the Teacher,
“listen.” -So saying, he related the following

7b. Story of the Past: How Magha became Sakka

In times long past a prince named Magha lived in the village of
Macala in the kingdom of Magadha. [266] One day he went to the
place where the business of the village was carried on, removed with
his foot the dust from the place where he stood, and having made a
comfortable place for himself, stood there. Thereupon another struck
him with his arm, pushed him aside, and took his place. But instead
of becoming angry at the man, he made another comfortable place for
himself and stood there. Thereupon another struck him with his arm,
pushed him away, and took his place. But neither did he allow him-
self to become angry at this man; he merely made another comfortable
place for himself and stood there. In like manner one man after
another came out of his house, struck him with his arm, and pushed him
away from the place which he had cleared for himself.

The prince thought to himself, “All these men appear to be pleased.
Since this work of mine conduces to the happiness of men, it must be a
meritorious work.” So on the following day he took a spade and cleared
a space as big as a threshing-floor, whereupon all the men came and
stood there. In cold weather he built a fire to warm them, so that
the place became 4 favorite resort for all. Then he thought to himself,
“It behooves me to take upon myself the task of making the road
smooth and even.” So early in the morning he started out to make
the road smooth and even, cutting down and removing all the branches
of trees that needed to be removed. Thus did he spend his time.

Another man saw him and said to him, ‘“Master, what are you
doing?”” He replied, ‘“Master, I am treading the Path that leads to
Heaven.” “I also am your companion.” ‘“Be my companion, master;
heaven is a pleasant place for many.” [267] Seeing these two, a third
man asked the same question, received the same answer, and joined
them; then a fourth, then a fifth, until finally there were thirty-three.
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All these men worked together with spades and axes and made the
road smooth and even for a distance of one or two leagues. The
village headman saw them and thought to himself, “These men are
all following the wrong occupation. If they would only fetch fish and
flesh from the forest, or indulge in strong drink, or do something else
of the sort, I should make something by it.”” So he sent for them and
asked them, “What is it you are doing?”’ “Treading the Path to
Heaven, master.” “That is no proper occupation for men living the
lives of laymen. What you should do is to bring fish and flesh from the
forest, indulge in strong drink, and have a general good time.” But
they refused to follow his suggestion, and the more he urged them, the
more firmly they refused to do as he suggested.

Finally the village headman became angry. “I will destroy them,”
said he. So he went to the king and said to him, “Your majesty, I see
a band of thieves going about committing depredations.” The king
replied, “Go catch them and bring them before me.” So the village
headman arrested the thirty-three youths and haled them before the
king. Without instituting an inquiry into their conduct, the king
gave the following order, “Cause them to be trampled to death by an
elephant.” Thereupon Magha admonished his companions as follows,
“Friends, we have no refuge but love. Therefore let your hearts be
tranquil. Cherish anger towards no one. Let your hearts be full of
love for the king and the village headman and the elephant that
tramples you under his feet.” The thirty-three youths followed the
admonition of their leader. Such was the power of their love that the
elephant dared not approach them.

When the king heard of this, he said, [268] “If the elephant sees
so many men, he will not venture to trample them under his feet.
Have the men covered with heavy matting, and then order the elephant
to trample them.” So the village headman had the men covered with
heavy matting and drove the elephant forwards to trample them.
But when the elephant was yet a long way off, he turned round and
went back. When the king heard what had happened, he thought to
himself, “There must be some reason for this.”” So he caused the
thirty-three youths to be brought before him and asked them, “Friends,
is there anything which you have failed to receive at my hands?”
“Your majesty, what do you mean?” “I am informed that you are a
band of thieves and that you rove about the forest committing depre-
dations.” “Your majesty, who said that?”” “Friends, the village
headman so informed me.”
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“Your majesty, it is not true that we are thieves. The fact is, we
are clearing a Path to Heaven for ourselves, and we do this and that.
The village headman tried to persuade us to adopt an evil mode of
life, and when we refused to follow his suggestions, he became angry
at us and determined to destroy us. That is why he said this about
us.” ““Friends, this animal knows your good qualities; but I, who am
a man, was unable to discern them. Pardon me.” So saying, the king
made the village headman their slave, together with his children and
wife, gave them a riding-elephant, and presented that village to them
to do with as they saw fit. Thought the thirty-three youths, “Even
in this life the advantage to be derived from the performance of works
of merit is clearly to be seen.” And mounting the elephant by turns,
they rode about the village.

As they went about the village, they took counsel together, [269]
saying, “It is our duty to perform yet more abundant works of merit.
What shall we do?”” Thereupon the following thought occurred to
them, “Let us build at the crossing of the four highways a rest-house
for the multitude, making it secure and strong.” So they summoned
a builder and ordered him to build a hall for them. And because
desire for women had departed from them, they resolved to give women
no share in the building of the hall.

Now there were four women living in Magha’s house, Joy, Thought-
ful, Goodness, and Wellborn. Goodness went secretly to the builder,
gave him a bribe, and said to him, “Brother, give me the principal
share in the building of this hall.” “Very well,” replied the builder,
agreeing to her proposal. Accordingly he first marked a tree out of
which to make a pinnacle, felled it, and laid it aside to season. Then
he hewed it and planed it and bored it, and having fashioned it in
the form of a pinnacle, carved the following inscription on it, ‘“This is
the Hall of Goodness.” Having so done, he wrapped it in a cloth and
laid it aside.

Now when he had completed the hall and the day came to erect
the pinnacle, he said to the thirty-three youths, “Noble sirs, there is
something we have forgotten.” “What is it, sir?” “A pinnacle.”
“Let us procure one.” “It is impossible to make one out of a freshly
hewn tree. We should procure for a pinnacle a tree felled long ago
and laid away to season.” ‘“What had we best do under the circum-
stances?” “If in anybody’s house there is a completed pinnacle which
has been laid away to season and which is for sale, [270] that is the
thing for you to search for.” So they searched everywhere, and finding
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what they wanted in the house of Goodness, offered her a thousand
pieces of money for it. But they were unable to secure it for the price
they offered. Said Goodness, “If you will give me a share in the
building of the hall, I will give you the pinnacle.” But they replied,
“We have resolved to give women no share in the building of this
hall.” Thereupon the builder said to them, ‘“Noble sirs, what are
you doing? With the exception of the World of Brahma, there is no
place from which women are excluded. Take the pinnacle, for if you
do, our work will speedily be finished.” “Very well,” said they. So
they took the pinnacle and completed the hall. And they divided
the hall into three parts, reserving one chamber for kings, another for
the poor, and another for the sick.

Then the thirty-three youths built thirty-three seats, and having
so done, gave the following orders to the elephant, “If a visitor comes
and sits down in a seat, take him and lodge him in the house of whoever
built and owns that seat. It then becomes the duty of the owner of
that seat to see that his guest’s feet and back are rubbed, to provide
him with food both hard and soft, and with lodging; to perform for
him, in fact, all the duties of hospitality.” Accordingly, whenever a
visitor came, the elephant would take him and conduct him to the
house of the owner of the seat in which he had sat, and the owner of
the seat would on that day perform for him all the duties of hospitality.

.Magha planted an ebony-tree near the hall and built a stone seat
at the foot of the ebony-tree. All those who entered the hall looked
at the pinnacle, read the inscription, and said, ‘“This is the Hall of
Goodness.” The names of the thirty-three youths did not appear.

Joy thought to herself, “The youths who built this hall resolved to
deprive us of a share in the building thereof. [271] But Goodness by
her own cleverness obtained a share. I also ought to do something.
What can I do?” Thereupon the following thought occurred to her,
“Those who come to the hall should be provided with water for drink-
ing and water for bathing. I will have a place dug for a pool.” Accord-
ingly Joy caused a bathing-pool to be built.

Thoughtful thought to herself, ‘“ Goodness has given a pinnacle, and
Joy has caused a swimming-pool to be built. What can I do?”” There-
upon the following thought occurred to her, *“ After those who come to
the hall have drunk water and bathed, they should be decked with
garlands when they are ready to depart. I will cause a flower garden to
be laid out.” So Thoughtful caused a beautiful flower garden to be
laid out. So many and so various were the flowers that grew therein
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that it was impossible for anyone to say, “Such and such a flower-
bearing or fruit-bearing tree does not grow in this garden.”

Now Wellborn thought to herself, “I am the daughter of the
brother of the mother of Magha and likewise the wife of Magha. The
merit of the work he has wrought accrues to me only, and the merit
of the work I have wrought accrues to him only.” Accordingly she did
- nothing but spend her time adorning herself.

Thus did Magha minister to his mother and father, honor his elders
in the household, speak the truth, avoid harsh words, avoid back-
biting, put away avarice, suppress anger. Even thus did he fulfill the
Seven Precepts, as it is said: [272]

If a man support his mother and father, if he honor his elders in the household,

If he be gentle and friendly in conversation, if he avoid backbiting,

If he steadfastly put away avarice, if he be truthful, if he suppress anger,
Such a man the Gods of the Thirty-three call a good man.

Having attained so praiseworthy a state, Magha, upon reaching
the end of the term of life allotted to him, was reborn in the World of
the Thirty-three as Sakka king of gods. His companions were likewise
reborn there. The builder was reborn god Vissakamma.

Now at that time there were Asuras dwelling in the World of the
Thirty-three, and when they learned that new gods had been reborn
there, they prepared celestial drink for them. But Sakka gave orders
to his retinue that no one should drink thereof. The Asuras, however,
drank freely and became intoxicated. Thereupon Sakka thought to
himself, “Why should I share my kingdom with these deities?”” Forth-
with, giving a sign to his retinue, he caused them to pick up the Asuras
by the heels and fling them into the Great Ocean. So the Asuras fell
headlong into the Ocean. By the power of their merit there sprang
up at the foot of Mount Sineru the Palace of the Asuras and the Tree
that is called Pied Trumpet-flower.

When the conflict between the gods and the Asuras was over and
the Asuras had been defeated, there came into existence the City of the
Thirty-three. The distance from the eastern gate to the western gate
was ten thousand leagues, and the distance from the southern gate to
the northern gate was the same. Now this city was provided with a
thousand gates and was adorned with gardens and pools, and in the
midst thereof, [273] as the fruit of the building of the hall, there arose
a palace called the Palace of Victory. Its height was seven hundred
leagues, and it was decked with banners three hundred leagues long.
On staffs of gold were banners of jewels, and on staffs of jewels were
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banners of gold; on staffs of coral were banners of pearls, and on staffs
of pearls were banners of coral; on staffs of the seven precious stones
were banners of the seven precious stones. Such was the palace that
arose as the fruit of the building of the hall; a thousand leagues was
its height, and it was composed of the seven precious stones.

As the result of the planting of the ebony-tree, there arose the Coral-
tree, a hundred leagues in circumference. As the result of the building
of the stone seat, there came into existence at the foot of the Coral-
tree the Yellowstone throne, of a reddish yellow color like that of the
jasmine flower, sixty leagues in length, fifty leagues in breadth, and
fifteen leagues thick. When Sakka sits down on this throne, half its
mass sinks into the ground; when he rises, it is all above ground.
The elephant was reborn as god Eravana. There are no animals in
the World of the Gods; so when he went into the garden to play, he
would quit his form as a god and become the elephant Eravana, a hun-
dred and fifty leagues in size. For the thirty-three youths, Eravana
created thirty-three water-pots, each two or three quarters of a league
around.

In the center of all, Eravana created for Sakka a water-pot called
Beautiful. It was thirty leagues in circumference, and above it was
a canopy, twelve leagues in size, made entirely of precious stones.
[274] At regular intervals about the canopy there arose banners a
league in length, made entirely of the seven precious stones. And
from the lower edge of each banner depended a row of tinkling bells,
which, when they were shaken by the gentle wind, gave forth sweet
music like the mingled strains of the music of the five kinds of instru-
ments or the singing of the celestial choir. In the center of the pavilion
was prepared for Sakka a jeweled couch a league in length. There
Sakka reclined in state. Eriavana created thirty-three water-pots for
the thirty-three gods. Each vessel bore seven tusks, each fifty leagues
long; each tusk bore seven lotus-tanks; each lotus-tank bore seven
lotus-plants; each lotus-plant bore seven flowers; each flower, seven
leaves; and on each leaf danced seven celestial nymphs. Thus on all
sides round about for a space of fifty leagues there were dancing-
assemblies poised on elephants’ tusks. Such was the glory in the
enjoyment of which lived Sakka king of gods.

When Goodness died, she was also reborn there. And at the same
time there came into existence Goodness, Moot-hall of the gods, nine
hundred leagues in extent, than which exists no other place more
charming. [275] Here, on the eighth day of the month, is preached
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the Law. Unto this day, when men behold a charming place, they say,
“It is like Goodness, Moot-hall of the gods.” When Joy died, she also
was reborn there. And at the same time there came into existence a
lotus-tank called Joy, five hundred leagues in extent. When Thought-
ful died, she also was reborn there. And at the same time there came
into existence Thoughtful’s Creeper-grove, five hundred leagues in
extent. Thither they conduct the gods whose prognostics have
appeared, and walk rejoicing. But when Wellborn died, she was
reborn as a crane in a certain mountain-cave.

Sakka surveyed his wives and considered within himself, ‘“ Good-
ness has been reborn here and likewise Joy and Thoughtful. Now
where has Wellborn been reborn?” Perceiving that she had been
reborn as a crane in a mountain-cave, he thought to himself, ‘‘Because
she wrought no work of merit, the foolish girl has been reborn as an
animal. It is my duty to have her perform some work of merit and
bring her here.” So sayimg, he laid aside his proper form, and assuming
a disguise, he went to her and asked, “What are you doing here?”
“But, master, who are you?”” ‘I am your husband, Magha.” ‘“Where
were you reborn, husband?” ‘I was reborn in the Heaven of the
Thirty-three. Do you know where your companions were reborn?”’
“No, husband, I do not.” “They also were reborn in the Heaven of
the Thirty-three as my wives. Should you like to see your com-
panions?”’ “How can I get there?” Said Sakka, “I will carry you
thither.”

Placing her in the palm of his hand, he carried her to the World of
the Gods and get her free on the bank of the lotus-tank named Joy.
Then he said to the other three, “Should you like to see your com-
panion Wellborn?” ““Sire, where is she?”” [276] “On the bank of the
lotus-tank named Joy.” So the three went and looked at her. “Alas!”
they cried out, “see what has been the result of the noble woman’s
spending her life in the adornment of self! Look now at her beak!
Look at her feet! Look at her legs! She presents a beautiful appearance
indeed!” Thus did they ridicule her. Having so done, they departed.

Sakka went once more to her and said, “Did you see your com-
panions?” “Yes,” replied Wellborn, “I saw them. They ridiculed
me and then went their way. Take me back again.” So Sakka took
her back again, set her free in the water, and then asked her, “Did
you see their celestial glory?”” ‘““Yes, Sire, I did.” “You also should
employ such means as will enable you to obtain rebirth there.”” “Sire,
what shall I do?”” “If I admonish you, will you keep my admonition?”
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“Yes, Sire, I will keep your admonition.” So Sakka taught her the
Five Precepts. Having so done, he said to her, “Be zealous in keeping
the Precepts,” and departed.

Thenceforth she sought after and ate only such fish as had died
a natural death. After a few days had passed, Sakka determined to
test her. So he went, and taking the form of a fish, lay down on the
surface of the sand, pretending to be dead. When she saw the fish,
thinking that it was dead, she took it in her beak. Just as she was
about to swallow the fish, it wriggled its tail. The instant she dis-
covered the fish was alive she released it in the water. Sakka waited
a little while, and then lay down before her on his back once more.
Again thinking it was a dead fish, she took it in her beak. But just
as she was about to swallow the fish, it moved the tip of its tail. The
instant she saw the fish move its tail she knew it was alive, and there-
fore let it go. When Sakka had thus tested her three times and had
satisfied himself that she was keeping the Precepts faithfully, he
revealed his identity to her and said, “I came here for the purpose
of testing you. You are keeping the Precepts faithfully. If you con-
tinue thus faithfully to keep them, [277] you will before long be:
reborn as one of my wives. Be heedful.” So saying these words, he
departed.

Thenceforth she used for food either fish that had died a natural
death or none at all. After only a few days had passed, she shriveled
up and died, and solely as the fruit of her virtuous conduct was reborn
at Bendres as the daughter of a potter. When she was about fifteen
or sixteen years old, Sakka considered within himself, “Where has she
been reborn?” Perceiving that she had been reborn at Bendéres as the
daughter of a potter, he said to himself, “I ought now to go to her.”

So filling a cart with the seven kinds of precious stones disguised
as cucumbers, he drove into the city of Benires. “Come, get cucum-
bers!” he cried, as he entered the street. But when people came to.
him with coins in their hands, he said, “I do not part with my cu-
cumbers for a price.” ‘“On what terms do you part with them, then?”’
the people asked him. “I give them to the woman that keeps the
Precepts,” he replied. ‘“Master, what do you mean by ‘precepts’?
Are they black or brown or of some other color?”” ‘““You don’t even
know what Precepts are; much less will you keep them. I will give
my cucumbers to the woman who keeps the Precepts.”

““Master, there is a potter’s daughter who is always going about
saying, ‘I keep the Precepts.’” Give them to her.” The potter’s
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daughter said to him, “Very well, master, give them to me.” “Who
are you?” “I am a maiden that has never failed to keep the Precepts.”
[278] “For you alone have I brought these,” said Sakka. And driving
his cart to her house, he presented to her, in the guise of cucumbers,
celestial treasure which cannot be taken away by others. And mak-
ing his identity known to her, he said, “Here is wealth sufficient for
you to live on. Keep the Five Precepts unbroken.” So saying, he
departed.

At the end of her existence as a potter’s daughter she was reborn
in the World of the Asuras as the daughter of Vepacitti, king of Asuras,
a bitter enemy of Sakka. Since she had kept the Precepts in two
successive existences, she was fair of form, her skin was of a golden
hue, and she was endowed with beauty and comeliness the like of
which had never been seen. Vepacitti, king of Asuras, said to all the
Asura princes who sought her in marriage, “You are not fit to marry
my daughter.” Having thus refused to give her in marriage to any of
the Asura princes, he said, “My daughter shall choose for herself
such a husband as she sees fit.” So saying, he assembled the host of
Asuras, and placing a garland of flowers in the hand of his daughter,
said to her, “Choose for yourself a husband who suits you.”

At that moment Sakka looked to see where she had been reborn.
Perceiving what was taking place, he assumed the form of an aged
Asura and went and stood in the outer circle of the assembled company.
The daughter of Vepacitti looked this way and that. Suddenly,
because in a previous state of existence she had lived with Sakka, she
was overwhelmed as by a mighty torrent by the power of the love for
him which sprang up within her. And crying out, “He is my husband!”
she threw the garland of flowers over his head. Said the Asuras, “For
a long time our king has been unable to find a husband suitable for
his daughter. Now, however, he has found one. This fellow is old
enough to be his daughter’s grandfather.” [279] And they departed,
hanging their heads with shame.

Sakka took her by the hand, cried out, “I am Sakka,” and flew
up into the air. The Asuras exclaimed, “We have been fooled by
Old Sakka,” and started up in pursuit. Maitali the charioteer brought
up the chariot called Chariot of Victory and stopped by the way.
Thereupon Sakka assisted his bride to mount and set out for the City
of the Gods. Now when they reached the Forest of the Silk-cotton
Trees, the Garuda fledglings, hearing the sound of the chariot and
fearing they would be crushed to death, cried out.



324 Book 2, Story 7. Dhammapada 30 [N.1.2797-

When Sakka heard their cries, he asked Matali, “What are they
that are crying?” “Garuda birds, Sire.” “Why are they crying?”’
“They hear the sound of the chariot and fear they will be crushed to
death.” “Let not so numerous a host perish, crushed by the impact
of the chariot, because of me alone. Cause the chariot to turn back.”
Thereupon Matali gave the sign with the lash to the thousand Sindh
horses and caused the chariot to turn back.

When the Asuras saw that the chariot had turned back, they said,
“Old Sakka started out in flight from the city of the Asuras, but has
just caused his chariot to turn back. Doubtless he has received
reénforcements.” And turning back, the Asuras entered the city of
the Asuras by the same road by which they had come out and never-
more lifted up their heads. Sakka bore the Asura maiden Wellborn
to the City of the Gods and installed her as the chief of twenty-five
million celestial nymphs.

One day Wellborn asked Sakka for a boon, saying, “Great king,
in this World of the Gods I have neither mother nor father nor brother
nor sister; therefore pray take me with you wherever you go.” [280]
“Very well,” replied Sakka, promising to do for her as she had asked.
Thenceforth, when the tree that is called Pied Trumpet-flower blooms,
the Asuras cry out, “Now is the time when our heavenly Coral-tree
blooms,” and straightway they sally forth to attack Sakka. Therefore
Sakka posts a guard to defend the Nagas in the sea below, and likewise
affords protection to the Supannas and the Kumbhandas and the
Yakkhas, and likewise to the Four Great Kings. And over all, for
the purpose of averting disaster, he places before the gates of the City
of the Gods images of Indra bearing the thunderbolt in his hands.
When the Asuras, after defeating the Nagas and the other super-
natural beings approach the City of the Gods and see the images of
Indra, they cry out, “Sakka has made a sally,” and flee away.
End of Story of the Past. -

“Thus, Mahali, Prince Magha adopted the way of Heedfulness.
Because he was so heedful, he obtained such sovereignty so exalted and
came to rule over the two Worlds of the Gods. Heedfulness is praised
by the Buddhas and by others likewise. For it is through Heedfulness
that all attain the Higher Attainments, both those that are of this
world and those that transcend this world.”” So saying, he pronounced
the following Stanza,

30. By heedfulness Maghava attained leadership of the gods;
All men praise heedfulness; heedlessness is ever reprobated.
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II. 8. A MONK ATTAINS ARAHATSHIP!

A monk who delights in heedfulness. This religious instruction
was given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with
reference to a certain monk. [281]

The story goes that this monk obtained from the Teacher a Subject
of Meditation leading to Arahatship and retired to the forest. Al-
though he strove and struggled with might and main, he was unable
to attain Arahatship. Thereupon he said to himself, “I will ask the
Teacher to give me a Subject of Meditation better suited to my needs.”
So he departed from his place of residence and set out to return to the
Teacher. On the way he saw a great forest fire raging. Accordingly
he climbed up to the top of a bald mountain and sat down. As he
watched the fire consume the forest, [282] he concentrated his mind
on the following thought, “Even as this fire advances, consuming all
obstacles both great and small, so also ought I to advance, consuming
all obstacles both great and small by the Fire of Knowledge of the
Noble Path.”

The Teacher, even as he sat in his Perfumed Chamber, became
aware of the course of his thoughts and spoke as follows, ‘“Monk, this
is precisely true. Even as fire consumes all obstacles both great and
small, so also is it necessary with the Fire of Knowledge to consume
and utterly destroy all Attachments both small and great which arise
within these living beings.” And sending forth a luminous image of
himself, present, as it were, sitting face to face with that monk, he
pronounced the following Apparition-Stanza,

31. A monk who delights in heedfulness and views heedlessness with fear
Advances like a fire, consuming Attachments both small and great. [283]

At the conclusion of the Stanza that monk, even as he sat there,
consumed all the Attachments and attained Arahatship, together with
the Supernatural Faculties. And straightway, soaring through the
air, he approached the Teacher, praising and glorifying the golden body
of the Tathagata. And when he had done him homage, he departed.

1 Text: N i. 281-283.
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II. 9. TISSA OF THE MARKET-TOWN !

A monk who delights in heedfulness. This religious instruction
was given by the Teacher while he was in residence at Jetavana with
reference to Elder Tissa of the Market-town, Nigamavasi Tissa. [283]

For a youth of station, born and reared in a certain market-town
not far from Savitthi, retired from the world and became a monk in
the Religion of the Teacher. On making his full profession, he became
known as Tissa of the Market-town, or Nigama Tissa. He acquired
the reputation of being frugal, contented, pure, resolute. He always
made his rounds for alms in the village where his relatives resided.
Although, in the neighboring city of Savatthi, Anithapindika and
other disciples were bestowing abundant offerings and Pasenadi Kosala
was bestowing gifts beyond compare, he never went to Savatthi.

One day the monks began to talk about him and said to the Teacher,
““This monk Nigama Tissa, busy and active, lives in intimate associa-
tion with his kinsfolk. Although Anathapindika and other disciples
are bestowing abundant offerings and Pasenadi Kosala is bestowing
Gifts beyond Compare, he never comes to Savatthi.” [284] The
Teacher had Nigama Tissa summoned and asked him, ‘“Monk, is the
report true that you are doing thus and so?” ‘“Reverend Sir,” replied
Tissa, ““it is not true that I live in intimate association with my rela-
tives. I receive from these folk only so much food as I can eat. But
after receiving so much food, whether coarse or fine, as is necessary
to support me, I do not return to the monastery, thinking, ‘Why seek
food?” I do not live in intimate association with my relatives,
Reverend Sir.” The Teacher, knowing the disposition of the monk,
applauded him, saymg, “Well done, well done, monk!’ and then
addressed him as follows, “It is not at all strange, monk, that after
obtaining such a Teacher as I, you should be frugal. For frugality is
my disposition and my habit.” And in response to a request of the
monks he related the following

! The Story of the Past presents an interesting problem. Dk. cm., i. 28412-2858,
is almost word for word the same as Jataka 429: iii. 491+®. Dk. cm. then makes
Sakka utter, not the first stanza of Jataka 429, but the first stanza of Jadtaka 430, and
refers the reader to the tenth Nipdta for the rest of the story. In Fausbill’s edition the
story occurs in the ninth Nipdta. But it has ten stanzas and doubtless stood in the
tenth Nipata of the recension of the Jataka Book, to which the compiler of the Dhamma-
pada Commentary had access. Text: N i. 283-286.
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9 a. Story of the Past: Sakka and the parrot

Once upon a time several thousand parrots lived in a certain grove
of fig-trees in the Himalaya country on the bank of the Ganges. One
of them, the king-parrot, when the fruits of the tree in which he lived
had withered away, ate whatever he found remaining, whether shoot
or leaf or bark, drank water from the Ganges, and being very happy
and contented, remained where he was. In fact he was so very happy
and contented that the Abode of Sakka began to quake. Sakka con-
sidered the cause, and seeing the parrot, determined to put him to the
test. Accordingly he employed his supernatural power and withered
up the tree. Straightway the tree became a mere stump, full of holes
and cracks. When the wind beat upon it, there came forth from the
tree a hollow sound, and out of the holes and cracks came forth dust.
[285] The parrot ate the dust, drank water from the Ganges, and
going nowhere else, remained perched on the top of the fig-tree, recking
naught of wind and sun.

When Sakka observed how very happy and contented the parrot
was, he said to himself, “I will go to him, let him talk of the virtue of
friendship, grant him his heart’s desire, and cause the fig-tree to bear
ambrosial fruit.”” Accordingly Sakka assumed the form of a royal
goose, and preceded by Wellborn in the form of an Asura nymph, went
to the grove of fig-trees, alighted on the branch of a certain tree not
far off, and entered into conversation with the parrot by pronouncing
the following Stanza,

There are trees with green leaves, trees aplenty with abundant fruit.
Why does the parrot’s heart delight in a tree that is withered and hollow?

(The entire Jataka is here to be related in detail, just as it occurs
in the tenth Nipata. The occasion there is different from what it is
here, but everything else is the same.) ! When the Teacher had given
this religious instruction, he said, “At that time Sakka was Ananda,
and the parrot-king was I myself. Thus, monks, contentment is my
disposition and my habit. It is, therefore, not at all strange that my
son Nigamavasi Tissa, because he was so happy and contented, ob-
tained me for his teacher. Such a monk, because he has attained the

1 The Jataka goes on to say that the parrot replied, “This tree has been good to
me in the past. Why should I forsake it now?”” Thereupon Sakka caused the tree to
bloom anew and to bear abundant fruit.
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Paths and the Fruits, is not liable to fall away; nay rather he is
nigh even unto Nibbana.” So saying, he pronounced the following
Stanza,

82. A monk who delights in heedfulness and views heedlessness with fear,
Is not liable to fall away, but is nigh even unto Nibbéna.
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